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I.
THE HOMICIDE.

“God save me!”
The words rang piteously, as the sharp 

crack of a pistol shot, twice repeated, 
alarmed the crowd of loungers hovering 
around the corridors of New York’s latest, 
largest hotel. Instantaneously, as the com­
parative quiet of that immense bee-hive of 
wealth and of fashion was broken, as by 
the descent of a thunderbolt, astonishment 
and amazement seized upon the souls of 
those sparse spectators, witnessing the fall 
of a conspicuous man and coming to realize 
the full extent of the calamity thrust upon 
them.

A murder had been committed !
It was a few minutes before four o’clock, 

on the afternoon ef Saturday, January 6th, 
1872, that Edward 8. Stokes discharged 
those pistol shots which eventually termi- 
minated the mortal career of one who had 
iormerly been his friend, but through the 
impulse of jealousy converted into his bit­
terest enemy. Between them had been wag­
ed a war of virulent litigation, one scene of 
which had occurred upon the forenoon of 
the very day upon which the victim met 
his death.

At the close of a protracted examination 
in one branch of the numerous law suits, 
which had embroiled the relations pre­
viously existing between Stokes and Col. 
James Fisk, Jr., occurring on the forenoon 
of this fatal Saturday, both Stokes and 
Mrs. Mansfield (Fisk’s former mistress), 
who, as is alleged, had transferred her affec­
tions to his more juvenile rival, were ex­
amined as witnesses. Whether at Fisk’s 
suggestion, or from a mistaken notion as to 
his imperative line of duty, the counsel for 
the Colonel, appearing in court to answer a 
charge of libel, conducted the cross-exam­
ination of the fair complainant and her 
confidential witness with a degree of mal­
ice, doubtlessly aggravating to the feelings 
of both the lady and her friend and pre­
sumptive protector.

During his searching cross-examinnation 
of Stokes, by a strange coincidence, it hap­
pened that Stokes was interrogated as to 
whether he had ever threatened Fisk in any 
way. He seemed somewhat embarrassed 
by the question, but finally said that he 
had never threatened him otherwise than 
with legal proceedings. During all the 
time he was in the court-room Stokes was 
entirely self-possessed, with this one excep­
tion, and did not in any way betray the 
deadly purpose which he executed two 
hours after leaving the court-room with 
Mrs. Mansfield. His whereabouts during 
those two hours are the subject of 
rumor, with the exception that he is known 
to have been at Delmonico’s. The next 
that was seen of him so far as is known, 
was at a few minutes before 4 o’clock, when 
he was walking carelessly up and down the 
main corridor of the Grand Central Hotel, 
on the parlor floor. This corridor is one 
story above the street, is parallel with 
Broadway, and at its northern end is 
reached by the ladies’staircase from t ie 
street. Passing and repassing the head of 
this staircase, Stokes glanced furtively 
down the stairs each time. His actions at 
the moment attracted little attention, as 
there was nothing striking or unnatural 
about them. Dressed with great elegance 
in clothing of a light color, a tall, well- 
formed, well-featured, imperturbable man, 
there was nothing in his appearance not in 
keeping with the place or to excite sus­
picion in a casual observer.

While Stokes thus loitered, watched and 
waited, at 4 o’clock Col. James’Fisk, Jr., 
drove up in a carriage to the ladies’ door. 
Stepping out of his carriage and walking 
briskly across the pavement, he passed 
through the outer door of the hotel. When 
he had done so, he spoke to John T. Red­
mond, the porter on duty at the door, ask­
ing him if Mrs. Moss was in. Redmond 
replied that she was not, but that he believS 
ed her daughter was in her mother s room. 
Fisk then said, “Tell her I am here,” but 
he started up the stairs before the porter. 
Up seven steps from the street there r 
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small landing. Reaching this, Fisk hap­
pened to glance upward, and there saw the 
imperturbable, well-dressed man, whom he 

j! instantly recognized as Edward S. Stokes,
- standing at the head of the stairs. This 

man had his right arm resting on the stand­
ard at the head of the stairs, and Fisk 
noticed that there was something in the 
right hand. Before the victim could see 
that this something was a pistol, without a 
word having been uttered by either of the 
men, Stokes, seeming to take deliberate 
aim, fired. Fisk fell upon the landing, 
uttering the .simple exclamation, “Oh!” 
but immediately got upon his feet again; 
and as he did so, Stokes fired again. The 
first shot had taken effect in his abdomen; 
the second crushed through the fleshy part 
of the left arm, above the elbow’. Then he 
staggered, turned, as if to take refuge in 
flight, and, partly sliding, reached the bot­
tom of the stairs, where he fell.

After firing the second shot, Stokes 
paused for an instant, as if to look upon 
his work; then turned and walked leisure­

fly away. Reaching the door of the ladies’ 
parlor, a few paces distant from the head 
of the stairs, he stepped inside, and threw 
his still smoking and blackened Derringer 
pistol upon the sofa. lie instantly stepped 
back into the corridor, and, walking more 
hurriedly, passed to and down the grand 
stairway, which leads up from the main 
hall and office of the hotel. Just as he 
gained the hall and was opposite the 
office, headed to the rear entrance, as if 
seeking to escape into Mercer street, the 
alarm was raised that a man had been shot 
up-stairs. Hearing this, Stokes started 
upon a run, and Mr. Powers, the proprietor 
of the hotel, who was behind the desk of 
the office, cried out, “Stop that man!” 
Just as he had reached the entrance to the 
barber-shop of the house, and when he was 
only a few steps distant from the door 
opening into Mercer street, Stokes slipped 
and fell. Before he could regain his feet 
he was seized by some of the men attached 
to the hotel, who were in pursuit of him, 
and was led back to the porter’s bench at 
the foot of the grand stairway, where he 
was compelled to sit down, and where he 
was carefully guarded by his captors until 
the arrival of the police.

All this had occupied but a moment of
- time, and meantime the wounded man had 

again staggered to his feet at the bottom 
ot the stairs, and assisted by Redmond 
and others had managed to ascend the 
stairs, and was taken into room No. 
213, just at the head of the stairs, and was 
laid upon a bed. Covered with the blood 
which gushed from his shattered arm, the 

attendants, who knew only of this com­
paratively trivial hurt, but were startled 
by the sight of blood, rushed off for assist­
ance. In a moment the room was crowd­
ed, but among the first comers were Drs. 
Fisher and .Trifler, both of whom live in 
the hotel. They immediately cleared the 
room and proceeded to examine the wound­
ed man. Col. Fisk was entirely calm and 
rational, did not complain of pain, and 
gave a concise but perfectly clear account 
of how the wounds had been received. 
The injury to the arm was found to be 
merely a flesh wound, but the first shot 
had taken a more deadly course. They 
saw its orifice five inches above the umbi­
licus and two inches to the right of the 
median line. From its appearance, they 
were of opinion that it was mortal. Prof. 
James R. Wood and Dr. James White were 
sent for and arrived in a few minutes. As 
soon as they reached the room Dr. Wood 
proceeded to probe the wound. The bullet 
was found to have taken a course inward, 
downward and to the left, penetrating the 
walls of the abdomen. Although the 
wound was probed to the depth of five 
inches, the bullet was not found, and its 
location was not determined. The phy­
sicians all agreed that the abdominal 
wound was of a most serious character, and 
that the condition of Col. Fisk was most 
critical. Its result would, however, be a 
question of some hours, and as after a time 
the sufferer seemed to rally greatly, hopes 
were entertained that he might ultimately 
recover.

The following lateral diagram will give 
the reader an idea of the scene of the mur­
der:

----2

----------- 1
1. Ladies’ entrance.
2. The first landing or platform.
.3. Position of Col. Fisk when murdered.
4. Post on which the assassin rested his 

pistol, and behind which ho stood.
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II.
ORIGIN OF THE FISK-STOKES TROUBLES.

The origin of the difficulty dates back 
nearly two years. Col. Fisk and Stokes 
■were interested in an oil company which 
furnished all the oil that was used by the 
Erie Railway Company. Fisk and Stokes 
became intimate friends. Stokes seemed a 
smart, energetic young man, and grew 
rapidly in Fisk’s favor. The profits of the 
oil business were very great. Stokes be­
came a frequent visitor at Col. Fisk’s 
rooms in the Grand Opera House. They 
were continually together. So intimate 
were they that Stokes repeatedly dined 
■with Col. Fisk at the house of Mrs. Mans­
field-Lawlor. Mrs. Lawlor was Col. Fisk’s 
mistress. The Colonel became acquainted 
with her accidentally when she was in 
want, clothed her in silks and satins, 
sprinkled her with diamonds and other 
gems, gave her a rich mansion with a 
brown stone front, furnished it sumptuous­
ly, and placed carriages and servants at 
her disposal. So infatuated did he be­
come that he repeatedly appeared in public 
with her, despite the earnest protestations 
of his friends. He laughed at the news­
paper exposures of his shame, and was 
finally debarred from fashionable society. 
Col. Fisk’s friends were deeply grieved, 
but they remained true to him; for what­
ever may have been his faults, he always 
stood to his friends to the last. They re­
peatedly endeavored to extricate him from 
the toils of Circe, but in vain. His genial 
nature, rollicking humor, open-handed gen­
erosity, and energetic business qualities 
endeared him to all who were intimate 
with him, and they finally resolved to en­
dure what they could not cure—-the Colo­
nel’s open attachment to Mrs. Mansfield.

THE RUPTURE.

It was at this time that Col. Fisk be­
came intimate with Stokes, and invited 
him to dine at Mrs. Mansfield’s house. 
Stokes is about five feet nine inches in 
height. His body is well knit. His head 
is covered with glossy curls. His com­
plexion is clear, his features regular, and 
his eyes dark blue. His forehead is white, 
but not high. He dresses in the height 
of fashion, with a tendency to guadiness, 
and generally wears large diamonds. He 
is a fluent talker, and is very quick of mo­
tion. He speaks rapidly, and uses many 
gestures. Col. Fisk seems to have con­
fided entirely to Stokes’ sense of honor 
and to Mrs. Mansfield’s sense of gratitude. 
Apparently he had not the least-notion 

that Stokes would endeavor to supplant 
him in her affections. Stokes however ap­
peared to have fallen in love with Mrs. 
Mansfield at first sight. His attachment 
was apparently reciprocated,and the readi­
ness with which Mrs. Mansfield transferred 
her affections from Col. Fisk to his assassin 
gives an air of strong probability to the 
rumor that she had deliberately trapped 
Col. Fisk for his money. The attachment 
between Stokes and Mrs. Mansfield was 
not discovered by Col. Fisk until weeks had 
elapsed. Meanwhile the Colonel was pay­
ing for the very dinners at Mrs. Mansfield’s 
house to which he had invited his friend 
Stokes. Though warned by his friends of 
what was occurring, he refused to believe 
it, and it was not until he had assured him­
self from conversations with Mrs. Mans- 
field that the reports were true, that his 
eyes were opened.

THE FIRST MOVE.

The Colonel moved with his usual ener­
gy. He forbade Stokes’ visits to the house. 
He reasoned with Stokes,but to no purpose. 
His protestations had no effect on Mrs. 
Mansfield. The next movement was a 
startling one. Stokes was arrested one 
Saturday night on a charge of embezzling ’ 
the oil company's funds. lie was kept in 
prison until Monday. When’ released on 
bail he retaliated, and Fisk was arrested 
on an accusation of conspiracy and false 
imprisonment. The fight was a bitter one. 
It benefitted no one but the lawyers. Fisk 
then rescinded the verbal contracts by 
which the oil company supplied Erie with 
oil. Of course, this forced the stock of ' 
the oil company down, and Fisk, it is un­
derstood, bought in Stokes’ interest for 
$100,000. Fisk and Stokes also had a 
meeting at Delmonico’s, and endeavored to 
settle their difficulty, but in vain.

THE SECOND MOVE.

Mrs. Mansfield now joined her energies 
to those of Stokes. She claimed that Fisk 
owed her some $40,uuo, and in proof of 
this claim put in copies of a batch of love- 
letters written to her by Col. Fisk, which 
were said to expose all the secret opera­
tions of the Erie and the Tammany Rings. 
Fisk secured an injunction from Judge 
Pratt forbidding the publication of the 
letters, as they were ruled to be scandalous 
and irrelevant.

During the pending of certain suits be­
tween Mr. Stokes and Col. Fisk, Mrs. Mans­
field gave the original letters to Stokes, 
who immediately made use of them. Ho 
held them over Fisk’s head and threatened 
their publication. Fisk acted like a diplo­



mat. lie submitted a proposition to Mr. 
Stokes for arbitration. Stokes, against the 
advice of liis counsel, accepted Mr. Clar­
ence Seward, one of Fisk’s counsel, as an 
arbitrator. The letters were placed in Mr. 
Peter B. Sweeney’s hands for safe keeping. 
Mr. Seward found against Stokes on all 
points but one, awarding him $10,000 as 
the price of t’ eletters. Stokes complain­
ed that he had been swindled. Neverthe­
less he accepted the $10,000 and never 
paid it back. One of the main points of 
Col. Fisk’s request* for an injunction 
against the publication of the letters was 
that they had been made the basis of new 
affidavits in Mansfield’s complaint, after 
Stokes had received the $10,000, and 
agreed that the letters should be suppress­
ed. At the expiration of the time for 
which Judge Pratt’s injunction had been 
granted, Col. Fisk’s counsel made a motion 
before Judge John 11. Brady for a continu­
ance of the injunction.

THE TIIIBD MOVE.

In an attempt to show that Stokes and 
Mrs. Mansfield were endeavoring to black­
mail him, Col. Fisk used an affidavit of 
Bichard E. King, a colored boy in Mrs. 
Mansfield’s service. The affidavit purpor­
ted to detail a conversation overheard be­
tween Stokes and Mrs. Mansfield relative 
to Fisk’s letters which Mrs. Mansfield had 
placed in Stokes’ possession. The conver­
sation, if true, proved that there was a de­
liberate attempt to blackmail the Colonel 
out of all the money possible. Stokes’ 
n?xt move was to prefer a charge against 
Fisk in a police court for subornation of 
perjury, in inducing King to swear to his 
affidavit. This is the case which had 
dragged along its weary length in Justice 
Bixby’s Court during several weeks.

III.
THAT FATAL EXAMINATION.

Tite examination in the case of Helen 
Josephine Mansfield vs. James Fisk, Jr., on 
a charge of libel, was resumed on Satur­
day morning, January 6th, 1872, before 
Justice Bixby, in the Yorkville Police 
Court. Mrs. Mansfield accompanied by 
Mrs. Williams was early in attendance, but 
Fisk did not put in an appearance during 
the entire day. Shortly after 10 o’clock, 
Justice Bixby took his seat on the bench.

’The prosecution was conducted by Assis­
tant District-Attorney Fellows and Mr. 
McKeon, and Messrs. Beach, Spencer, and 
Morgan represented the defendant.

Mrs. Mansfield’s cross-examination was. 
resumed. She testified that she com­
menced the present proceedings about the 
time Col. Fisk commenced to persecute 
her ; the persecution consisted of buying 
off her servants from her employ, and us­
ing them as instruments to annoy and wor­
ry her ; it was commenced about the time 
King was withdrawn from her service, and 
seduced into that of Fisk; had no personal 
knowledge of the fact, and made the affi­
davit on information and belief; the letter 
written to Mr. Peter B. Sweeney, was ad­
dressed by her counsel, Mr. Courtney, with 
her signature; saw a stenographer taking 
notes in her house on one occasion, but 
could not tell if he was there more fre­
quently.

Sir. McKeon objected to this line of 
cross-examination, and it was excluded.

Q. Are you acquainted with Miss Annie 
Wood? A. Yes; I formed her acquain­
tance about six years ago in Washington; 
I never saw her at the house of a person 
named Bella Lane in No. 19 Brevoort place; 
I have been in that address, but did not see 
her there; I only saw her once in New 
York.

Q. Did yon have a conversation with her 
in relation to.Mr. Fisk? A. No.

Q. Did you there ask Mrs. Wood to in­
troduce you to Mr. Fisk, after she had giv­
en you a description of him and of his 
character? A. Never; I met him acci­
dentally at her house.

Q. Do you recollect on that occasion as 
that in No. 19 Brevoort place, pointing to 
your dress, and saying in substance that 
was the best you had in the world, and you 
had not money enough to pay your week’s 
rent? A. I don’t remember anything of the 
kind.

Q. Did you say to her that you wanted 
to know him, as you had no way of earn­
ing your living? A. Never; I did not ask 
Mrs. Wood to introduce me to Fisk; she 
did not make an appointment with me at 
her house in Thirty-fourth street for the 
next day for the purpose of introducing 
me.

Q. Did she tell you that Fisk and Geo. 
Butler, the gentleman who is now, I be­
lieve, Minister to Egypt, were coming 
there? A. No; I have no recollection of 
anything of the kind; I never said to Miss 
Wood, before or after my introduction to 
Fisk, that I was poor and needy, because 
I was not in such a condition; I did not 
meet Miss Wood at the house of Miss Bish­
op on Lexington avenue, where I was board­
ing.

Q. Did you tell Miss Wood at Miss Bish­
op’s house that Mr. Fisk had taken a fancy 



to you, but that he had not done much for 
you yet? A. I never told her so; I did not 
meet her at the Americus Club, or the 
Americus Club-house, where I had furnish­
ed rooms.

2 Either at the Americus Club-house 
or the Americus Club did you show Miss 
Wood some costly diamonds and elegant 
dresses, which you said were given you by 
Fisk? A. No.

Mr. McKeon interposed an objection. 
These memoranda, he said, were supplied 
by a person with a wicked heart, and were 
designed to insult the witness.

Mr. Beach. I am not able to judge of the 
character and heart of the gentleman who 
furnished me with these questions, but I 
may be permitted to say they don’t come 
from Mr. Fisk.

Mr. McKeon. I suppose they come from 
some one who is ready to do Ids dirty work. 
The question was excluded.

Q. Did you say “There, Annie, look at 
these compared with my stock when I got 
acquainted with Fisk; then I had nothing 
in the world but that black and white silk 
dress, and no money in my purse and ow­
ing some rent?” Objected to and exclud­
ed.

Q. Did Miss Wood reply to that “You 
have been with him long enough to have 
got more than that if you were smart;’’ and 
did you answer that you did not mean to 
beat him too fast? Objected to and ex­
cluded.

Q. Did Miss Wood ask you upon that 
occasion if you esteemed or loved Mr. Fisk, 
and did you reply to it : “ No, I don’t love 
him, only his money; he is not the style 
of man I like; I will get all the money I 
can out of him and then he may go?” Ob­
jected to and excluded.

Mr. McKeon said this was all 'intended 
for a newspaper sensation, and had no con­
nection with the alleged libel.

Witness. I have never shown a disposi­
tion to blackmail him.

Q. Do you know Nelly Peris? A. Yes, 
I did; I sent for her to my house in Twen­
ty-third street; she might have been there 
when Mr. Stokes was present.

Q. Do you recollect that you three were 
talking upon any occasion when you had a 
conversation in regard to making money 
out of Fisk? A. Never; I did not say in 
words or substance that I intended to 
blackmail him, and that if she assisted, 
she should have her share; in regard to the 
letters written to me by Mr. Fisk, I did not 
give them to Mr. Stokes to keep; my cor­
rection in this matter was not made in the 
argument before Judge Brady.
, Marietta Williams testified: I reside in 

No. 359 West Twenty-third street with my 
cousin, Miss Mansfield; there was a colored 
boy in her service, named King, as waiter.

[Mr. McKeon here read King’s affidavit on 
wffiich the libel was based.

Q. Was there any such conversation or 
conversations took place in your hearing? 
A. Never; and none of the parties therein 
named had any such conversations.

Cross-examined by Mr. Beach: I was 
married on the 3d of March, 1804, in Bos­
ton ; for the last two years, I have resided 
with Mrs. Mansfield; I have met Mr. 
Stokes at the house, but I cannot exactly 
remember when I first met him there; as 
near as I can recolltct, it was about two 
years ago; he comes to the house once in a 
while, and is not a frequent visitor; he 
came there perhaps three or four times * 
week for about a year and a half; he took 
dinner there once in a while, but I cannot 
remember how often; it might be three or 
four times in the month, but not oftenerto 
my remembrance; I sat at the table with 
them uniformly when he was there; I do 
not remember any one else being with us; 
we were waited upon by the colored boy, 
King; he entered the employment of Miss 
Mansfield in October, 1869, and.since then 
he generally attended at meals.

Q. You said to Mr. McKeon that no part 
of the conversations alluded to in the affi­
davit of King took piece? A. Yes, sir; 
there was never any conversation between 
the three of us in regard to obtaining 
money from Fisk; at meals I don’t remem­
ber any allusion being made to Fisk, or to 
the difficulties which existed between him­
self and Miss Mansfield or Mr. Stokes; 
they were never alluded to in my presence; 
I understand the comprehensiveness of the 
question; my cousin was never in the habit 
of talking on such matters before strang­
ers. . 9

Edward S. Stokes testified: I reside at 
the Hoffman House, and am acquainted 
with Miss Mansfield and Miss Williams; I 
knew Richard E. King who was in the cm-' 
ployment of Miss Mansfield.

[Mr. McKeon read King’s affidavit to the 
witness],

Q. Did any conversation alluded to here 
take place? A. Never in any shape or 
form; the statement is wholly untrue in 
every particular.

Cross-examined by Mr. Beach: I am thir­
ty years of age, and have resided at the^ 
Hoffman House since last July; I am mar­
ried and have a family; I first formed the 
acqaintance of Miss Mansfield in Philadel­
phia some three years ago; I was there o» 
business and met her accidentally; I had a 
friend with me at the time, but I had-. 



to

rather not answer his name; I first visited 
Miss Mansfield at her house in this city 
when Mr. Fisk took me there to dine; I 
don’t remember the date, but I think it was 
about two years ago; she then resided in 
the house she now occupies; I have called 
on her, but how frequently I cannot say; I 
Cannot form a correct idea how often I 
visited her in the last six months, probably 
eight or ten times a month: it may be 
■lore or less, but to the best of my judg­
ment that is about the average; I had no 
•tated times for calling on her, and had 
not been in the habit of doing so; I might 
have, sometimes, called upon her three or 
four times a week, but other weeks I did 
not see her at all; I cannot locate a single 
week when I did not see her; I have gone 
ih there and dined, but that is the only 
meal I have taken there; I did not go to 
dinner by appointments, but I very well 
knew the dinner hour.

Q. Have you threatened unless Fisk set­
tled that you would pursue and crush him? 
Zf. I have threatened to pursue him in law 
suits.

Q. Have you not threatened to pursue 
and crush him? A. In a legal way I have 
said so, but not in a physical manner.

Q. Have you threatened to make publi­
cations in the newspapers against him 
again and again? A. Yes; to expose this 
case and the manner in which he lias swin­
dled me.

Have you not made propositions to 
settle with him? A. I have made some 
propositions in the way of arbitration, but 
■ot in any other form to my knowledge; 
I said I would take the papers to the Leg­
islature and lay them before it in order to 
injure him.

Q. When you first visited the house of 
Miss Mansfield, was Mr. Fisk an habitue of 
Hint house? A. Oh! Mr. Fisk lived there, 
and Miss Mansfield lived there at the same 
time; he remained there a year after I com­
menced to visit her; I do not exactly re­
member when he was displaced by her; I 
iiad nothing to do with it; I took no hand 
in the direction of the affairs of the 
house; I did not discharge the coachman, 
Steers, but wrote him a note of dismissal 
for Miss Mansfield; I did not pay her domes­
tics’ or other household expenses, but once 
sent the coachman money at her request.

Q. Have you been in the habit of sleep­
ing in that house? A. Probably not more 
than three or four times in two years; I 
have frequently staid there until ten o'clock 
in the evening; I hardly ever was in the 
room alone with Miss Mansfield; Miss Wil­
liams was generally there.
, Q. I understand you to say that you 

never stayed with Miss Mansfield alone in 
the room ? A. No, Sir.

Q. And you understand the full force of 
this declaration? A. Yes; I have no recol­
lection of staying with her alone in the 
room late in the evening.

Q. I want you to make the declaration 
understandingly; I ask you if you have 
repeatedly and often spent the late hours 
of the evening with Miss Mansfield alone 
in the room? A. No, positively; when I 
remained as late as ten o’clock Miss Wil­
liams was generally with me.

Q. I understand you to say that your 
acquaintance with Miss Mansfield was 
simply the ordinary acquaintance of a 
gentleman and lady? A. Yes, Sir.

Q. And there was not more familiarity 
at that house and between you and Miss 
Mansfield than would be proper and be­
coming between a married head of a family 
and Miss Mansfield ? A. There was noth­
ing improper between her and me; I say 
so without any mental evasion.

Q. Is that question answered in refer­
ence to any peculiar ideas you entertain 
with reference to propriety and impro­
priety? A. Yes, Sir; I had conversations 
with Miss Mansfield in reference to the 
troubles with Fisk, but I did not mention 
them at table; I have given the subject all 
my consideration within the past six 
months, but I did not allude to it when 
visiting; I don’t recollect having spoken 
of the amount of money that should be 
given by Fisk to have the case com­
promised; I furnished the money for the 
equipments of the stable.

Denis Garrison testified to the identity 
of a paper in the suit of Fisk ®s. Stokes 
and Mansfield, filed in the office of the 
Clerk of the County, of which he is an 
employee, on the 5th of January; there wrere 
several other papers filed with it.

Mr. Beach asked for their production to 
show on what association it had been 
found.

Mr. Stokes was recalled, and said that 
the paper in question was an affidavit read 
by counsel before Judge Brady in an argu­
ment on Friday; other papers in his inter­
est were read.

The investigation was adjourned to 10 
o’clock on Saturday, January 13th.

IV.
THE LAST FEATHER.

After the adjournment of the court 
Stokes entered a carriage with Col. John



EDWARD S. STOKES.



CARRYING FISK FROM THE STAIRCASE TO IIIS ROOM.
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R. Fellows and the Hon. John McKeon, 
the prosecuting attorneys in the case. On 
his way down he asked whether it was 
possible that there was no way left for him 
to get the better of Fisk. He drove to 
Dehnonico’s and there the party separated.

Meanwhile the District Attorney had 
brought the attempt to blackmail Col. 
Fisk to the attention of the Grand Jury. 
On Saturday, it is said, the Grand Jury 
brought in an indictment against both 
Stokes and Mrs..Mansfield. It was report­
ed during the afternoon that a bench war­
rant was out for the arrest of Stokes and 
Mansfield, and sent to the Sheriff’s office 
for service.

After leaving Dehnonico’s, Stokes ap­
pears to have gone to Mrs. Mansfield's 
house, though Mrs. Mansfield denies this. 
They are believed to have conversed to­
gether over an hour. Then a ring was 
heard at the door.

One of Stokes’ friends entered and an­
nounced that the Grand Jury had found 
an indictment, (hat a warrant was in the 
hands of Deputy Sheriff Judson Jarvis, 
and that Jarvis was then on his way to 
serve it. A warrant may have been in 
existence, but it was certainly not placed 
in Jarvis’ hands. We arc informed (hat 
on henringthis news Stokes lost all control 
over himself and declared that Disk had 
signed his death warrant, or used words 
of similar import. He was in a raving 
passion, and left the house determined to 
murder Col. Di-k at the first opportunity. 
It is reported that before Stokes readied 
Mrs. Mansfield's Col. Disk had called upon 
her and expressed his regret at the seveiilv 
of her cros- examination, and that he had 
agreed to give $15,000 in settlement of the 
dispute. If this was so, it is possible that 
Col. Fisk may have told Mrs. Mansfield 
that he was about to call upon Mrs. .Moss til 
the Grand Central Hotel.

At 4 o'clock, Col. Disk, who had been 
entertaining a number of friends in his 
office, and who was in unusually good 
spirits, asked one of his clerks whether 
there were any loose ( hecks for him to 
sign. It was his practice to pay some of 
his employees on Saturday. As he signed 
the checks he said he ought to be off, but 
he knew that the men wanted their money 
and they should have it. He then entered 

» his carriage and drove to he ladies’cn- 
! trance of t he Grand Central Hotel.

Mr. Stokes’movements, after lie left the 
, court at Fifty-seventh street, were detailed 

to a very different effect by Mr. John II. 
Fellows, at. the Grand Central Hotel, to a 
large number of attentive listeners. Mr. 
Fellows’ statement was to the following 

effect:—Mr. Stokes entered a carriage at 
the Court room with myself and Mr. Mc­
Keon, at the conclusion of the Fisk-Mans­
field case, and drove down town. Upon 
reaching Chambers street we all alighted 
at Delmonico's and partook of some oysters. 
Mr. Stokes at this time displayed no un­
usual excitement. He was always excited 
when speaking of Mr. Fisk, but at this 
time no more so than usual. Bidding Mr. 
Stokes good-by, I repaired to my office and 
soon after departed up town. On my way 
I stopped into Niblo’s and was here shock­
ed by the intelligence that Mr. Fisk had 
been shot by Mr. Stokes and dangerously 
wounded. Reparing to the Grand Central 
Hotel I found the intelligence too true. It 
was but a short time after I left Mr. Stokes 
at Chambers street that I heard of the oc­
currence, and it seemed almost impossible 
that Stokes could have gone so far up town 
so soon.

V.
AFTER THE SITOOTINO.

While proceedings were taking place 
at the Hotel to ascertain the full extent of 
(he prisoner’s crime, Stokes was handed 
over to the police, and, followed by an 
immense crowd, had bedn taken to the 
Fifteenth Precinct Station-house, a few 
rods away in Mercer street, in charge of 
Capt. Byrnes. On arriving at the house 
he was arraigned before the desk. Capt. 
Byrnes, stepping to his place behind it, 
said: “I am going to ask you some ques­
tions, and you can answer them or not, as 
you please.” Stokes answered instantly, 
firmly, and in a natural voice: “I must 
tejl you at once that I will answer nothing.” 
Capt. Byrnes said: “Will you give me 
your name?” To which Stokes said: 
“Certainly; my name is Edward S. Stokes. 
I will give you that, but nothing more.” 
He was then, by order of Capt. Byrnes, 
taken back and locked up in an ordinary 
cell, where he was soon afterward visited 
by his counsel, Hon. John McKeon.

As soon as Stokes was secured at the 
Police Station, Capt. Byrnes, having been 
informed by the attending Surgeons that 
Mr. Fisk was in a dying condition, at once 
dispatched an officer to summon Coroner ) 
Young to attend for the purpose of taking 
the ante-mortem statement of the wound­
ed Colohel. Coroner Young was soon in 
attendance, and after being closeted for 
some time with Capt. Byrnes in his private 
office, proceeded to the hotel, and, ac­



companied by Capt. Byrnes, was shown 
into the room where Fisk was lying. Dr. 
E. T. T. Marsh, Deputy Coroner, was also 
soon in attendance. A jury, consisting of 
Isaac W. England, of No. 1-11 East Thirty­
ninth street; Charles F. Moore, of No. 143 
West Twentieth street; William O. Chapin, 
of No. 273 Eighth avenue; John L. Hall, 
of No. 178 Jay street, Brooklyn; Edward 
C. Moss, of Grand Central Hotel, and Dr. 
E. T. T. Marsh, of No. 41 West Ninth 
street, was impaneled in due form, and the 
solemn act of obtaining the deposition of 
a man suddenly stricken down by the 
hands of an assassin, and brought to the 
verge of the grave, was then proceeded 
with. At this time there were gathered 
at the bedside of the dying man the jury 
mentioned above, while in the outer room 
could be discerned “Boss” Tweed, Jay 
Gould, and other Erie magnates in close 
consultation. At the bedside stood Prof. 
James R. Wood and Dr. Fisher, closely 
examining the features of their patient, 
while at the foot of the bed loomed up the 
tall and sombre figure of David Dudley 
Field, the eminent counsel retained by 
Fisk in the Erie suits. Seated at a table, 
which had been drawn up near to the bed, 
were Coroner Young and Dr. Marsh. The 
patient was lying on the bed extended on 
his back; his left arm, through the fleshy 
part of which a bullet had passed, was 
lying outside the covers and propped up 
on a pillow.

All the preparations being in readiness, 
Coroner Young arose and asked Mr. Fisk 
if he was ready to make his statement. The 
patient answered in the affirmative. Cor­
oner Young then proceeded with the usual 
questions as follows:

Q. What is your name?
A. James Fisk, Jr.
Q. Where do you live?
A. No. 313 West Twenty-third street.
Q. Do you believe that you are about,to 

die from the injuries you have received?
A. I feel that I am in a very critical con­

dition.
Q. Have you any hopes of recovery?
A. I hope so.
Q. Are you willing to make a true state­

ment of the manner in which you received 
the injuries?

A. I am.
Fisk was thereupon sworn, and made the 

following statement:
“This afternoon at about 4 o’clock I 

rode up to the Grand Central Hotel. I en­
tered by the private entrance; and, when 
I entered the first door, I met the boy of 
whom I inquired if Mrs. Moss was in. lie 
told me that Mrs. Moss and her youngest 1 

daughter had gone out, but ho thought tho 
other daughter was in her grandmother’s 
room. I asked him to go up and tell the 
daughter that I was there. I came through 
the other door, and was going up stairs, 
and had gone up about two steps,and on 
looking up I saw Edward S. Stokes at the 
head of the stairs. As soon as I saw him 
I noticed that he had something in his 
hand, and a second after I saw the flash, 
heard the report, and felt the ball enter my 
abdomen on the right side. A second af­
ter I heard another shot, and the bullet en­
tered my left arm. When" I received tho 
first shot I staggered and ran towards tho 
door, but noticing a crowd gathering in 
front, I ran back on the stairs again. I 
was then brought up stairs in the hotel. I 
saw nothing more of Stokes until he was 
brought before me by an officer for identi­
fication. I fully identified Edward 8. 
Stokes as the person w ho shot me.

“James Fisk, Jn.”
After Fisk had appended his signature 

to the statement he became very faint and 
the attending surgeons were obliged to 
give him stimulants.

The jury having heard the deposition of 
Mr. Fisk, rendered a verdict:

“That James Fisk, Jr., came to his inju­
ries by pistol shot wounds, at the hands of 
Edward S. Stokes, at the Grand Central Ho, 
tel, January Cth, 1872.”

VI.
THE NIGHT BEFORE DEATH.

Att.'.ched to the apartments wherein lay 
the wounded Colonel of the Ninth was an 
ante-chamber, but it was only to the privi­
leged few that entrance was obtained to 
this room. There was a very wise inter­
dict issued by those who had the charge of 
Mr. Fisk, as to admission even to the cor­
ridors, in order that as much quietude as 
possible should be secured for the suffering 
patient. A policeman was placed at the 
foot of the staircase, and another policeman 
was on duty in the vicinity of Fisk's room. 
The indications that a sick person was not 
far away were many. On the marble slab 
under the large mirror were a number of 
tumblers and glasses as well as vials, some 
partially emptied, but many that yet con­
tained goodly quantities of healing liquids. 
Scattered around the room upon chairs, 
sofas and the floor were hats and overcoats 
and overshoes. Newspapers, some par­
tially torn, were lying loose upftn the floor. 
“Extras” were being scanned by the 
friends present.
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These latter were seated around the 
room with long faces, discussing in low 
tones the incidents of the sad event. 
Among the most prominent of the friends 
was William M. Tweed. He was quietly 
seated at one end of a sofa, his ample pro­
portions fdling it completely. lie seemed 
to be perfectly at case, and looking for all 
the world as if he, too, had not lately ex­
perienced a sad calamity, although differ­
ent from that of the sufferer in the adjoin­
ing room. The late “Boss” quietly con­
versed with some friends present, express­
ing his deep regret that the sad event that 
had called them all together had taken 
place. lie spoke in feeling terms of the 
kindness of heart of Mr. Fisk, and express­
ed the belief that should he die New York 
would deeply mourn the loss of a citizen 
whose enterprise was second to that of 
none other of her citizens. Colonel Hooker, 
Mr. Fisk’s brother-in-law, Mr. Barden and 
Drs. Tripier and Fisher were among the 
other occupants of the room.

Mr. Fisk’s sick chamber was adjoining 
this room, and separated from it by heavy 
sliding doors. Upon entering the sick 
room Mr. Fisk was discovered upon a bed 
at the right of the door. The room was 
richly but neatly furnished. The furniture, 
of black walnut, consisted of a massive 
bedstead, a bureau and centre table, the 
two latter having marble tops. Each of 
them was covered with vials, tumblers, 
pitchers, bandages, towels and other ap­
pliances for the sick. The floor was cover­
ed with a rich looking carpet, of a neat 
figure, and a number of wide easy chairs 
were ranged round the room. The sufferer 
lav upon tb- bed in a sound sleep, snoring 
■. ,y loudly, lie was under the influence 
of morphine, large quantities of which had 
been given him since the attempted assassi­
nation.

His appearance was quite natural, except 
that there was a dark streak under his 
eyes, which, too, seemed to have dropped 
lower into their sockets. His hair was 
neatly combed, and even his long mustache 
was waxed as stiff as when he left the Erie 
building in the afternoon. Beside the bed 
was a chair upon which was placed a pil­
low, and on this his left arm rested, while 
the other was thrown carelessly oyer his 
chest. His cuffs lay under the chair, and 
his wristbands being unbuttoned his mas­
sive arms were bare to the elbow, the 
strong muscles showing the great physical 
powers of the man. For a few moinei ts 
the sufferer lay perfectly quiet. Presently, 
however, he raised his arm and drew it 
several times across his face, in a nervous 
manner, at the same time muttering some­

thing that was unintelligible. Tn a moment 
Dr. Tripier was at the bedside. “What 
did you say, Mr. Fisk?” he asked. “Keep 
away the pain,” the sufferer replied, “and 
it is all I ask.” “He is the gamest man I 
ever saw,” said the doctor; “he does not 
seem to be alarmed at all.”

At eleven o’clock the several physicians 
arrived and the last consultation was held 
for the night. There were present, among 
other physicians, Drs. Sayre, Fisher, Trip­
ier and Wood. Anxious faces watched for 
the return of the medical men, and their 
exit from the sick room was the signal for 
a volley of questions from the scores of 
friends that filled the halls. “ He is get­
ting along nicely, ” said Dr. Sayre. * ‘ ’Die 
wound has been probed some five inches, 
but the ball has not been extracted. It has 
probably lodged in the cavity of the stom­
ach, and the patient W’ould suffer great 
agony if he were not under the influence of 
morphine. It is as yet difficult to say what 
the result of the injury will be, but from 
the present symptoms we have great hopes 
of his recovery. He is a strong man, 
but his constitution will receive a severe 
strain by the time he recovers from his in. 
jury.” The other physicians joined Dr. 
Sayre in his opinions, and many were the 
faces that brightened at these hopeful 
remarks.

At 12 o’clock Mr. Fisk was sleeping 
soundly, and Drs. Fisher and Tripier had 
taken their positions at the bedside of the 
patient for the night. Mr. Tweed and the 
other watchers were still present, and a 
large number of people continued to occu­
py the halls and parlors. The physicians 
in charge anticipated no important 
changes during the night, and met their 
associates at a consultation at 8 o’clock the 
next morning.

VII.
DYING, DYING, DEAD!

At a quarter to eleven o’clock, on the 
morning of Sunday, January 7th, 1872, 
James Fisk, Jr., expired in the bed-room 
attached to parlor No. 213 in the Grand 
Central Hotel, in consequence of the mor­
tal wound inflicted by the hands of Ed­
ward S. Stokes.

The surgeons had but faint hopes of his 
recovery after their consultation on Satur­
day night. Still, all that the experience of 
the eminent surgeons summoned to his bed­
side could suggest, was done to aid him.

Feeling himself that his case was almost 
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hopeless, he bore the knowledge patiently. 
Speaking to Dr. Fisher, who was bending 
over his bedside about 10 p. m., he asked 
him, “Doctor, is there an even chance of 
my getting well again?” The doctor re­
sponded with kindly assurances. The 
business-like phraseology of the query 
w ould indicate that he was characteristi­
cally regarding liis living or dying from a 
speculative point of view. lie could calm­
ly estimate the chances, and thus added 
another example to the many illustrations 
of the ruling passion strong in death.

About 4 a. m. Dr. Fisher asked him how 
he felt, and he replied that he was “doing 
nicely,” asked for a drink of water, and 
seemed to recognize everybody in the 
room. The opiates which had been ad­
ministered now began to have their effect, 
and the dying man sank into a profound 
slumber. He remained in a heavy death­
like sleep from half-past 4 a. m. until 9 a. 
m. Mrs. Fisk had received the telegram 
sent to her shortly after the shooting, and 
arrived at the hotel at ’ A. M. She re­
mained at his bedside until his death, ex­
cept for a few minutes when she v'ent 
away to breakfast.

At about 9 o’clock his breathing became 
more heavy and labored. A consultation 
of his medical attendants had been held 
from 8 until 9 o’clock, and at its close a 
bulletin was posted on the grand stair­
case of the hotel, reading: “9 a. m.—Col. 
Fisk is sinking.” Drs. Wood, Sayre, Fish­
er, White, and Tripier were the consulting 
surgeons. Dr. Carnochan, was also pres­
ent, having been recommended by Wm.M. 
Tweed on the night previous.

Their examination had proved that the 
ball producing death had entered the ab­
domen five and a half inches above the 
umbilicus, and one and three-quarter inches 
to the right of the median line; the ball 
taking a downward course, and to the left. 
The ball could not be found. He was 
sleeping quietly, and was not in pain, with 
pulse 130, respiration 20. The prognosis 
was unfavorable, and peritonitis was feared. 
All concurred in recommending stimulants; 
but all remedies seemed unavailing, and it 
was seen that he was rapidly sinking.

During all these hours great crowds had 
been gathered in the lower halls of the 
hotel, and crowds more subdued and or­
derly have rarely been seen in this city. 
The question upon every lip was, “How 
is Fisk?” and the bulletin posted at the 
foot of the grand staircase was too vague 
to satisfy the general curiosity. But little 
news came from the bed of the dying man 
to satisfy this general feeling. The crowds 
were kept on the street floor of the house 

by a guard consisting of a policeman and 
one of the porters of the hotel, stationed 
at the foot of the stairs, as was, perhaps, 
necessary to prevent undue intrusion upon 
the guests, and upon the scene of approach­
ing death.

Face to face at last with a death that 
seemed strangely in keeping with his 
career, James Fisk, Jr., appeared in a new 
character. During this whole hour there 
was about him scarcely a reminder of his 
life. The associates who with him had 
achieved unenviable notoriety had kept 
aloof, and this last of earth was not stain­
ed with the presence of William M. Tweed, 
Jay Gould, or of any other member of the 
Tammany or Erie Rings. In their stead 
was the stricken wife of the sufferer and 
her friend Miss Harrot, the two brothers- 
in-law of the dying man, Mr. Moore and 
Mr. Sanderson, with Mr. Belden, Mr. As­
pern and Mr. Pollurd. These, with Drs. 
Fuller and Tripier, the physicians of the 
hotel, made up the group around the bed 
of the unconscious man. They had been 
summoned by Dr. Fisher when he saw* the 
unmistakable signs of approaching dissolu­
tion, and there was no person near the bed 
who was unmoved. Mrs. Fisk was entire­
ly uncontrollable In her grief, and her 
anguish was the greater from the fact that 
she had reached her husband only after he 
had fallen into the comatose condition, and 
had not been able to recognize her.

The silence being broken only by the 
sobs of the sorrowing group, and the 
labored breathing of the dying man, which 
every instant became fainter and more fit­
ful, the moments slipped away, until the 
watch of Dr. Fisher, who sat with his hand 
on the pulse of the -wounded man, pointed 
to 10:40 o’clock; then all could sec that 
the end was at hand. Then the mysterious 
change came, and the breathing became 
only short, convulsive gasps. But there 
was no sign of agony in the unconscious 
man. There was no contortion of the face, 
no twitching of the muscles, no movement 
of the limbs. Calmly and peacefully this 
life, which had been so turbulent, ebbed 
away, and at 10:45 o’clock James Fisk, Jr., 
was dead. Unconscious to the last, he 
was spared the pain of looking back upon 
his past, or of contemplating his future.

The news passed quickly, and in a few 
minutes was known far and wide. When 
life was gone Mrs. Fisk was assisted to her 
room, where she remained in strict seclu­
sion afterward, and Capt. Byrnes entering, 
took possession of the body to await th® 
arrival of Coroner Young, for whom a mes­
senger was immediately sent. He arrived 
at half-past 11 o’clock and consumed an 
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hour in determining his future proceedings 
in the case. At last it was arranged that 
the body should be removed to the late re­
sidence of the deceased, No. 313 West 
Twenty-third street, where the post-mortem 
should be made at 5 o’clock in the after­
noon, and where it should be viewed by 
the jury to be summoned in the case at 11 
o’clock in the morning, after which the in­
quest would be held at the City Hall at 3 
o’clock in the afternoon. This arrange­
ment was made in compliance with the 
wishes of the family, who desired to leave 
the city at half-past 1 o’clock in the after­
noon for Brattleboro, Vt., where the re­
mains were to be buried. Coroner Young 
also ordered that eighteen prominent citi­
zens should be summoned to serve upon 
the jury; and, having directed that after 
being placed in the cofl., the body should 
be exposed to the view of the friends, he 
delivered it to the undertaker and took his 
leave.

Before the body was removed from the 
bed, James Fisk, Jr., seemed only asleep. 
The color was indeed gone from the mas­
sive face, but it had lost none of its full­
ness ; the eyes were closed, as when he 
died, and all marks of the violence of 
which he was the victim were hidden un- 

* der the bed-covering. Even after the body 
was placed in the coffin, and exposed to 
view in the parlor attached to the bed­
room, there was hardly a sign of death in 
the smooth pallid face. Hundreds viewed 
it as it was thus exposed, and while they went 
and came, Jay Gould sat a few feet from 
the coffin, without showing the least sign 
of the emotion he must have felt at this 
sudden sundering of the Erie Ring, which 
had so long resisted all the efforts to break 
it made through the law. It was a picture 
never seen before and never to be seen 
again; the dead Fisk gazed upon by hun­
dreds, with pity only because of the man­
ner of his death, and the living Gould sit­
ting unmoved beside the corpse, to be 
looked upon with abhorrence by many who 
passed, for the deeds which he had wrought 
with him who was dead. At last the or­
deal was too severe for even the iron nerves 
of Jay Gould, and long before the coffin 
was closed he disappeared, and was not 
again seen in the hotel.

After an hour had elapsed, the dead man 
was left alone with the hired attendants 
and curious strangers. Of the scores with 
whom he had conspired, of the hundreds 
whom he had befriended, not one remained. 
But the exit of the body from the scene of 
the tragedy was to be both dramatic and 
suggestive. Just before the coffin was 
closed, William M. Tweed furtively entered 

the room. The crushed chieftain of Tam­
many having gazed upon thejdcad, retired 
to a corner of the room. Then the coffin 
was closed, was taken up by the men of the 
undertaker, and borne from the room. 
Tweed followed, and the crowd being kept 
back 'by Patrolmen Westerman and War­
ren, the coffin was carried up a narrow pri­
vate stairway to the floor above. Through 
the corridors of this floor it was borne to 
the stairs on the other side of the build­
ing, and down these to the southern Mer­
cer street entrance. To this point Tweed 
had followed up stairs and down stairs, 
and through all the winding corridors, 
with his bowed head uncovered. But, ar­
riving at this point, he paused, gazed a 
moment at the coffin which contained all 
that was mortal of his friend, and turning, 
retraced his steps. Then the body of Jas. 
Fisk, Jr., was taken through the kitchen 
door out of the house in which he had 
been slain, placed in a hearse, and carried 
hastily to No. 313 West ’Twenty-third 
street.

VIII.
HIS LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT.

I, James Fisk, Jr., of the City of New’ 
York, being of sound mind and memory, 
do make, publish and declare this my last 
will and testament, hereby revoking all 
former wills by me made.

1. I give, devise and bequeath all my 
estate and property, real and personal, 
except the special legacies, hereinafter men­
tioned, to my beloved wife, Lucy D. Fisk, 
subject, however, to a trust to pay to my 
dear father and mother jointly, or to the 
survivor of them, $3,000 a year for their 
support during the life of them or either 
of them; and further, to pay to Minnie 
F. Morse and Rosie C. Morse, each, $2,000 
a year during their lives, respectively until 
marriage, when the annuity of the. one 
marrying shall cease; the property and 
estate aforesaid to rest absolutely in the 
said Lucy and her heirs fore’ er, subject 
only as aforesaid; and the said trust shall 
not affect her right freely to dispose of 
and transfer any such property.

2. I give and bequeath to my sister, 
Mrs. Mary G. Booker, stock in the Narra- 
gansett Steamship Company of the par 
value of $100,000, for her sole and separate 
use forever.

3. I appoint my said wife and my friend, 
Eben D. Jordan, of Boston, executors of 
this my last will and testament. In witness
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whereof I have hereunto set my hand and 
»cal this Oth day of January, 1872.

[l. s.] JAMES FISK, JR.
Signed, sealed, published, and declared 

by the testator to be his last will and tes­
tament in the presence of us, who have 
hereto subscribed our names as witnesses, 
at his request, and in the presence of each 
other.

Thomas G. Shearman, No. 310 West 
’I'wenfy-second street, New York.

Jay Gould, No. 578 Fifth avenue, New 
York.

F. Willis Fisher, M.D., Grand Central 
Ilotcl.

V
IX.

LYING IN STATE.

On the morning of January Oth, Superin­
tendent Kelso detailed a large force of 
police under Drill Master Capt. Copeland 
to act as guard around the Opera House. 
It soon became evident that this force had 
not arrived any too soon; for great multi­
tudes of persons who were anxious to see 
the face of the world-famed Colonel kept 
pouring in, until at half past ten o’clock 
Twenty-third street, as far as Seventh 
avenue and Eighth avenue, from Twenty- 
third street to Twenty-fourth street, was 
one dense mass of men, women and chil­
dren. Every one made direct to the en­
trance on Twenty-third street, and the 
surging crowd soon became uncontrollable. 
An extra force of police soon arrived, and 
with almost superhuman exertions the 
crowd was forced back from the sidewalks 
in front of the Opera House. So great was 
the crush that five ladies fainted 'away and 
were taken into the drug store at Twenty- 
third street and Eighth avenue. Every 
window and roof commanding a view of 
the scene was occupied, and on the cross 
beams of the lamp-posts were seated num­
bers of adventurous boys. The appearance 
of the vast multitude denoted that a feel­
ing deeper than mere vulgar curiosity had 
drawn them together.

Inside the Opera IlrAise men moved 
about the corridors with noiseless step 
and spoke in subdued whispers only. It 
was indeed a house of mourning. The 
large vestibule of the building in which 
the Ixxly of the lamented Colonel was to 
lie in state was drapped in mourning. 
Festoons of black and white crape were sus- 
Eended from the dome and attached to the 

earns which supported the galleries. The 
gilding and carving on the galleries were 

concealed by festoons of crape and white 
satin, tastefully fastened with black and 
white rosettes. Facing the entrance to the 
vestibule and suspended from the gallery 
was a life size portrait of Colonel Fisk. , 
The picture was drapped in black and 
white crape. On the left was the Ameri­
can flag. On the right was a rebel flag 
captured by, the Veteran Corps of the 
Ninth Regiment in the battle of Antietam. 
Both of these emblems were drapped in 
black. The immense chandeliers were 
also hung with crape, which completely 
hid the gold branches.

The body of Col. Fisk was lying in his 
residence, 313 West Twenty-third street. 
Av half past ten o’clock the casket which 
was to contain the remains of the Colonel 
was carried past the Opera House and into 
his residence. It was of solid rosewood, 
highly polished. On its sides were heavy 
gold bars. The inside was trimmed with 
heavy folds of white satin. On a silver 
plate fastened on the inside of the lid, is 
the following inscription :

JAMES FISK, Jr.,
Died January 7th, 1872.

In the Thirty-seventh Year of His Age.
At 11 o’clock Coroner Young, with the 

jury which he had impannelled, called at 
the house and viewed the remains.

At half-past eleven o'clock, the casket 
containing the body was borne from the re­
sidence and up the grand stairway to the 
magnificent vestibule of the Erie Railway 
oflices, where it was deposited on a cata­
falque.

Soon afterward the lid was raised, and 
the face was exposed to view. Not the 
slightest change was discernable in the 
Colonel’s features. The body was dressed 
in the complete suit of the Colonel of the 
Ninth. The sword lay by the dead Col­
onel’s side, and his military hat rested on 
the casket. His arms were folded across 
his breast, and his hands were encased in 
white kid gloves. Across his shoulders 
was a delicate wreath of tuberoses. A ta­
ble at the head and one at the foot of the 
casket bore wreaths, crowns, and immense 
bouquets, composed of camelias, white 
roses, tuberoses and immortelles.

Lieut. Montgomery and Sergeant Aspel, 
of the Ninth Regiment, stood at the head 
of the casket. Capt. Fuller directed the 
ceremonies.

At 12 o’clock the lower doors were 
thrown open, and immense numbers of 
sympathizers began to move up the stairs 
and through the vestibule in single file. 
The preponderance of ladies was great, 
and many of them as they cast a glance at
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STOKES LYING IN WAIT FOR HIS VICTIM.
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the remains were affected to tears. Strong 
men wept, and few dry eyes were seen in 
the vestibule. One of the attaches of the 
Opera House leaned over the corpse, and 
patting the Colonel’s cheeks, sobbed bit­
terly. As she moved off she said:

“Poor boy, so young and so generous 
hearted, to fall by the hand of a cowardly 
assassin.”

A venerable, silver-haired gentleman 
said to her, “Well may you weep, my 
child, for the poor of this city have indeed 
lost a benefactor.”

Charley, who for years had been Colonel 
Fisk’s barber, stopped at the side of his 
corpse, his lips moved convulsively for a 
few seconds, as if his feelings were striving 
for utterance. Finally he took the ends of 
the Colonel's moustache between his fin­
gers, and, twisting them gracefully, said: 
“One more twirl, dearest of friends, for 
the last time.”

This simple incident Drought tears to the 
eyes of all who witnessed it. An aged 
French gentleman, dressed in the height of 
fashion, but wearing a long piece of crape 
on his arm, stopped, and gazing on the 
corpse, said: “Mmpauvre Jim, je te man­
que deja."

For two hours the long line of mourners 
was unbroken, and when Capt. Fuller an­
nounced to Mr. Merritt, the undertaker, 
that there was scarcely time to reach the 
depot, and the doors were closed, there was 
no perceptible diminution in the numbers 
in front of the opera house.

The members of the Ninth Regiment and 
the band, who, with the Aschenbroedel 
Verein, of which Col. Fisk was an honor­
ary member, had been waiting in the lower 
hall. They next filed past the body. The 
arms of the soldiers were reversed. Many 
of the members wept freely. One of them 
said aloud: 1 ‘ Maledictions on the vile as­
sassin !”

Chaplain Flagg then read the funeral 
service in a deeply impressive tone of 
voice:

“I am the resurrection and the life,saith 
the Lord: he that believeth in me, though 
he were dead, yet shall he live; and who­
soever liveth and believeth in me, shall 
never die.

I know that my Redeemer liveth, and 
that he shall stand at the latter day upon 
the earth. And though after my skin 
worms destroy this body, yet in my flesh 
shall I see God; whom I shall see for my­
self, and mine eyes shall behold, and not 
another.

We brought nothing into this world, and 
it is certain we can carry nothing out. The 

Lord gave, and the Lord hath taken away; 
blessed be the name of the Lord.”

Just as the prayer for the dead com­
menced, Mrs. Fisk and Mrs. Hooker, Col. 
Fisk’s sister, walked up the vestibule lean­
ing on the arm of Mr. Moore, a brother-in- 
law of the Colonel. They were attired in 
the deepest mourning. Their features were 
completely concealed by heavy black crape 
veils. They remained seated until the con­
clusion of the prayer. They then went to 
the side of the corpse. Mrs. Fisk raised her 
veil, and, bending over the body, kissed 
her dead husband's lips. She was then led 
away by Mr. Moore, sobbing bitterly. Mrs. 
Hooker’s grief was apparently more intense 
than that of Mrs. Fisk. Raising her veil, 
she kissed the cold face of the dead Col­
onel. Then throwing herself on the body, 
she exclaimed in accents of the wildest 
emotion :

“Oh, James, dearest and kindest of 
brothers, and best of friends, speak one 
word, if but one, to your dear sister. Oh, 
speak, James, and come back to us !”

It was with difficulty that she was re­
moved to an ante-room.

The lid of the casket was then closed, 
and the well-worn battle-flag of the Vete­
ran Corps of the Ninth Regiment was 
spread over the top. Assistant District-At­
torney Fellows, who up to this time had 
remained in the directors’ room with Jay 
Gould, entered the vestibule, and asked 
permission to look once more on the fea­
tures of his friend. When the lid was 
raised, Mr. Fellows leaned over the body 
and sobbed bitterly, the tears streaming 
down his face as he said:

“Good-by, dear boy. You was always 
a true and steadfast friend. Good-by, 
good-by.”

The casket was then closed for the last 
time. It was taken down stairs and placed 
in the hearse. Among the distinguished 
persons in the vestibule were Drs. Pollard 
and Eldridge, II. Ramsey, Henry Hurley, 
H. C. Rathbun, John Hilton, Jay Gould, 
H. Thompson, F. A. Lane, E. A. Buck of 
Buffalo, II. N. Smith, Air. Belden, James 
B. Bachc, C. McIntosh, C. S. Spencer, Mar­
shal Joseph II. Tooker, II. Sherwood, O. 
H. P. Archer, Sir. Simons, J. II. Bacon,D.
D. Field, W. A. Beach, D. Field, T. G. 
Shearman, Mr. Drake of Corning, Homer 
Ramsdell, B. W. Blanchard, J. W. Guppy,
E. K. Willard, Charles Orcutt, Samuel Pike, 
L. D. Rucker, Henry Thompson, C. D. 
Earle, J. N. Abbott, Wm. R. Barr, W. O. 
Chapin, T. B. Bunting, A. C. Radcliffe, C. 
S. Brown, Geo. Fowler, E. B. Hill, E. O. 
Hill, J. K. Frothingham, II. L. Gatchell,
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H. V. Moors A. L. Hall, C. A. Peck, W. 
H. Johnson, AV. Drake of London, Colonel 
Conklin of the Eighty-fourth Regiment, 

** Gen. Varian and staff,and Richard Tweed.
The following-named gentlemen consti­

tuted the guard of honor : Adj. Allen, 
Lieuts. Wood, Montgomery, Bowland, Hus- 
,®»y, Bacon, and Palfrey. Messrs. Henry 
Thompson, John Hilton, and Dr. Edwin 
Eldridge were appointed by the Erie Rail­
way directors as a committee to accompany 
the body to Brattleboro.

X.
THE MILITARY FUNERAL.

As early as ten o’clock the armory of the 
Ninth Regiment in West Twenty-sixth 
street was tilled with officers and members 
of the command and those of other organi­
zations in the Firstand Second Divisions, 
including the members of the Veteran As­
sociation of the Ninth. The garrison flag 
over the armory drooped mournfully at 
half-mast. On the opposite side of the 
street the immense manufactory also lower­
ed its flag. A dense mass of citizens 
gathered on the sidewalks, filling the space 
between Seventh and Eighth avenues. A 
marked absence of the customary parade 
joviality was noticeable. The sad loss to 
the regiment was the solitary topic of con­
versation. The grief was sincere. Gen. 
Varian, with his entire official family, was 
early on the scene, as well as representa­
tions in uniform from nearly every/ other 
regiment in the First and Second Divisions. 
A touching illustration of the esprit de 
corps existing between the Eighth and 
Ninth Regiments was exhibited in a full 
representation of the former, from the com­
missioned officers and the rank and file.

A great excitement was apparent among 
the members of Col. Fisk’s pet band. In 
the music room there was a great hubbub. 
With the traditional German emphasis of 
speech and gesticulation, they denounced 
the assassination. Even the drum corps 
shared the general grief, sadly muffling 
their drums, wrapping the black baize 
about them, and losening the snares.

An interesting and suggestive event was 
i the drapery of the regimental stand of 
: colors. The furled silken standards were 

enshrouded with a profusion of heavy­
crape. Everything save the bright silver 
spear above and the flagstaff below was 
covered.

In the immense drill room on the upper 
JStory the number of citizens present im­

peded the movements of the command. 
The same deep gloom which pervaded the 
company room below was visible here. In 
the absence of Lieut. Col. Baine, who was 
at the lying-in-state, Major Hitchwell 
directed the formation. The day being 
bitter cold and the regiment having no 
overcoats at least one-third of the com­
mand were absent. Nevertheless the pres­
ence of the absentees in citizen’s clothes 
was a sufficient evidence of the common 
grief at the regimental loss.

At 12 o’clock precisely the muffled drums 
sounded the assembly. Adjutant Allien 
equalized the battalion to a company front 
of twenty-ong files. At 1 o’clock t he column 
was set in motion. Preceded by the Veteran 
Association and non-commissioned officers 
of other commands, the escort marched, 
without music, down West Twenty-sixth 
street into Eighth avenue. The dense 
throng in Sixth avenue yielded a will­
ing and sympathetic passage. Opposite 
the Erie building the column halted. 
After a momentary delay the escort was 
marched into the building, where they 
passed in single file by the body of their 
late comrade in arms. This occupied some 
time, and visibly affected some of the per­
sonal mourners. Regaining the street 
through the Eighth avenue entrance, the 
escort filed into Twenty-third street, where 
the line was formed.

At this time the police with great diffi­
culty crowded to the sidewalks the thou­
sands of spectators. To compel the dense 
mass to fall back the patrolmen fiercely 
brandished their clubs. But there was no 
confusion. Sympathy was the reigning 
sentiment. The noticeable presence of so 
many women no doubt contributed to pro­
duce this effect.

The appearance of the pall-bearers was 
the signal fol a movement in the band. A 
ruffle from muffled drums, followed by a 
plaintive dirge, broke upon the wintry air. 
Four hundred rifles came to a present as 
the remains of the dead Colonel were borne 
to the hearse. This done the escort broke 
into column and moved off in the follow> 
ing order of procession:

Battalion of police under command of 
Capts. Copeland and Burden.

Ninth Regiment Band.
Drum Corps. 

Aschenbroedel Society.
Officers of the Narragansctt Steamship 

Company in uniform. .
Ninth Regiment in column of companies, 

left in front.
Erie Railway Employees. 

Carriage of Chief Mourners.
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Col Sterry,
Col. Allen, 
Gen. Funk,

W . Lt.-Col. Webster, h ... ~ ..
► w cn

. Col. Scott, 

. Col. Clark.

Col. Fisk’s horse led by groom in livery.
Two platoons non-commissioned officers 

and privates, National Guard. 
Six platoons commissioned officers.

National Guard marching in single rank. 
Gen. Varian and Staff.

Ninth Regiment Veteran Association, Gen. 
Hendrickson commanding. 

Platoon of Police.
Carriages.

1 the column the band played a dirge, the 
troops meanwhile remaining at a present.

A throng of citizens equaling if not out­
numbering that at the Eric building gath­
ered at the depot. A strong force of po­
lice, under Capt. Cameron, kept the space 
clear. The hearse, drawn by four black 
horses, was then driven into the depot. 
The pall-bearers transferred the casket to 
the special funeral car, which was heavily 
festooned with black and white drapery, 
as was the rest of the train. The officers 
of the Ninth stepped aboard and the parade 
was dismissed. The first sergeants there­
upon marched their reseptive companies 
back to the armory.

From the Erie building to the New York 
and New Haven Railroad depot was but a 
short march. It was only three blocks 
north and four blocks east. On the line 
of march the sidewalks were filled with 
people. Clusters of humanity blackened 
stoops, verandahs, balconies, and roofs on 
the route. There was something dreadful 
in the solemn silence which was broken 
only by the steady tramp of the soldiery 
and the funeral roll of the muffled drums. 
The Ninth Regiment never Before present­
ed so imposing an appearance as it swept 
along with company front, accurately align­
ed, stretching from curb to curb. The reg 
iment reversed its arms. Every officer 
wore the crape insignia of grief on his left 
arm and on his sword hilt. The blue and 
red colors and golden fringe of the Stars 
and Stripes were dimly discerned beneath 
a cloud of crape. Never since the martyr­
ed Lincoln was borne through New York’s 
streets was so impressive a spectacle wit­
nessed. As then, a dread of horror of the 
assassin’s work was revealed on every face. 
In the extraordinary and significant spec­
tacle presented, the Anglo-Saxon instinct 
against assassination expressed itself in fil­
ing manner.

One of the most effecting incidents of the 
cortege was the riderless horse led by the 
Colonel’s favorite groom. The reversed 
stirrup hoods, with boots and spurs attach­
ed, strikingly suggested the absence of the 
rider. When the escort changed direction 
to the right and passed into Twenty-sixth 
street, it broke into column of fours. A 
few steps further and it halted. Wheel­
ing into line of battle, right resting on 
Fourth avenue, arms were brought to a | 
present. The execution was faulty; so' 
rapidly and indistinctly was the command I 
given that the movement was not uniform 
on the part of the right wing. As the 
hearse passed from the left to the right of |

XI.
THE HOAD TO THE GRAVE.

Two horses were attached to each car, 
and in that manner were rapidly drawn up 
Fourth avenue, and through the tunnel to 
Forty-second street. The crowd which 
waited at the entrance to the depot was 
equalled in numbers and respectability 
only by that which had surrounded the 
Opera House i« the morning. The railings 
of the walls on either side were fringed 
with men, and even women risked that 
elevated and perilous position to catch a 
passing glimpse of the poor Colonel’s 
coffin. Inside the dopot every available 
inch of space was occupied. The multi­
tude pressed forward, but reverently, to 
try to catch a glimpse of the coffin. They 
were baulked, however, ns it was entirely 
hidden from view by the elegant black 
silver-mounted casket in which it had been 
placed.

At a quarter past three, sharp, the train 
started, every hat being removed as the 
mourning dressed car passed. All the way 
up to Fifty-seventh street the multitude 
extended in an unbroken line. Above 
that at every corner a cro. dot sympilni- 
zers stood to offer a last tribute of respect 
to the murdered man.

The train passed Harlem at 3 :20 and 
Williamsbridge at 3:50. At each place 
there was a crowd of about 200 persons. 
Port Chester was reached at 4:05, and 
Greenwich at 4:11. Here the crowd was 
smaller. At Greenwich and below many 
persons were enjoying the splendid skat­
ing. Stamford hove in sight at 4:23. Here 
an assemblage of 500 persons crowded 
around the car for the purpose of getting 
a sight at the casket.

Arrived at South Norwalk at 4:44 and
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stopped for one minute, a crowd of one 
hundred and fifty persons standing mean­
while with their hats off. Passed South­
port at 5 and reached Bridgeport at 5:10, 
where a stoppage of two minutes duration 
was made. The crowd here was immense 
and must have numbered two thousand per­
sons. The general feeling was one of deep 
regret at Co1. Fish’s de F'i. and for r'w?n:-o 
on his murderer. It having been reported 
that the funeral train had gone by tho Har­
lem road, many persons had gone away, or 
otherwise the crowd would have been 
much greater. At 5:30 the train stopped 
at the Naugatuck river junction to allow 
the Shore line express to pass. Crossed 
the Naugatuck River bridge at 5:35, and 
passed Milford at 5:42, and Stratford at 
5:45. At 6 o’clock, arrived at New Haven. 
The most intense excitement prevailed. 
The Evening Register had printed a des- 
gatch dated New York, 4 p.m.,stating that 

tokes had committed suicide, but giving 
no particulars. The report made a stir in 
the train, but it was generally discredited. 
The crowd in the depot must have number­
ed over 3000. It was filled with them. 
The same feeling was found to exist here 
as at Bridgeport. Wallingford was passed 
at 6:35, and Meriden was reached at 0:45. 
Here also there was a large crowd. The 
next place was Berlin, which was reached 
at 7:01. An assemblage of a hundred per­
sons had congregated here. The train dash­
ed into the Hartford depot at 7:20. There 
was an immense crowd, but the train tar­
ried only a minute in Springfield, where it 
arrived at 8:15. The multitude numbered 
over five thousand. One man shouted 
“Revenge!” Otherwise they were quiet 
and orderly. Everywhere the greatest cu­
riosity was manifested to see everything 
and everybody connected with the funeral. 
No sooner did the train stop then the plat­
forms were covered and the windows were 
darkened with heads endeavoring to peer 
in. At Springfield the funeral train was 
switched off on the Connecticut river 
track and a fresh locomotive attached. 
This caused a delay of about ten minutes, 
which were made good use of by the 
mourners in the refreshment room. At 
Springfield Mr. A. J. Pollard and Miss Ad­
die Moore of Boston joined the party. 
The train psssed Holyoke at 8:55. Here 
there was a crowd of a hundred persons. 
Northampton was passed at 9:15. The as­
semblage numbered about two hundred. 
Hatfield was passed at 9:30, and Wheatley 
at 9:37. Arrived at South Deerfield, at 
9:50. A large crowd stood shivering in the 
hard snow until the train started again. 
Greenfield was reached at 10:14. There 

were about two hundred persons here, 
many being in sleighs. South Vernon wa, 
reached at 10:50, and Vernon at 11:20. 
Stoppages were made at both places, and 
respectful crowds saw the train come and 
go. At twenty-five minutes to 12, New 
York time, tlie train dashed into the snow­
capped mountains in which Brattleboro 
lies nertlcd. Th-e ’’.ffform of the station 
was fairly packed with people, and it waa 
all the party could do, with the sturdy as­
sistance of the village constable, to make 
their way out of the cars. It was a sor­
rowful assemblage of the friends of Col. 
Fisk’s boyhood, and was astonishingly 
large for such a petty place. The casket 
was taken out of the case, and, being sur­
rounded by the officers of the Ninth in full 
uniform, was carried slowly over the snow 
to the Revere House, where everything had 
been prepared to receive it. It was then 
laid out in state, and all hands adjourned 
to a bountiful supper and to bed. It was 
intended to leave the coffin all night in the 
house of Mr. John W. Frost, an old resi­
dent of the place, and friend of Mr. Fisk’s 
father.

The Rev. Wm. L. Jenkins, pastor or the 
Unitarian Church, presided. The Baptist 
Church was used, as being more commodi­
ous. The cemetery in which Col. Fisk’s 
remains repose is on a bluff overlooking the 
river and some most romantic scenery. It 
is a lovely spot. Last Spring the Trustees 
wrote to the ColoneLasking a donation for 
the purpose of enclosing it with an iron 
fence. The Colonel wrote back saying that 
they didn't need any fence; those that were 
in couldn’t get out, and those who were out 
didn’t want to get in.

XII.
His boyhood’s home.

Col. Fisk went to Brattleboro when a 
boy of three years. His father built the 
Revere House, the principal hotel of the 
village, and it is now owned by Mrs. Fisk. 
She also owns the fine row of brick build­
ings which ornament the main street 
higher up. Here young Fisk lived and 
grew up and- played hookey from school, 
and started out on his famous peddling 
tour. All the middle-aged men for miles 
around knew him, and played with him 
when he and they were boys. He is des­
cribed as a smart, headstrong youngster, 
able to whip anything of his size and 
weight in the country, the leader of all 
juvenile sports, with an utter detestation



of school, but apt to pick up information, 
especially in figures, in which he excelled. 
He wrote a bold, large hand, perfectly 
legible, but covering a vast dear of space. 
He was just such a boy as everybody would 
love, and everybody did love. Just such 
a boy as he was a man. The people are 
never tired talking of him, and relating 
anecdotes in which he figured prominently, 
and which came under their personal 
observation.

His body was placed in room No. 1 of 
the Revere House, the room in which his 
sister Minnie and her husband, Col. 
Hooker, held their wedding reception. 
The magnificent floral offerings which 
decorated his coffin in New York were 
tastefully arranged around him. They 
were brought on wrapped in cotton and 
enclosed in large pasteboard boxes, under 
the charge of Messrs. Curtis and Huested, 
members of the florist firm which furnished 
them. None but intimate friends ■were 
permitted to visit the room and look upon 
the face of the dead Colonel. Hardly had 
the first streak of dawn appeared on the 
morning of the 9th, when the jingle of the 
sleigh bells announced the arrival of the 
country folk for miles and miles around. 
Into the town they poured in a steady 
stream. All knew Jim Fisk of their own 
personal knowledge as far around here as 
liis famous peddling wagon was wont to 
travel. It is a creditable fact, ■which will 
force itself upon any one who may mix 
with Col. Fisk’s acquaintances, that those 
who knew him loved him. Here, where 
he was reared, everybody speaks well of 
him. Of all the multitude which over­
flowed the village of Brattleboro, there 
was not a person but spoke of his life with 
enthusiasm, and of his sad death with 
tears.

It is wonderful where all the people 
came from. The principal street present­
ed two long lines of sleighs throughout 
its whole length, and in the side streets 
stood unnumbered ox teams, and still they 
came dashing in. Hundreds arrived from 
Springfield and Boston and other large 
cities within easy reach. The hotels were 
filled to their utmost capacity. The streets, 
the lounging places about town, were 
crowded with sad-visaged people in holi­
day attire. The day was generally observ­
ed as a holiday. The funeral was the all- 
absorbing topic of conversation. Of course 
every thing in any way relating to the 
dead Colonel was eagerly discussed and 
listened to. Woe be to the man who dared 
speak disparagingly of him.

A notice was posted up in the hotel 
about 10 o’clock in view of the increasing
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multitude, that the casket would be borne 
to the church and the body exposed to 
view at 11 o’clock.

At 10:30 a small hearse on runners, and 
hung with black and white silk curtains, 
was drawn up to the door by two jet black 
horses in gold mounted harness. The cas­
ket was then reverently borne down stairs 
and placed in the hearse, which, being sur­
rounded by a detail of officers in full uni­
form, moved slowly up the street to the 
Baptist Church. A large multitude follow­
ed. Mourning drapery was festooned all 
around the walls of the church, and four 
evergreen wreathes hung from the organ 
pipes. Above these on the organ hung two 
black streamers, cut in points at the bot­
toms. Conjointly they bore the inscrip­
tion: “In the midst of life we are in 
death.”

Col. Wm. D. Van Wyck, the escort, com­
posed of Adj. Allien, Quartermaster Bailey, 
Capts. Blaney, Miller, Smith, and Sergeants 
Aspell and Jackson, with the assistance of 
the undertakers, lifted the casket and car­
ried it up stairs and along the aisle until 
they reached the broad lower steps under 
the pulpit. Here it was laid lengthways 
upon two stools, and the lid was opened. 
The face had not been changed, nor were 

, there any signs of decomposition, except 
a slight discoloration above the moustache 
on the right side.

The florists were already there with all 
the magnificent floral offerings which sur­
rounded the body in the Grand Opera 
House and in the hotel. They had also a 
large mass of fresh violets, white rosebuds, 
and trailing green vines. With the assis­
tance of Adjt. Allien and Sergt. Aspell, they 
immediately set to work to arrange them 
about the coflin. A small round marble- 
top table was placed near the head of the 
casket, and on it was placed the large 
crown: in front stood the smaller of the 
two large crosses. The large wreath 
was hung from the centre of the coflin rail, 
with two small wreaths on either side. At 
the foot of the casket a rectangular table 
was drawn up, and the large cross was laid 
against it in the centre, resting on the car­
pet, the two anchors leaning against the 
legs. On the table of each end stood the 
two smaller crowns, a small wreath resting 
on a bunch of green vines. Between them, 
across the Colonel’s breast, after the manner 
of a sash, was laid a row of vines dotted ; 
with white flowers and buds, a boquet of* 
white flowers was placed in one hand and 
his military cap in the other. Around his 
head was laid a bed of geranium leaves and 
white rose buds, a wreath reposed on his 
legs, and across between his feet loose



flowers were strewn in every available nooK 
and corner. The silk regimental flag was 
draped over the lid.
‘ As soon as everything had been arranged 

,1110 doors were opened. The multitude who 
'had been waiting were admitted. They 
passed up the right hand aisle around in 
front of the coffin,and down the left hand 
aisle out through the opposite doorway. 
Bergt. Aspell stood at the head of the cas­
ket and Adjt. Allien at the foot. The 
crowd came in in a perfect stream. Many 
burst into tears and lamentations. The 
Stream of visitors was unbroken during the 
two hours which intervened until the bc- 
gining of the funeral service. 

XIII.
THE LAST SERVICES.

The church was filled to its utmost ca­
pacity. The crowd overflowed into the 
street and rendered admission impossible. 
The seats on the right of the middle aisle 
were reserved for the mourners, and those 
cn the left for the officers. The front pew 
cn the right was occupied by Mrs. Fisk, 
Mr. Moore, Mrs. Hooker, and Colonel 
Hooker. The aisles and the gallery were 
packed by richly-dressed people. Not one 
was there through mere curiosity. John 
Marshall, the Colonel’s faithful body ser­
vant, was given a chair at the foot of the 
coffin. He wept unceasingly. Sergeant 
Aspell and Adj. Allien stood at either end. 
Capt. Gus Fuller acted as usher. The Rev. 
Dr. Flagg, the chaplain, was seated on the ' 
left of the pulpit. The Rev. Win. L. Jen- j 
kins, the officiating minister, sat beside it. 
The organist and a choir of two ladies and 
two gentlemen stood in front of the organ. ]

By the Boston train, which arrived at a 
quarter before 1, a large number of ladies 
and gentlemen came. Among others were 
Eben Jordan of Jordan & Marsh, Mr. Bod­
well, Geo. Sheverick, agent of the Fall 
River line, Asa Porter of the Old Colony 
and Newport Railroad, and many others. 
They brought two crowns and six or seven 
wreaths of flowers as offerings.

At length, on the minute of 1 o’clock, 
the organ pealed forth and the choir sang 
a voluntary. The Rev. Mr. Jenkins then 
stepped forward, and, after reading some 
appropriate passages from the Scriptures, 
offered up a long and earnest prayer. All 
bowed their heads, and thousands of hand-! 
kerchiefs appeared all over the church. ■ 
Mr. Jenkins’ prayer, after commending 
Col. Fisk to the Almighty on account of,

his many virtues, took in each of his rela­
tions and friends, his regiment, those who 
were in the church, the people of Brattle­
boro, the inhabitants of the United States, 
and the world generally. It was unneces­
sarily personal, and harrowed the feelings 
of everybody to that extent that sobs and 
wails of anguish could be heard all over 
the church. Mrs. Fisk and other relatives 
were entirely overcome. The prayer occu­
pied half an hour. It concluded with a 
recitation of the Lord’s prayer.

Mr. Jenkins then gave out the GOJth 
hymn, which was sung by the choir, the 
organ accompanying. Then the Rev. Dr 
Flagg stepped forward and preached the 
funeral sermon.

“Beloved: The conventional services 
of the Church have been performed over 
the remains of our dead friend. In spite 
of a recent indisposition,! have traveled in­
to these far-away mountains to attempt to 
do justice to the commander of the regi­
ment of which I have the honor of being 
Chaplain. I did not travel so far either to 
give vent to the promptings of malice or 
pronounce a fulsome panegyric, but simply 
as an officer of the regiment commanded by 
him who raised it from a comparatively in­
significant position to a peerage with the 
best and most efficient militia organization 
in the United States. I have known him 
only a short time, but in that short time I 
found him to be my friend, and have been 
led hither because I found in him that 
which attracts us to a man as goodness and 
truth always attract us. He who lies before 
you w'as no common man. He was not like 
the mass. As to his faults.! will not speak 
of them. A censorious world will do them 
ample justice. He had enough denuncia­
tions from those who never looked into his 
merits. It is but natural.that a man of his 
strong characteristics should have had 
strong faults as well as strong virtues. 
Were he a person of mediocrity he would 
probably have passed through the world 
without censure. When his good qualities 
are balanced against his bad, I venture to 
say that we will have at least an equipoise, 
we will find them at least up to the average. 
I will speak of those virtues which were 
most manifest in him. He was magnani­
mous by nature, and never consulted his 
means when he wished to do a good deed. 
Rich men oppress the community both pri- 
vately and publicly. There is a crabbed 
meanness in rich men generally which it 
contemptible. Col. Fisk was generous to 
a fault. He once remarked to me: ‘Icare 
little for money for its own sake. I wish 
for money in order to be enabled to do 
good to others.’ He gave his money to the 



poor, to such as truly needed it. It was a 
noble feature of his character that he gave 
not to those who had, but to those who 
had not.

‘ ‘ When lying a corpse in the Grand Cen­
tral Hotel, a lady holding a child by the 
hand attemped to force her way into his 
room. ‘ For six months, ’ said she,1 he has 
kept me and my child from starvation, and 
I have never seen his face. I want to look 
upon my noble benefactor.’

‘ ‘ Another peculiarity was his independ­
ence and manliness of character. Col. Fisk 
knew how to say I will and I will not. He 
always expressed the sentiment of his soul 
in spite of all opposition. This is a virtue 
which cannot be too highly commended. 
There was nothing of the hypocrite about 
Col. Fisk. Whatever he did was open and 
above board. 1 believe that he did every­
thing, whether good or bad, from conviction. 
Those things which shock public sentiment 
are not to be commended, but conscientious­
ness is. We have a wide testimony to his 
work. New York is giving such testimony 
at this moment. No matter what the male­
dictions of the press may have been, and 
no matter what those persons whom he has 
beaten at their own game may have said 
against him, they have all had the manliness 
to come forth in the last few days and ac­
knowledge Ins'virtues.

‘ ‘ The crowded hotei, the immense and re­
spectable assembly in the streets, their sad 
faces as we passed in procession to the de­
pot, show that where true virtue exists, the 
world is ever ready to acknowledge it. We 
have every reason to believe that he gave 
testimony to his faith in Jesus. We may 
hope that, although not professing that 
name during life, his prayer has been heard 
and accepted at the throne of the Almighty.

“ As for you, who have met with so deep 
an affliction, there is only one consolation 
I can offer you, and that lies in your own 
consciousness; you know what he has done 
for you, you know his goodness, his excel­
lence and his virtues, and the memory of 
this will ever be gratifying to you—will 
ever be a power to banish sorrow from 
your hearts. It is fitting that his body 
should be returned to the scenes of his 
childhood, that he should come back in 
death to his native hills. It is fitting that 
the last resting-place of citizen soldiers 
should be among those scenes where every 
footstep brings a reminder of the glorious 
deeds of our revolutionary forefathers. It 
is fitting that a man of such indomitable 
courage should be in a spot which has been 
prolific of so much heroism, and which kas 
furnished the world with so many courage­
ous men.
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fi In conclusion, let me warn you that we 
tread in uncertain places. You do not know 
who may be the next to fall. Be you ready, 
soldiers of the Ninth. You especially have 
reason to remember tho terrible time 
which called your swords from your scab­
bards so recently. This funeral is but a 
sequel to the funerals which followed the 
12th of July. You may again be called 
upon to fight, perhaps to fall, in defense 
of your country’s honor. God knows 
whether in the uncertain future, some of 
you may not be reserved for a similar fate. 
Heed, then, I beg of you, the voice which 
proceeds from those mute lips. Do your 
duty to your regiment, to your God, to 
yourselves, and to your country.”

This sermon, which was entirely extem­
poraneous, was listened to with the most 
profound attention. The delivery was 
elegant and graceful. Everybody seemed 
to think it went right to the point. The 
officers of the Ninth were in raptures over 
it, and Mrs. Fisk was so pleased that she 
called Dr. Flagg to her and expressed her 
thanks in person.

Dr. Flagg then read the solemn ounai 
service of the Episcopal Church, after 
which the relatives were permitted to come 
forward and take a last look upon the re­
mains. It was at first Intended to dis­
pense with this painful ceremony, and Mrs. 
Fisk had agreed to it, but Mrs. Hooker 
insisted upon seeing her dead brother’s 
face once more, and the original pro­
gramme was changed. The scene was now 
an extremely mournful one. Mrs. Hooker 
burst forth into loud lamentations, and her 
husband, unable to contain himself, fol­
lowed her example. Mrs. Fisk leaned 
over and glued her lips to the face of the 
corpse for the space of several minutes. 
She had to be removed by gentle force, 
and half carried to her pew. Mr. -Moore 
wept like a child. Sir. Moore's grief was 
of the most violent character, and the two 
Misses Moore almost fainted from excess of 
feeling. The other relatives buried theii 
faces in their handkerchiefs and sobbed 
audibly. Col. Fisk’s colored sen ant rock 
ed to and fro in his anguish. The officers 
of the Ninth all had their handkerchiefs t( 
their eyes. Sergeant Caspel standing a 
the head of the coffin allowed his tears t< 
roll down unrestrained, while Adjt. Alliei 
faced about to hide his grief. The minis 
ters on the altar showed visible emotion 
and the choir cried as though a dear rela 
five was lost to them. This wild sorrov 
grew infectious and spread all over th 
church. People attempted to gulp dow: 
their rising tears and then broke dow: 
into weeping and sobbing. There was nc



21

a dry eye in the building; for a second or 
two everybody seemed paralyzed. Then 
tho undertaker stepped quickly forward 
and let down the lid of the casket, not, 
however, before Adjt. Allien had secured

cuitous road arrived at a new-made grave 
on the very edge of the burial ground. 
The people already surrounded the hole in 
large numbers when the hearse drove up. 
The grave is on the very edge and about

the wreath which rested upon the Colo- the centre of the declivity of the bold bluff, 
nel’s body. These he stripped of their on the top of which the cemetery stands, 
flowers, and going around among the ' Below is a deep valley, bounded on the 
friends and relatives presented each with a ; opposite side by the Mantasket mountain, 
blossom as a souvenir. It was a pieety 
act, done on the inspiration of the 
moment, and one for which the Adjutant 
received unnumbered hearty blessings. 
Mr. Merrit then locked the casket forever, 
and the battle-flag of the Ninth having 
been spread over its top, the following 
pall-bearers advanced and seized the gold- 
plated handles: Lieut-Col. Braine, Major 
Hitchcock, Col. W. E. Van Wyck, and 
Capts. Miller, Spencer, and Barrows. 
Slowly they bore it to the street and de­
posited it in the hearse sleigh in waiting. 
Then forming themselves as a guard of 
honor around the hearse, the officers of the 
Ninth moved slowly down the street and 
took a position as the head of the proces­
sion. An immense crowd who could not 
obtain admittance into the church covered 
the Post Office steps and lined the side­
walk opposite. Behind the officers the 
steamboat men fell into line, and behind 
them came the civilian friends of the dead 
Colonel. The ladies and the relatives en­
tered ten large two-horse sleighs and fol­
lowed. The first sleigh was occupied by 
Mrs. Fisk, Mrs. Hooker, Mr. Moore, and 
Colonel Hooker, and the second by the 
Misses Morse and Mrs. Morse.

At half past two the procession started. 
The church bell began to toll at the same 
moment. A line of people half a mile 
long walked on either sidewalk forward. 
They went bearing to the right when they 
reached the Brattleboro House. The win­
dows of every residence were filled with 
spectators. Around the Brattleboro House 
to the left the pageant took another turn 
and began clambering up a long steep hill. 
The ground was icy and covered with 
caked snow, which rendered locomotion 
difficult. ■ The bell still tolled mournfully 
and the sad procession of people followed 
slowly after. A number of other sleighs 
owned by residents of tho neighborhood 
joined in behind. Up the winding hill 
path for five minutes more and the suffer­
ing multitude were on the top. The journey 
now lay along a level road, with the well- 
filled cemetery on the left. At about the cen­
tre of the white picket fence wfliich sur­
rounded the resting place of the dead, the 
head of the funeral procession turned in 
through an open gateway, and by a cir-

six thousand feet high, along whose base 
the Connecticut river winds. The scenery 
is romantic beyond description. The hand­
some case which contained the coffin on 
its journey from New York was quickly 
brought on the ground and the casket 
placed inside. The case was covered with 
black cloth and richly silver-mounted. The 
officers stood in a body on the right, the 
relations with Mrs. Fisk and Mrs. Hooker, 
in front. On the left of the grave the 
chaplain, the Rev. Dr. Flagg, was mount­
ed on the newly turned up sand. Tho 
multitude gathered mournfully around, 
and doffed their hats. The casket having 
been placed upon the trestle work over 
the grave, Dr. Flagg invoked a solemn 
blessing upon the assemblage, then at a 
signal straps were put under the coffin, and 
the mortal remains of James Fisk, Jr., were 
lowered to the bottom of the grave. In 
another minute, at a quarter to 3 o’clock, 
New York, time, six spadefulls of earth, 
thrown in by two small boys, had hid him 
from the sight of the world.

Col. Fisk’s wife and sister were led to 
their sleigh in a half fainting condition. 
AR were sobbing as though their hearts 
would break. It took but ten minutes to 
fill up the grave. Then all the mourners 
took their seats in large atage sleighs 
which had been provided for them through 
the kindness of Col. Miller, and were con­
veyed to the depot where the train was 
awaiting them.

Col. Fisk’s entire uniform, sword and 
all, is buried with him, excepting his 
splendid diamond badge, which Mrs. Fisk 
■will keep as a memento.

XIV.
FISK AS A BUSINESS MAN.

The restless nature of the man began tc 
betray itself before he was out of bis teens, 
and James left home and entered the em- 
•ploy of the lion-tamer, Van Amburgh, in 
whose show he acted as a “tent hand.” 
and assistant doorkeeper. Seven or eight 
years of this life enabled James to see a 
good deal of the world, when he returned
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to Vermont and took up his father’s old 
business of peddling. He was a sharp bar­
gainer, a ready salesman, and possessed a 
degree of native wit that enabled him to 
dispose of immense quantities of goods. 
His prosperity only added to his presump­
tion, and the outfit of each succeeding 
year eclipsed all former efforts. A spank­
ing four-horse team, splendidly built 
wagon, and superb-plated harness, were 
his delight, and he went so far as to em­
ploy a clerk to assist him. Even now the 
country people of Massachusetts, Connect­
icut, and Vermont remember Fisk as a ped­
dler, and he established a reputation in 
the business that has never been since 
equalled. His custom grew to such an ex­
tent, that the Boston firm of Jordan, 
Marsh & Co., then starting into business, 
considered it to their interest to purchase 
his business and employ him as a salesman. 
Fisk accepted the offer, but soon found 
that a clerkship was not to his taste. So 
dissatisfied did he become with the life, 
that lie was on the point of resigning and 
beginning his old life, when the outbreak 
of the war changed the current of Fisk’s 
career, for his speculative spirit at once 
saw an opening for his talents. A lot of old 
blankets in the store of his employers sug­
gested an idea. He proceeded to Washing­
ton : kept open house for a few days, and 
sold the blankets at a high price, also se­
curing a contract for an immense quantity. 
The firm made a round profit, and Fisk be­
came a partner.

One of the first acts of Fisk as a partner 
was his ordering the purchase of a mill at 
Gaysville, Vermont, which was the only 
one of its kind in the country. Scarcely 
had the sale been effected than it was 
found that the mill goods were in urgent 
demand. A “corner’’was the result, the 
firm cleared over $200,000 in two years, 
and then re-sold the mill to its former 
owner. Fisk also dabbled in Confederate 
cotton, and cleared large sums for the 
house, his conscience not troubling him 
about the dishonesty or disloyalty involved 
in the transactions. So that it “paid,” 
was all that Fisk considered necessary.

All this time Fisk lived in an ostenta­
tious style, and made all the noise in the' 
world he could. In 1865, he became too 
smart for his partners, and they paid him a 
large sum to withdraw. He at once start­
ed in business on his own.account, locating 
himself at the corner of Summer and 
Chauncey streets, Boston, but the ebb of the 
commercial tide had already set in, and in 
a few months James Fisk, Jr., was almost as 
poor a man as when he took up peddling 
for a livelihood. He then came to New

York and opened a brokerage office in 
Broad street. But he was unsuccessful, 
and it was not until he made the acquain­
tance of Daniel Drew that any change inhis- 
fortunes was perceptible. Drew gave the 
sale of the Bristol line of steamers intoFisk’s 
hands, and the firm of Fisk, Belden, & Co. 
was established in Wall street, their opera­
tions being so successful that Fisk possess­
ed a $1,000,000 bank account. The Eric 
directors quarrelled with Drew, and both 
Fisk and Jay Gould became members of 
the board. From the start these two men 
determined to gain possession of the road, 
and their schemes ultimately proved suo 
cessful. In February, 1868, the famous over 
issue of Erie stock was completed, by which 
the capital of the road was nominally in­
creased from $19,000,000 to $3-1,000,000. 
This operation led Fisk and Gould to im­
agine that they could secure colossal for­
tunes by operating in the stock. Commo­
dore Vanderbilt held $10,000,000 of the 
stock, and they persuaded the Board to pur­
chase §5,000,000 of Vanderbilt’s stock at 
seventyper cent., at the same time making 
a private arrangement with the Commodore 
to have the “call” of theremaining§5,000,- 
600 for six months, they paying him $1,000,- 
000 cash for the privilege. Fisk and Gould 
then sold the $10,000,000 “short” and so 
manoeuvred that the stock fell from 72 1-2 
to 35. They then “watered” tlie Com­
pany’s stock from $34,000,000 to $57,000,- 
000, and purchased Vanderbilt’s stock with 
the proceeds of the sale at forty per cent. 
Fisk is believed to have cleared by this 
transaction,over $1,125,000. In July, 1868, 
the brokerage firm of Fisk, Belden & Co. was 
dissolved, and the two conspirators at once 
set about securing control of the Eric Boad. 
To effect this, Fisk and Gould prosecuted 
Mr. Eldridge, the president, for fraudu­
lently using $5,000,000 of the Company’s 
money to secure the passage of the bill 
which had enabled them to increase the 
stock. Eldridge resigned at last, and Jay 
Gould became president.

From that time to the present, Fisk and 
Gould almost owned the road,and the prof­
its were appropriated by them without any 
reference to the interests or wishes of the 
unfortunate holders of stock.

But Fisk became more notorious for his 
“Black Friday ” operaticns than any one 
of the innumerable schemes he set on foot. 
A Bing was formed by which absolute 
control was obtained of all the salable 
gold in the market, and the consequence 
was a “corner” in gold on Friday, Sept. 
24, 1869. The result was a panic in Wall 
street, gold suddenly sprang from 142 to 
160. Fisk and Gould’s agents forcing the
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rate by bids, until it was found that the 
Ring possessed all of the available gold, 
and intended to hold it for a further ad­
vance. Everything seemed in favor of the 
conspirators, as it was believed that the 
Government sales of Gold would not 
relieve the market. The scenes in the 
Gold-room were extraordinary, for a con­
tinuation of the crisis for twenty-four 
hours meant absolute ruin for all of the 
small operators, as well as many of the 
leading lirms. While the panic "was at its 
height President Grant ordered the sale of 
$5,000,000 of gold coin, and the rate drop­
ped down to its old figure. With charac­
teristic effrontery, Fisk and his confede­
rates repudiated the majority of the en­
gagements made by their agents, and 
several failures were the result. The con­
spiracy was an infamous one, and in any 
other city would probably have led to the 
imprisonment of the leaders.

Fisk, however, had become identified 
with the Tammany Ring. Tweed and 
Sweeney were Eric Directors, and corrupt 
Judges enabled Fisk to escape the clutches 
of the law. As an instance of Fisk’s dis­
honest manner of business, it is only neces­
sary to cite his Opera house speculation. 
When the over-issue of Eric stock gave 
him control of an immense amount of the 
shares, he purchased Pike’s Opera House 
for $820,000 in the name of the Eric Com­
pany, but they, not liking the bargain, he 
assumed the purchase, reinbursing the 
Company with some of his watered stock. 
Subsequently the Company leased the up­
per part of the building at an enormous 
rent, and Fisk also dabbled in other pro­
perty, among which is the Fifth Avenue 
Theatre and Central Park Garden, his old 
experiences as a showman making him 
hanker after places of amusement.

XV.
Fisk’s indomitable pluck.

Vekmont claims this noted personage as 
her favorite son. lie made his first ap­
pearance on the stage of life in the obscurer 
hamlet of Pownal, and not in the world- 
known Hamlet of Shakespeare. His origi­
nal character was that of a Green Moun­
tain baby; and he took his milk with 
much alacrity, and played his part so 
unctuously, that he immediately became 
the pet of the establishment, and secured a 
life engagement on favorable terms, with 
promises of advancement and increase of 
rations as his histrionic and gastronomic 

genius should develop in strength and 
ripen in perfection.

Fisk was a happy babe—a chubby, roly- 
poly little sucker. The phenomena of his 
existence didn’t trouble him a bit,but sim­
ply titilated him as a continual joke. How 
he had come about, or what was his signi­
ficance in the universe, or what his future 
destiny was to be, or whether Jay Gould 
would be born successfully, or Commodore 
Vanderbilt be saved by faith or comprom­
ise, or who was to run the Erie Railroad or 
populate Long Branch, were questions 
which had no power to ruffle his infantile 
serenity of spirit. With that sagacity as to 
povender which has always distinguished 
him, and which seems to be inseparable 
from true military genius, the Colonel in 
embryo stuck to the lacteal fount as his 
immediate objective, and laid in copious 
sustentation for that robust physique which 
so ably reinforced his mental powers.

Col. Fisk’s boyhood was undistinguish­
ed, with the single exception of his re­
ligious instruction. His mother dying 
while he was yet an infant, his father re­
married, and his step-mother being a God­
fearing woman, and faithful to all her du­
ties, brought the motherless boy up in the 
nurture and admonition of the Lord. She 
did this wisely and lovingly; and the way­
ward man, though he strayed far from that 
straight and narrow path in which she 
taught him as a boy to walk, was ever 
ready to acknowledge,and with moistened 
eyes not unfrequently did acknowledge, 
the faithfulness of her teaching and the 
purity of her example.

But our space is limited and our theme 
is large, and we must plunge at once into 
that potrion of Col. Fisk’s'career which 
impinges on public affairs. First, howev­
er, let us indicate his character by fore­
shadowing it in an illustration which will 
be readily understood by travelers on West­
ern steamboats and members of Western 
legislatures, as well as by the Christian 
public at large.

Col. Fisk’s right bower was shrewdness, 
his left bower was pluck; and his ace of 
trumps was good-nature; and with the 
right and left bowers and the ace in his 
hand, or even in his boot or up his sleeve, 
a man cannot easily be euchred.

His shrewdness enabled him to compre­
hend what will most readily appeal to hu­
man nature as it is fundamentally consti­
tuted on this continent, and not only to 
penetrate the probable combinations of op­
erators in commerce and finance, but also 
to foresee what combinations the sweep of 
events would force upon those operators.

His pluck enabled him to meet the exL 
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gencies of any situation, and to carry out a 
plan once determined upon, with a nerve 
that never quailed.

His good nature enabled him, without 
hurting any one’s feelings or inciting any 
one's animosity, to do things which, in a 
morose or cold-hearted man, would be in­
tolerable.

Thus, with shrewdness to perceive an ad­
vantage, with pluck to execute a plan, and 
with good nature to conciliate opposing 
elements,he was able to carry out schemes 
so audacious that to more timid and nar­
row-minded men they looked like down­
right recklessness, and their golden fruits 
the result of sheer luck rather than con­
summate ability.

In addition to these characteristics, an­
other clement of success should be men­
tioned which distinguished 6«loncl Ffsk 
throughout his entire career. That cle­
ment was liberality in expenditure. There 
was not an iota of miserliness or meanness 
in him.

“ If a man wants to succesd in America, ” 
he once said to the writer of this sketch, 
“let him first get his base all right—that 
is, let him be sure he is going to do some­
thing which the public want to have done, 
and which will add to the general com­
fort and convenience—and then let him put 
all the men on it and all the money in it 
he can, and the public will pay him back 
handsomely; but let him scrimp, and play 
shabby, and try to make the public eat cold 
victuals, and they’l Heave him alone just as 
sure as a hard-shell Baptist will shun a 
temperance hotel.”

The readers now have a key to Col. Fisk’s 
character and to his success. And when 
one contemplates his success, it must be 
remembered that James Fisk, Jr., was 
born in September, 1835, and was therefore 
only thirty-six years old when ho was mur­
dered—less than half the age of his stren­
uous rival, Commodore Vanderbilt. Col. 
Fisk counted his wealth by millions, and 
was ■worth ten times more than Commo­
dore Vanderbilt was at the age of thirty- 
six, and had ten times as many friends as 
his rival ever had.

Before he came to New York, Mr. Fisk 
was a junior partner in the firm of Jordan, 
Marsh & Co. of Boston. Previous to be­
coming a member of that firm, he was a 
customer of it, and bought largely of the 
house to supply small country merchants in 
northern Massachusetts and New Hamp­
shire and Vermont, to whom he used to 
job out his goods. His shrew’dness, pluck, 
good nature, and liberality distinguished 
him in that vocation, as they have in all 
others. His four-horse turn-out was the 

most gorgeous that ever was seen in the 
New England Valleys, or that ever climbed 
the roads over New’ England hills. He 
spared no expense and shrank at no toil to 
make it profitable to his customers to trade 
exclusively with him. His great success 
and engaging qualities while thus employ­
ed, so impressed Jordan & Marsh, that they 
took him in as partner, and the firm became 
Jordan, Marsh & Co.

When the war came on, Jordan,Marsh & 
Co. got heavy Government contracts for 
soldier’s clothing and blankets, and it is 
admitted to a large degree it was Fisk’s 
energy and tact w hich enabled them to put 
the contracts through and distance all com­
petitors. The junior partner’s courage was 
equal to every emergency. He made con­
tracts for the manufacture of clothing for 
the firm all through New England, and 
then drove the contracts through with un­
flagging energy and inexhaustible good 
nature. He thus got over eight hundred 
thousand suits of clothes, and blankets 
without number made for the firm, all of 
which sold at a handsome profit.

New York offered a theatre of action wide 
enough for the transcendent pow’ers of this 
representative Yankee to unfold themselves. 
He went South in the winter of 1864 and 
’65 to buy cotton, and as the Confederacy 
began to weaken under the pressure of 
Grant and Sherman, he saw the surrender 
of Lee looming in the distance, and then, 
taking the whole situation into the account, 
he conceived one of the greatest financial 
schemes that ever came from the brain of 
man. The Confederate bonds were then 
selling at $80 on the $100 in London. 
Fisk saw’ that the moment the new’s of the 
collapse of the Confederacy should reach 
that city the bonds would tumble indefi­
nitely ; and what prodigious opportunities 
that might afford.

“If I could only get a man in London a 
few days ahead of all competitors,” he 
said to himself, “ after I knew the Confed­
eracy had gone up, what a haul he could 
make selling those bonds short.”

He at once came to New’ York, took a 
few other capitalists into his confidence, 
and unfolded his plans to them; they saw 
the point, and agreed to furnish all the 
money that should be necessary in addition 
to what Fisk had himself, and told him to 
go ahead.

Mr. Fisk immediately purchased the 
fastest ocean- steamer afloat; manned her 
with a skillful captain and trustworthy 
crew; sent her to Halifax, with orders to 
bank her fires and have steam on ready to 
shoot from the wharf at a momeit’s notice; 
placed on board of her a trusty and caps- 
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ble agent, from whom the captain was to 
receive his orders to start, and who was to 
work the scheme in London; made such 
arrangements with fifty miles of telegraph­
ic wire that no one could get the news 
ahead of him, and then awaited the result 
of the fighting down in Virginia. For 
thirteen days the fires of that steamer in 
Halifax were kept banked, with every man 
at his post, and everything in readiness for 
instant departure. At last the death-blow 
of the Confederacy was struck, “Go!” 
was the word that the lightning hurled at 
Fisk’s agent in Halifax; and away went 
the steamer, without a soul on board (ex­
cept the one confidential man) having the 
slightest inkling of the news which was 
already beginning to set the western con­
tinent ablaze.

There was no Atlantic Cable in those 
days, and so, fortune favoring, the swift­
gliding steamer would arrive at Liverpool 
a long way ahead of any other craft which 
could bring the news. Fortune did favor 
the adventure. The steamer crossed from 
Halifax in six days and a half, and reached 
Liverpool five days in advance of the arri­
val of the first steamer that left New York 
with the news. What could not have been 
done in those five days? But, alas! one 
poor old weak-kneed associate, unbeknow n 
to Fisk, had secretly telegraphed to the 
agent at Halifax not to go beyond five mil­
lions in his London sales of Confederate 
bonds. This knocked Fisk’s gigantic 
scheme square on the head. The agent 
sold five millions of bonds short, at the 
rates then ruling in the London market. 
Before the day of delivery came about, the 
news of the fall of Richmond and of Lee’s 
surrender arrived, and the bonds tumbled 
to twenty-two dollars on the hundred. The 
London brokers of course paid the differ­
ence, (as, for the benefit of readers not fa­
miliar with such transactions, we will state 
is the custom), between the price they had 
agreed to pay and the actual price at which 
the bonds were selling on the day of deliv­
ery, which difference amounted to over two 
millions of dollars. The profit on the 
speculation was therefore a handsome one, 
after deducting all expenses, but it was a 
mere drop in the bucket in comparison 
with what it would have been had the oth­
er parties to the enterprise been as saga­
cious and plucky as Col. Fisk was. His 
plan was to sell Confederate bonds short, 
in London, as long as anybody would buy 
them, and to follow the market clear down 
to zero. Of course the bonds would never 
have been called for, and the buyers Would 
have had to pay the differences. Had Fisk 
jaot_been_bctrayed, as we _have stated, he 

would probably have cleaned out London 
and made five hundred millions of dol. 
lars.

When Fisk heard of the trick which 
had been played him, he was probably the 
maddest man on the American Continent, 
with the single exception of Old Hickory 
Jackson when he heard anything said 
against the character of his wife.

Col. Fisk’s love of fun and his transpa­
rent frankness of nature made him one of 
the most amusing of men. He blurted out 
the truth in a good-natured, humorous 
way, without regard to consequences. He 
put on no airs. lie made no pretences. 
He did not affect knowledge on a subject 
of which he was ignorant. This trait was 
amusingly developed when he was solicited 
to take the Colonelcy of the Ninth Regi­
ment. _

“I don’t know anything about military 
matters,’’he said. “I never went to a 
general muster in my life. I have made a 
good deal of money by selling soldiers’ 
uniforms to the Government during the 
war, and that is all I know about soldier­
ing.”

‘1 That makes no difference, ” replied the 
committee; “it’s all printed in a book, 
and you can study upon it, at your leisure.”

“How big a book will I have to study?” 
asked the cunning Colonel.

“Oh, not a very large one, and you can 
work into the routine gradually.”

“A colonel has to .ride on horseback, 
doesn’t he?” asked the wide-awake Yankee.

“Yes, sometimes—once in a while; but 
that isn’t anything you know.”

“It isn’t, eh? You can’t play that on 
me. I know all about riding on horseback. 
I’m like one of our Erie locomotives—I 
always have a tender behind. I never rode 
on horseback an hour in my life without 
having to take my meals from a mantel­
piece for three days afterward.”

And so he went on, confessing his un­
familiarity with everything appertaining 
to a Colonelcy, with such frankness and 
humor as made the officers and men all the 
more determined to have him for their 
commander; and they got him. Having 
been elected to the command of the Ninth 
Regiment, he at once set about learning the 
duties, and made such rapid progress that 
he soon became a proficient. The writer 
hereof w'as at Long Branch while the 
Ninth was recently encamped there, and 
had opportunities to see Col. Fisk in camp, 
at drill, and on parade, and can bear testi­
mony to his efficiency and popularity as a 
regimental commander.

The plain and simple truth of the matter 
is, James Fisk, Jr., was a man of pro-
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digious talent. His perceptive, construe- i at the start and follow it up with sleage- 
tive, and executive powers were all of a hammer blows. There was Judge John K.

If he had ever gone back, in I Porter, a man whose name is well-known
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'high order. ]
spirit and sincerity of soul, to his mother’s 
knee and his mother’s prayers, and allow­
ed the germs of religious truth which, in 
that old New England home, were early 
implanted in his heart, to spring up 
and bear their legitimate fruit, and domi­
nate the tone and color and character of 
his life, there is no saying to what height 
of popularity and usefulness he might have 
risen. We have had many opportunities 
of seeing closely many great men, and have 
penetrated the recesses of their charaete'", 
and have studied them well; and havi_ g 
this in mind, we do not hesitate to say 
that we have never known any human 
being with the single exception of Henry 
Clay, who could compete in elements of 
popularity with James Fisk, Jr., if, in ad­
dition to his other qualities, he had also 
been a downright, sincere, pure-hearted 
Christian man.

Col. Fisk would have been a favorite in 
the church, and irresistible as a temper­
ance reformer. He would have made a 
robust Christian and a mellow one. An 
exhortation to godliness and virtue would 
have come from his lips with unusual unc­
tion. His executive ability would have 
come into grand and beneficent play in 
running a revival. He would have beer 
apt to win as much distinction in the army 
of the Lord as lie has won in the militia 
of the Empire State.

XVI.
the first day of the inquest.

W niLE the body of Colonel Fisk was on 
its way to be interred amidst the scenes of 
his childhood’s home, the Court room of 
the Special Sessions, temporarily set apart 
for the purpose of convening a" coroner’s 
jury to investigate the cause of his death, 
was crowded with an anxious auditory of 
some five hundred spectators, eagerly 
listening to the evidence given in this 
interesting case.

At three o’clock, the jurors having an­
swered to their names, the prisoner Ed­
ward 8. Stokes was brough before the 
coroner and assumed a seat beside his 
counsel, four of the greatest lawyers in 
New York, and with three of these men 
success is an easy word in all their. legal 
undertakings. There was John McKeon, 
w-th his white hair and venerable face, 

_ eady to jump up and take any advantage 

in all our Courts, and Willard Bartlett, a, 
cool and sagacious as well as successful 
lawyer and pleader. Besides these was the 
leading counsel for cross-examination, and 
young Mr. Bartlett, who will do the cleri­
cal work of the of the case.

Three gentlemen sat to the left of the 
prisoner's counsel whose part in the pro­
ceedings did not seem io be clearly under- 
s'„od until John McKeon made them show 
their hands. These gentlemen were Judge 
Beach, Judge Fullerton, and Charles 8. 
Spencer. Beach,Fullerton and Spencer, it 
was said, were appearing secretly to help 
District Attorney Sullivan,■who sat directly 
under the Coroner, but they did not appear 
openly on behalf of t.ie prosecution until 
John McKeon unmasked their batteries, 
and then he drew their Are immediately. 
It seems that Beach and Fullerton had 
been writing out questions on slips of pa­
per to be propounded to the lad Redmond, 
the first witness summoned for the prosec, 
tion,and McKeon in his fiery way demand 
ed from the Coroner that the name of each 
person sending a question to tho Coroner 
or District Attorney should be appended t', 
the paper as sent up, Coroner Young havin '; 
already ruled that the prisoner’s counsel 
must put all questions to the witnesses on 
slipe of paper and then that he should de­
cide if they were admissible.

Beach and Fullerton -both were forced 
to “rise and explain,” and acknowledge 
that they had sent up the questions; but 
District Attorney Sullivan, who was advis­
ing the Coroner, refused to answer who had 
sent him the slips of paper. When Stokes 
came into court every eye in the room was 
turned upon him, but he bore the scrutiny 
with a calm, quiet self-possession that as­
tonished every one. He was fashionably ’ 
dressed, and his black eyes shown as he 
calmly surveyed the audience, jury, Coro­
ner, and the lawyers and the reporters as 
they were huddled together. He wore a 
light gray overcoat of Irish frieze, and his 
solitaire diamond blazed with potent efful­
gence on his shirt bosom. He was escort­
ed to the middle of the bar enclosure and 
sat down in a chair behind his counsel, 
without any apparent excitement.

Coroner Young,addressing the jury,said 
he did not propose to say anything to them 
in regard to the merits of the case, eithur 
one way or the other, nor would he reiter­
ate what he had already told them in th# 
morning when they viewed the body of tha 
late James Fisk, Jr. He would nroceed di­
rectly with the evidence, aw’ h.e trustZi
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they would give the case a careful consid­
eration which it demanded.

Counsel for the prisoner remarked that, 
without being deemed guilty of any inter­
ference, he wished to submit two import­
ant considerations before the proceedings 
were commenced. There seems to be a de­
termination in certain quarters to infuse 
into the circumstance a murderous spirit.

The Coroner said lie did not propose to 
argue the point.

Counsel observed that he proposed to 
submit to two regular considerations for 
the Court before proceeding with the reg­
ular testimony.

The Corner said it was his intention to 
go on with the evidence. He presumed 
tho jury had been regularly summoned, 
sworn and viewed the body, and were now 
present to hear the evidence. He propos­
ed to establish the fact of the death of 
James Fisk, Jr., and to have the verdict 
rendered in accordance with the testimony. 
Of course, he desired the proceedings to be 
conducted regularly.

Counsel for the prisoner did not deny 
the regularity of the proceedings. Coun­
sel then proceeded in a determined tone to 
comment on the antagonistic tone which 
Hie press had shown toward the prisoner 
since the shooting of Mr. Fisk, contending 
that it was right that the public mind 
should be relieved of the impression crea­
ted. Under the circumstances he sugges­
ted that the Coroner put before the jury 
testimony to show<the condition of Fisk at 
the moment he was shot, and ho lyould per­
ceive that the law of 1871 made provision 
for the introduction of that evidence. It 
was necessary that the jury should know 
the condition Mr. Fisk was in from the 
time he received his injury down to the 
time of his death. The section to which 
he referred provided that no person except 
the Coroner shall wilfully touch, remove or 
disturb any who shall have died in the 
manner described in the first section of the 
act, or wilfully touch, remove or disturb 
tlui clothing or any article upon or near 
the body without an order from the Coro­
ner, and any person convicted of such of­
fence shall be deemed guilty of a misde­
meanor and shall be punished by imprison­
ment of one year or by a fine of $500, or 
both. Counsel submitted that it was abso­
lutely necessary that the jury should un­
derstand what Mr. Fisk’s condition was 
from the time of the reception of the 
wounds until his death. The Coroner had 
a perfect jurisdiction to introduce that 
testimony.

The Coroner said he was there in the dis­
charge of his duty and he would perform

it conscientiously, and he would produce 
all the witnesses that could throw any 
light upon the case.

The little preliminary blank-cartridge 
firing from the prisoner’s counsel lasted for 
some minutes, and matters having been ar­
ranged the inquest was begun.

John T. Redmond was the first witness 
examined. In reply to Coroner Young, he 
testified as follow’s:

Q. Where do you live? A. At No. 62 
Tenth avenue.

Q. What is your business? A. Hall boy 
at the Grand Central Hotel.

Q. Were you at the Grand Central Hotel 
on Saturday last? A. I was, sir.

Q. What were you doing? A. Cleaning 
the window.

Q. What w’indow? A. The window of 
the private door.

Q. About w'hat time was that. A. About 
4 o’clock.

Q. Now tell the jury what took place 
at that time. A. About 4 o’clock Mr. Stokes 
entered: about ten minutes afterwards Mr. 
Fisk' in a carriage drove up to the door; 
I opened the door for him; he then spoke 
to me and asked me’if Mrs. Morse was in: 

| I told him Mrs. Morse and her eldest 
daughter w’ere out; he then asked if the 
other daughter was in ; I said I would see; 
Mr. Fisk then ascended in advance of me; 
when he had gone up some steps, the first 
shot W’as fired, and Mr. Fisk fell down, cry­
ing, “Oh!” he then turned round to go 
up again, when the second sliot was fired.

Q. He asked you if Mrs. Morse w’as in? 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. He then asked if the other daughters 
w’ere in? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you go up stairs? A. Yes, sir; 
Mr. Fisk was in advance of me; after the 
first shot he fell down, crying, “Oh!”

Q. When Mr. Fisk fell down what did 
he do? A. He got up on his feet.

Q. And after the second shot? A. He 
fell down about six steps.

Q. What did Mr. Fisk do then? A. He 
got up and walked to the base of the stairs; 
he turned round and looked up the stairs 
to see if Mr. Stokes w’as there or not; he 
w’as not,and Mr. Fisk walked up the stairs, 
and then some ladies were led into the re­
ception room by some gentlemen.

Q. Well? A. I saw no more of the par­
ties until Mr. Stokes was recognized by Mr. 
Fisk.

Q. Where was this? A. Room No. 213, 
Grand Central Hotel.

Q. Were you present when he recognized 
him? A. I was, sir.

Q. You say you looked up and saw Mr. 
tokes? A. Yes, sir.



Q. At what time? A. After the first 
shot was fired.

Q. Where was Mr. Stokes standing? A. 
At the head of the stairs, with his left 
ann on the balustrade.

Q.Did yon notice whether Mr. Stokes had 
anything in his hand? A. lie had some­
thing in his hand.

Q. Did you notice what it was? A. No, sir.
Q. Did" you hear any words? A. No, 

sir; there were no words between them.
Q. You heard no words between any 

one? A. No, sir.
Q. Have you told us all you know about 

it? A. Yes, sir; all that I know.
Q. How long was it before Colonel Fisk 

came that Mr. Stokes arrived? A. Inside 
of ten minutes.

Q. Did Mr. Stokes go immediately up 
stairs? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did he ask any questions as he came 
in? A. No, sir; not a word.

Q. Your say that ?Jr. Fisk looked up the 
stairs to see if Mr. Stokes was there? A. I 
did not say that, sir; I looked up the stairs 
to see if Mr. Stokes was there.

Counsel for the prisoner inquired wheth­
er he could not put questions to the 
witness?

The Coroner stated that all questions so 
submitted should be put in writing.

Counsel said he hail no time to write the 
questions.

The Coroner remarked that he did not 
like to be discourteous to the counsel en­
gaged either on the one side or the other, 
lie did not recognize any one on either side. 
He desired to proceed in this case and to 
take the testimony in an impartial manner, 
and would leave the future question to 
come before the proper tribunal. Exact 
justice should be given to all.

Counsel contended that questions could 
be put, and that the Coroner had discre­
tion to receive or reject them.

The Coroner said the reasons he wanted 
the questions in writing was that they 
should not be made public by being open­
ly asked in court, as many of such ques­
tions might not be entertained. He desir­
ed to proceed regularly.

Counsel submitted that it was most im­
portant that the public should know what 
questions were allowed and what were dis­
allowed, in order to restrain the spirit which 
teemed to have taken possession of the 
tommunity. They had a right to know 
whether the examination was conducted as 
free from spirit of restraint as it should be.

Counsel then submitted the following 
questions in writings:

Q. Have you ever seen Mr. Stokes before? 
A. No, sir.’
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Q. How was Mr, Stokes dressed on that 
occasion? A. Dressed as he is now.

The Coroner—Is Mr. Stokes in court?
Counsel for the prisoner—He is right 

here, sir.
Q. You say that this occurrence took 

place at four o’clock; how do you fix the 
hour? A. It was twenty minutes past three 
when I commenced cleaning the windows 
and it was twenty-five or thirty minntes of 
four when Mr. Stokes came in.

Q. Was there any light in the hall or on 
the stairway except that from the windows? 
A. There was one light nt the. head of the 
stairs and one on the left.

Counsel for the prisoner — Were they 
burning?

The Coroner—It must have been burning 
or it could not have been a light.

Counsel for prisoner—I meant in refer­
ence to the gas fixtures, and so forth.

Q. From what direction did Stokes cor e 
up or down the stairway? A. I doh t 
know, sir.

Q. You did not see him until he entered 
the hall? A. No,sir.

Q. Did you notice whether any person 
had gone up the stairway between the time 
Fisk and Stokes came? A. No,sir; Idid’nt 
notice.

Q. Did Mr. Stokes go in by the private 
entrance? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did he ask you any questions? A. 
No, sir.

By a Juror—Q. How many shots were 
fired? A. Two.

Q. No more? A. No, sir.
Q. Did you hear the shot fired before 

you heard Mr. Fisk exclaim? A. The first 
shot was fired, and after I looked up stairs.

Q. Where was Mr. Stokes? A. At the 
head of the stairs..

Q. In what position w’as he? A. He 
was standing near the balustrade,like this.' 
[Witness showed by comparison in what 
position the accused stood at the time re­
ferred to.] He had his lefthand on the 
balustrade.

Q. You observed something in his 
hand? A. Yes, sir.

Q. When was that? A. After the first 
shot was fired and before he fired the 
second shot.

Q. You saw something in his hand? A. 
Yes, sir.

Q. Can you tell what he had in Iris 
hand? A. No, sir.

Q. Did you see any light proceed from 
the article Mr. Stokes had in his hand? A. 
Yes, sir.

Q. You say you were present when Mr. 
Fisk recognized Mr. Stokes? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was said? A. The officer said,
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The counsel for the prisoner said that 
his question in reference to the gaslight 
had been put in an unintelligible manner.

The Coroner quietly remarked that he in­
tended to do his duty and disclaimed any 
intention to be discortcous. If ho had given 
the question submitted by counsel in an 
unintelligible manner, he would put it 
again, as follows:—

Q. Was there any light in the hall stair­
way, except what daylight there was? A. 
There was a gaslight.

Mr. McKeon insisted that it was proper 
to know what parties were represent*:!. 
He would therefore ask on whose behalf 
Mr. Beach, Mr. Fullerton, and Mr. Spencer 
appeared.

Assistant District-Attorney Sullivan said 
he did not intend to say anything as repre. 
senting the District-Attorney except when 
called upon by the Court to give advice. If 
there were any citizens who felt that, thjs 
being a public matter, they could throw 
any light on the investigation, they were 
certainly at liberty to do so.

Mr. McKeon said he wonld ask the Cor 
oner whom Mr. Beach represented.

The Coroner said lie would put the ques­
tion in accordance with the requisition.

Mr. Beach said that, like the counsel for 
the prisoner, he appeared there as a citizen 
deeply interested in the question. He camo 
there at the suggestion of the surviving re­
latives of Mr. Fisk—not retained by the 
Erie Railroad. He came there influenced 
only by the desire to see the way in which 
the melancholy occurrence took place.

Counsel for the prisoner replied, and said 
that once for all he wanted to have his po­
sition understood. He had come there not 
to get up a heat,but to prevent heat getting 
up. They had only to look at the press »f 
that morning. The public had not got th« 
truth of the case. He did not want the 
facts to go before the public in a garbled 
form. They were told in the papers that 
before thirty days Mr. Stokes would be 
condemned. Now, he meant to say, and he 
said it on his own responsibility, knowing 
what he was saying that if the facts were? 
properly developed in less than thirty days 
the public would be strongly in Stokes’ fa­
vor! If the facts were properly spread the 
sympathy for him would be as great as the 
feeling was now against him.

Mr. Fullerton said he intended to remain 
silent. The question put was suggested by 
himself, in order to elicit the truth of the 
case. In due time it would appear to be 
proper.

Mr. McKeon concurred in the opinion 
that the public would be as much in favor 
of Stokes as their feelings were now

“Who caused this?” and Mr. Fisk said, i 
“Mr. Stokes.”

Q. Is that all he asked? A. That’s all! 
that was asked in my presence.

Another Juror—Was there any other 
person standing at the head of the stair­
way? A. No, sir.

By Mr. Field—Did any person come in 
b<tween the time Stokes entered and Fisk 
••tered? No, sir.

. The Coroner—Was it the same person 
who entered the hotel that stood at the 
head of the stairs? A. Yes, sir.

Q. You recognized him as the same per- 
M>n? A. Yes, sir.

Q. How long was it before any person 
came to the rescue? A. I cannot say.

Q. Did you see any one? A. I saw 
several gentlemen going into the reception 
room.

Q. Who were those gentlemen? A. I 
don’t know.

Q. Were they in Mr. Fisk’s room after­
wards? A. They brought him into the re­
seption room.

Q. After the first shot was fired you say 
you saw Stokes leaning upon the balus­
trade. In what position was Iris arm hav­
ing something in the hand? A. lie was 
like this (witness showing position), with 
the right hand down.

Q. Was he pointing it towards Mr. Fisk? 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. After Mr. Fisk was shot, who assisted 
him to his room? A. I don't know.

Q. You didn’t hear Mr. Fisk say that 
Mr. Stokes was the man who shot him? A. 
No, sir; he only said “ That’s the man.”

Q. Were you in the room when Stokes 
was brought in? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Were you in the room all the time 
Mr. Stoks was there? A. No, sir.

Q. Then Mr. Stokes was still there when 
you left? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you recognize the persons who 
came to the rescue of Mr. Fisk and carried 
him away? A. No, sir.

Q. How long were you in the room? A. 
About half a minute; Mr. Crawford called 
me, saying he wanted me, but he did not 
say what he wanted me for when I went 
into the room.

Mr. McKeon here rose and contended 
that, it questions were submitted to wit­
nesses it was right that the persons asking 
them should be known, that the proper re­
sponsibility should attach to them, if they 
were Erie Hailroad people, let them come on.

The Coroner submitted that he did not 
recognize the Erie Railroad people in the 
case. He did not know but the question 
had been asked by the counsel for the pris­
oner.



•gainst him. The people little knew what 
had been existing in their midst.

After some further discussion as to the 
responsibility of those who should put 
questions the examination was resumed.

By the Coroner—Had you ever seen Mr. 
Fisk before that day? A. Yes,sir.

Q. You knew him when you saw him? 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. (Submitted). Will you say no per­
son passed up or down the stairway be­
tween the entrance of Mr. Stokes and Mr. 
Fisk? A. There was nobody.

Q. Can you describe the gaslight you 
saw burning, if any? A. The gaslight at 
the head of the stairs had a single jet; it 
was turned on full, the other one round to 
the left was not turned on full, but it was 
burning; that’s all the gas that was there.

Q. What colored pantaloons had Mr. 
Stokes on? A. Light.

Q. From which way did Mr. Fisk come 
—which way were the horses heading? A. 
Toward Bleecker street.

By a Juror—As the gas was situated 
could the burner be seen from the head of 
the stairs? A. Yes, sir.

Q. The object of that light is to light 
the stairway? A. Yes, sir.

Testimony of Thomas Hart—Q. Where 
do you reside? A. Grand Central Hotel.

Q. What is your business? A. Door 
boy.

Q. Were you at the Grand Central 
Hotel on Saturday afternoon? A. Yes,sir.

Q. Did you notice anything unusual on 
Saturday afternoon? A. Yes, sir.

Q. About what hour? A. Five minutes 
to four o’clock.

Q. What were you doing at that time? 
A. Cleaning the Globe at the head of the 
stairs.

A Juror—Which stairs? A. The private 
stairs.

By the Coroner—How far from the head 
of the stairs? A. Between five and six 
feet.

Q. Did you see Mr. Fisk on tjiat day? 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Where was he? A. He was coming 
up the stairs.

Q. What stairs? A. The private stairs.
Q Where did those stairs lead? A. To 

the stairway from Broadway.
Q. Leading to the stairway on which 

you were standing? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was anybody with him? A. I did 

not see anybody.
Q. Did you hear- him saj’ anything? A. 

No, sir.
, Q. Did you see anybody else there? A. 
les, sir.

. Q. Who? A. Mr. Stoke*.
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Q. Were you acquainted with Colonel 
Fisk! A. Yes,sir; I saw him coming in 
and out.

Q. Were you acquained with Mr. Stokes? 
A. No, sir; I might have seen him passing by. .

Q. Where did you see Mr. Stokes? A. 
Coming along the hall from the first parlor.

A Juror—First parlor to the right or to 
the left as you go up? A. To the left.

By the Coroner—Was there anybody with 
Mr. Stokes? A. No,sir.

Q. Was Mr. Fisk going up stairs? A. 
When I first saw Mr. Fisk he was going 
down to the foot of the stairs.

Q. Tell us exactly what occurred—what 
you saw and what you heard. A. I was 
going up the stairs, the other boy was clean­
ing the window; I looked down and saw 
Mr. Fisk coming up, my attention was 
drawn to Mr. Stokes a kind of stealing 
along; he acted like a man who had sud­
denly seen some one; I heard him say, 
“Come along,I have got you now,” or 
something to that effect.

Q. Can you remember the exact words? 
A. “I have got you now,” and with that 
lie fired two pistol shots; at that time Mr. 
Fisk was standing with one foot on the 
first step and one on the second; Mr. Fisk 
cried, ‘ ‘ oh, don’t!” and the second time F 
he slid down stairs; I saw Mr. Stokes 
draw his right hand towards his overcoat; 
Mr. Stokes afterwards said to me, “there’s 
a man shot,” and said I, “You are the man 
that shot him; ” he walked to the first par­
lor and turned to his left and made a mo­
tion with his hand as if he was throwing 
something away; I cannot say what it was; 
I followed him and he went into the hall 
and going up the centre he said, ‘ ‘ There’s 
somebody shot, go and see him;” Patrick 
McGowan, Benjamin and Patrick Farrell 
came up; Mr. Powers afterwards came in­
to the hall, and, having heard that there was 
a man shot, said, “Stop that man;” Mr. 
Stokes was then taken to the bar; Mr. 
Powers said, “Bring in an officer;” that is 
all I saw or know of the case; Mr. Stokes 
went up stairs with an officer and was 
identified.

Q. Were you in the room at the time? 
A. No, sir; I was not.

Q. Had you seen Mr. Fisk at the hotel 
before? A. Yes, sir; I saw him several 
times.

Q. Had you seen Mr. Stokes before? A. ■ 
Yes, sir. i

Q. Are you positive you cannot mistake 
as to the two gentlemen, Mr. Fisk and Mr. 
Stokes? A. Yes, sir; I am positive.

Q. In what position was Stokes stand­
ing? A. Standing at the head of the 
stairs, }
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Q. lie had something in his right hand? 
A. Yes, sir; but I cannot say what it was. 
Witness endeavored to show the position 

P in which Mr. Stokes stood at the head of 
the stairs.

A Juror (Mr. Field). What was your re­
lative position to Mr. Stokes? A. I was 
about six feet beyond Mr. Stokes.

Another Juror (Mr. Clews). Were you 
standing with your back to him? A. Look­
ing right at him.

Mr. Field. How much time elapsed be­
tween the first shot and the time you saw 
Mr. Stokes concealing something in his 
overcoat? A. About three seconds.

Q. The two shots were then fired with­
out any interval? A. Yes.

By another Juror. Did you see the flash 
from the pistol? A. I did not.

Q. Were there banisters on both side 
of the stairs? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Could you sec the carriage driving 
up from the parlor window? A. Yes, sir.

Mr. Field. Had you passed the parlor 
door before Mr. Stokes came up? A. I had 
not, sir.

Another Juror. Did you assist Mr. Fisk 
when he got to the head of the stairs? A. 
No,-sir; I followed Mr. Stokes.

Q. Did Mr. Stokes have his overcoat but­
toned at the time? A. No, sir.

Q. Was there sufficient gaslight to re­
cognize a person? A. Yes.

Q. How was the gaslight then? A. It 
was not fully turned on.

Q. Does that light throw light upon the 
stairway? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Was the light sufficiently bright to 
recognize a person by his dress? A. Yes, 
sir.

By the Coroner. Are you sure it was five 
minutes to 4 o’clock when Mr. Fisk enter­
ed? A. Yes, sir

By a Juror. How did Mr. Stokes move, 
did you say? A. He came along as if he 
was stealing away; as if somebody was 
coming.

Q. Did you judge that by his expression 
or by his walk? A. By his walk.

By another Juror. Did you keep watch 
on him after he was arrested? A. Yes,sir.

Q. Was he walking rapidly or was he 
walking steathily? A. He was stealing 
along by the wall.

By the Coroner — Had you seen Mr. 
r Stokes that evening before you saw him 
' coming up then? A. No, sir.

Q. Have you had any conversation with 
him in regard to the testimony you were to 
give about it? A. No, sir.

Mr. Field—Have you been interviewed 
by any reporters? No, sir. I gave the 
same testimony at the Fifteenth precinct 

on the ante-mortem examination as I give 
here.

By the Coroner—Have any of the three 
gentlemen here, Mr. Fullerton, Mr. Spen­
cer or Mr. Beach, had any conversation 
with you in regard to the testimony? A. 
No, sir; they have not had.

Q. How far were you from Mr. Stokes 
when each shot was fired? A. Between 
five and six feet.

Q. What time of the day was it? A. 
About five minutes to four.

Q. IIow do you time the hour? A. By 
looking down stairs and seeing the clock 
there.

Q. You don’t know whether Mr. Stokes 
had a cane or not? A. I did not see, sir.

Q. Do you know a man named Patrick 
Hart? A. Yes, sir.

Q. What was his business? A. He was 
working in the house, in the employ of the 
Grand Central Hotel.

Q. Did you see him there at the time of 
the occurrence? A. No, sir; I did not.

Q. Do you know Mr. Spencer? A. No, 
sir.

Q. Mr. Fullerton? A. No, sir.
Q. Mr. Beach? A. Yes, sir; I know 

Mr. Beach; I saw him in Troy.
Q. Has he conversed with you about 

this affair? A. No, sir; nobody has con­
versed with me.

Q. Could you have failed to see a cane 
if Mr. Stokes had one? A. He might have 
carried it in his left hand; but I watched 
his right.

By Mr. Opdyke—Fisk and Stokes were 
the only persons there? A. Yes, sir, 
except the boy.

By another Juror—You say you only 
watched his right hand. Did you suspect 
there was something wrong by his walk? 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. By the Coroner—Have you ever seen 
Fisk and Stokes together before? No, sir.

Q. Did you hear any words between 
Stokes and Fisk? A. No, sir.

Bya Juror—When he was going to the 
head of the stairs he made the remark you 
mentioned? A. Yes, sir.

By the Coroner—-Could he sec any per­
son on the stairs when he began to use 
those words? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you see any one on the stairs? 
A. Nobody but the boy and Mr. Fisk.

Q. Did Stokes make any other remark? 
A. No; he did not make any remark until 
Mr. Fisk was ascending.

Q. How far was Mr. Fisk from Mr. 
Stokes at the time he made the remark? 
A. About six steps.

By a Juror—How many steps are there? 
A. About twenty.



Q Then there is a landing! A. Yes, 
sir.

Q. And he was six steps from the first 
landing. A. Yes sir.

Q. In what position was Mr. Stokes, 
A. He kept close to the wall.

Q. How many steps separated them when 
you heard the first pistol shot. A. About 
four.

By another Juror—Did you notice him 
fall. A. I saw him stagger.

By the Coroner—I understood you to 
say you expected something wrong when 
you saw Stokes advancing. If you sus­
pecting something wrong why did you not 
give the alarm. A. I don’t know exactly; 
I thought Mr. Stokes was watching for a 
lady when I saw him stealing along.

By a Juror—Did Mr. Stokes walk right 
up the stairs, or was he crouching along. 
A. He was Walking along the wall.

Q. How many shots were fired! A. 
Only two.

Q. That you are sure of! A. Yes, sir.
Q. Are you positive Mr. Fisk entered 

the passage way before Stokes reached the 
head of the stairs! A. Yes, sir.

Q. By the time he had his head turned 
around had Mr. Fisk already entered. A. 
Yes, sir.

By the Coroner—Do you know that you 
would be guilty if you did not give the 
alarm in case you suspected anything 
wrong! A. No,sir; I did not.

Q. Has Mr. Beach been present at any 
time when, you have made any statement in 
reference to this occurrence! A. No, sir; 
I have not seen Mr. Beach before I have 
seen him here.

Q. How many could you count after Mr. 
Stokes reached the* head of the stairs be­
fore he fired? A. About twelve or thirteen.

By a Juror—You made no effort to seize 
Mr. Stokes after he fired? A. No,I thought 
to.catch.him,but he went away too quick­
ly.

By another Juror—You kept him m view 
all the time? A. les, sir.

Testimony of John Chamberlain Q. 
Where do you reside? A. No. 8 West 
Twenty-fifth street.

Q. What is your business? A. A.speculator.
Q. Were you acquainted with Colonel 

Fisk? A. I was, sir.
Q. Did you see him on last Sunday even­

ing? A. Yes, sir.
Q. Where did you see him? A. In the 

Erie Railway office.
Q. At what time did you see him? A. I 

went there at two o'clock and remained 
there until between three and half-past 
three; that’s about the time; it was not 
Cater than that.
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Q. Did you leave him at the Erie office! 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are you acquainted with Mr. Stokes! 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you see Mr. Stokes on that day! > 
A. I did, sir.

Q. Where did you see him! A. I saw 
him between three and half-past three, as’I 
drove across Eighth avenue; just as I cross­
ed the track I saw him sitting on the right, 
in a coupe, with his eyes looking toward 
the Erie building.

Q. At what time! A. Near half-past 
three.

Q. Did you see Mr. Stokes after, that 
day! A. No, sir.

Q. Did you see Mr. Fisk! A. Yes; I 
saw him when he was dead.

Q. Where was the coupe of Mr. Stokes! 
A. He was driving towards the Opera 
House; 1 was going the other way; he got 
so far that he could see the windows of the 
Erie office; he was sitting close to the right 
hand corner; I don’t think he saw me.

Q. By a Juror.—Was the carriage in mo­
tion! A. Yes, sir.

By the Coroner—Where! A. On Eighth 
avenue and Twenty-third street.

Q. Do you know anything of the occur­
rence that took place at the Grand Central! 
A. On my way down I stopped at a store, 
and I think about five or a quarter-past five 
I heard of the occurrence; I didn't think 
it was probable, having seen Mr. Fisk so 
recently before.

Q. How long after you saw Mr. Stokes 
was it until you heard it! A. About an 
hour or an hour and a half.

Q. Was Mr. Fisk’s carriage in front of 
the building when you left! A. I did not 
look.

Q. Did Mr. Fisk say anything to you 
about being threatened! A. No.

Q. Do you know of any appointment he 
had to come down to the Grand Central! 
A. I do not; when I was at the Erie office 
somebody called me into Mr. Gould's room; 
I stayed there ten or fifteen minutes; I did 
not«see the Colonel in his office uiter that; 
when I came down Broadway somebody 
told me that Col. Fisk’s carriage had gone 
down.

Q. Was Mr. Stokes in a private coupe!
A. I think it was a public coupe.

Q. Did you notice how be was dressed. 
A. He had a light overcoat on.

By a Juror—Did you ever hear Stokes 
express himself against Fisk. A. No, sir, 
I don't think I have.

By Mr. Field—Do you know whether 
Mr. Fisk was going armed. A. I don’t 
know; I have never known him to be 
armed.
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Q. Did you know that Mr. Stokes was 
In the habit of carrying a pistol. A. I 
think he was.

Q. Did you ever see him in the posses­
sion of a pistol. A. I cannot say positively.

Q. What was your reason for saying that 
he carried a pistol! A. Only hearing peo­
ple talking about it.

Q. li any por-nn ever communicated 
to you any threats made by Stokes against 
Fisk? A'. No, sir.

By the Coroner—Did you notice where 
Stokes’ coupe went! A. I did not look 
around, but just as he passed I saw him in 
the coupe; he was not looking toward me.

Q. Give the time you saw Stokes, as near 
u possible. A. It was not half-past 3, but 
X was after 3 o’clock.

Q. Can you tell where Mrs. Mansfield’s 
haase is in that street! A. Yes, sir.

Q. How near the place was that when 
you saw Mr. Stokes! A. About half a 
Mock.

Q. How long have you been acquainted 
with Mr. Stokes! A. I have known him 
£ts or six years, I should judge.

Q. Was Mr. Stokes’ coupe going in the 
direction of Mrs. Mansfield's house? A. It 
was.

Testimony of Benjamin Allen—(Benja­
min Allen examined). Where do you live! 
A. No. 12 Fourth avenue.

Q. What is your business! A. I drive a 
stage for 8. R. McClellan.

Q. Were you at the Grand Central Hotel 
on Saturday evening! A. Yes, sir; I was 
there between 3 and half-past 3.

Q. Do you know of any unusal occur­
rence having taken place? A. Ido, sir.

Q. Then tell the jury all you know about 
it. A. I was sitting on the porter’s bench; 
two shots were fired, and some of the por­
ters ran up stairs; some people said ‘ ‘ Get 
a doctor, there's a man shot up stairs;” I 
heard a halloying, “Stop that man;” I 
went through the reading-room and after 
the man, who went towards the telegraph 
office; I went to the man saying, “Here, 
they want you;” he turned right round ; he 
did not say a word; Mr. Powers came up 
when a crowd gathered round and asked 
him where the pistol was; the gentleman 
never said a word; we sat him down on the 
scat and were holding him when he said, 
pleasantly, 1 ‘ Let me go and I'll sit still;” 
so we let him go, and in a minute or two a 
policeman took him up stairs; I didn’t see 
any more of it.

Q. Do you see him here now? A. Yes, 
sir.

Q. Point him out The witness pointed 
to Mr. Stokes.

Q. Had he anything in his hand! A.

He had a cane in his hand; he never said a 
word to anybody.

By a Juror—When he passed out toward 
the barber-shop was he running or walking I 
A. He was walking as if he wanted to go 
and didn't seem lazy about it.

Q. Was the cane longcnougn to lie useci 
as a walking-stick! A. There was no head 
on it, it was long in

Q. Did you ever see this gentleman be­
fore! A. Never laid my eyes on him before.'

Witness then gave evidence as to the 
time of the occurrence, stating that he 
judged the hour by the time he was going 
to leave, which was about 4 o'clock.

Testimony of Patrick McGowan.—Pa- 
rick McGowan, in reply to the Coroner, tes­
tified that he resided at the Grand Central 
Hotel, ■where he was employed as engineer. 
On Saturday evening last I was down in the 
engine-room, when Mr. Powers rang, and I 
came up; I walked across toward the 
office, when I heard the boy say, “You 
are the man that shot him;” I ran for the 
man; he was in the reading room; Mr. 
Allen and Mr. Powers brought him down 
as far as the office; I went for an officer, 
but returned, stating that I could not find 
one; Mr. Powers said, ‘ ‘ There’s one pass­
ing;” I went out and told the officer to 
come in, and he did so; that’s all I know 
about it; witness did not hear the firing; 
he did not see Colonel Fisk till next day; 
Hart was the boy that pointed the man 
out; -witness was about forty feet from the 
engine room at the time the sjiots were 
fired; it was about five minutes to four 
o’clock.

Testimony of the Hackman—Lawrence 
Corr examined—I live at No. 322 East 
Thirty-sixth street.

Q. What is your business? A. I am a 
public hackman.

Q. Were you driving your coupe last 
Saturday? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are yon acquainted with Mr. Stokes? 
A. No, sir.

Q. Do you remember having a fare dur­
ing that day that wanted to go to the 
Grand Central Hotel? A. I remember 
driving to the Hoffman House.

Q. Did you take Mr. Stokes there? A. 
Yes, sir.

Q. Would you know that gentleman if 
you should see him? A. Yes, sir. (Wit­
ness here identified the accused.)

Q. How long did he remain at the Hoff­
man House? A. About ten minutes.

Q. Where did you go again? A. Down 
Twenty-third street, between Eighth and 
Ninth avenues.

Do you know what house? A. I do 
not k»ow, sir.
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Q. Do you know what number? A. No, 
sir; I do not, sir.

Q. When you went down Twenty-third 
street, between Eighth and Ninth avenues, 
did you leave him there? A. No,sir.

Q. How long did you wait for him at 
aay time? A. I did not wait for him any 
time; I turned around, drove down Sev- 
a».th avenue, Fourteenth street into Fifth 
avenue, to Fourth street and to Broadway, 
a*d let the gentleman out.

By a Juror—What time did you let him 
»«t? A. To the best of my knowledge 
about 4 o’clock.

Q. Did you notice where he went to? 
A. He went up Broadway.

By the Coroner—Did he make any re­
mark to you that he wanted to go to the 
Grand Central? I turned around and drove 
towards the Grand Central.

By a Juror—How could you stop at the 
corner of Fourth avenue and Broadway un­
less he told you? A. He rapped at the 
window, got out, paid me, and walked 
away.

Q. In which direction? A. Up Broadway.
Q. Has he ever engaged you before? A 

Yes; I drove the gentleman on several oc­
casions.

By Mr. Field—When he told you between 
Bight and Ninth avenues did he direct you 
to go to some particular number, or did he 
only tell you between Eight and Ninth av­
enues? A. I drove him to some number 
between Eight and Ninth avenues.

Q. Did you stop on the way? A. Yes, 
sir.

Q. Did you go to the house? A. I did, sir.
Q. Did you pass the Erie Building? A. 

Yes, sir.
Q. Did you stop there? A. No, sir; the 

gentleman did not leave the coupe.
Q. Did you stop anywhere before you 

got to Fourth street and Broadway? A. 
No, sir.

Q. At the house did any person come 
out? A. No, sir.

Q. There was no communication between 
the house and the coupe? A. No, sir.

Q. Was there any person in the coupe 
with Mr. Stokes? A. No, sir.

Q. Did he seem excited when he got in­
to the coupe? A. No, sir; not very much 
excited.

Q. What did he say when he got out of 
the coupe? A. He said nothing.

Q. Did he ask what the price was? A. 
No, sij; he handed me my fare and went in 
an opposite direction.

Q. You saw Mr. Stokes going in the di­
rection opposite to the way you were going; 
where was that from! A. The south-west 
side of Broadway.

Q. Did you notice whether he had a 
cane! A. He had.

By a Juror—Did you observe any pecu­
liar excitement in his manner when he got ’ 
into the coupe and when he left it! A. 
No, sir.

Q. What time was it when he first en­
gaged you! A. About three o’clock.

Q. Where did he engage you! A. Op­
posite the City Hall; I was standing among 
the other coaches.

Q. How do you fix the time that you left 
him at the corner of Broadway and Fourth 
street! A. It was twenty-five minutes past 
three o’clock tvhen going past the Hoffman 
House.

Q. How long did you stop at Twenty- 
third street! A. Not two minutes.

Q. Did you see Colonel Fisk or his car­
riage while driving Mr. Stokes! A. No, 
sir; I knew Mr. Fisk,but I don’t know his 
carriage. Witness then went on to testify 
that while driving towards Fourth street 
and Broadway there was no carriage ahead 
of him; after he left the coupe he walked 
up Broadway at his usual gait.

Q. Was Mr. Stokes’ manner more than 
usually excited! A. He looked as if he 
was a bit put out.

Q. How long have you been in the habit 
of driving Mr. Stokes! A. I don’t know ; 
about twelve months.

Q. Have you ever driven him to Twenty- 
third street before! A. No, sir.

Q. Have you ever driven him to the 
Grand Central before! A. No, sir.

By the Coroner—I did not see Mr. Stokes 
make a movement as though he wanted to 
get out.

By a Juror—Did you stop in front of the 
Erie Railway office! A. No, sir.

Mr. David Dows, one of the jurors, here 
inquired whether they had assembled to 
try the case or hear the evidence. If they 
continued to proceed in that manner they 
would not get through until to-morrow 
morning. He wanted to know if they were 
trying the case or hearing the evidence. 
The Coroner stated that the jury had been 
empanelled to hear the evidence and to 
determine the manner in which Col. Fisk 
came by his death.

Witness again stated that he did not re­
member the number of the house in Twen­
ty-third street.

The counsel for the defence, at the con­
clusion of Corr's testimony, stated that he j 
hoped that no restraint would be placed 
upon the prisoner’s counsel in eliciting 
testimony for this case, as there was a mur­
derous spirit abroad in the public mind 
that would have to be put down by calm 
rca»»» az 4 a dwire on the behalf of the 
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administrators of the law to see justice 
done to all persons in this unfortunate 
affair. The Coroner then adjourned the 
inquest until three o’clock the next after­
noon.

XVII.
THE SECOND DAY.

The hearing of the evidence in the ease 
of James Fisk, Jr., deceased, was resumed 
on the afternoon of January 0th in the 
Court of Special Sessions. The room was 
crowded to excess and the interest in the 
proceedings seemed unabated. The same 
counsel engaged on the previous day were 
in attendance. Owing to the absence of 
some of the jurors the hearing was 'con­
siderably delayed, and the Assistant Dis­
trict Attorney suggested the propriety of 
sending an officer after the absentees.

All the jurors having taken their seats 
the following evidence was adduced:—

Patrick Hart examined:—Q. What is 
your business? A. Hall boy, sir.

Q. Were you at the Grand Central Hotel 
on Saturday afternoon? A. Yes, sir.

Q. Do you know of any unusual occur­
rence that took place? A. No; I have no 
idea; I didn't, hear anything but a noise; I 
heard no report.

Q. Did anything happen there that even­
tag? A. Yes, sir—the death of Mr. Fisk; 
that’s all I know.

Q. Now, tell us all you know? A. I 
know nothing at all about it; I heard a 
kellering, and took a man up stairs; he 
was asking somebody to come to his aid.

Q. What time was that? A. Five minu­
tes to four o'clock.

Q. Where did you find Mr. Fisk? A. 
Standing right by the door.

Q. At the foot of the stairs? A. Yes, 
mt ; standing right up.

Q. Did any one send you to him? A. 
No, sir; I heard the noise; I heard a man 
hollering who wanted somebody to go to 
him.

Q. What happened next? A. He want- 
ad somebody to relieve him; I don't know 
what the matter was.

Q. Did you help him up? A. I took 
him up to the reception room; he walked 
right up with me.

Q. Did he say anything? A. lie said he 
felt bad; I took him up stairs and left him 
in the room; that’s all I know.

Q, Did you ask him what was the mat­
ter? A. I didn't have time; ho said he 
had been shot twice.

Q. Did he say who shot him? A. No, 
sir.

Q. When you took him up stairs what 
did you do? A. I left him sitting in the 
reception room.

Q. Did you go out immediately? A. 
Yes, sir, right away.

Q. What was your business in that part 
of the hall? I was going up stairs when I 
heard the noise; I looked down at the 
head of the stairs and saw him standing 
there.

Q. You know nothing more of this 
affair? A. Nothing more than that I kept 
out of the crowd ; I picked up a ball and 
gave it to Mr. Crocker.

What kind of a ball? A. A cartdridsre 
ball.

Q. Do you think you could recognize 
that ball? A. Yes,sir; I guess I could.

Q. Is that like the ball (produced)? A. 
Yes—no—no,sir; it don’t seem to be it.

Q. You are not positive that that is the 
ball? A. No, sir.

Q. After you picked up the ball what 
did you do with it? A. I handed it to 
Mr. Crocker; I never noticed the ball after 
I picked it up.

Q. Did you tell him where you found it I 
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you see Colonel Fisk from the 
time you left him in the reception room up 
to the time of his death? A. I never saw 
him since.

Q. Did you know Colonel Fisk? A. 
Yes; it was easy to know him; I have 
seen him several times.

Q. Was he a visitor at the hotel? A. Yes, 
sir; I saw him out with the regiment.

Q. Are you acquainted with Mr. StokcsJ 
No,sir; I never saw the man in all my life.

Q. And you would not know him if you 
saw him? A. No, sir.

By Mr. Fields—What stairs were you 
coming up at the time? A. I came up 
from the office in the middle stairway; I 
was pasing by the hall when I heard the 
hollering.

Q. Where had you been three or four 
minutes preceding the time you started to 
go up! A. I came right up; I was not a 
minute.

Q. But where had you been preceding 
the time you went up! A. I was in the 
office; I had just come from delivering a 
message,and that’s all I know.

Q. Did you examine the ball immedia­
tely! A. No,sir; I hadn’t time, there was 
so much excitement.

Q. What makes you think it was the 
ball! A. I don’t know.

Q. Then you don’t know whether it WM 
the ball or not! A. Yes, exactly.



39

Q. What was your reason for saying you 
didn’t think it was tire ball? A. Be- 
1 didn't take any notice of it.

Q. You mean to say you know nothing 
about it? A. I don’t know anything about 
it.

By the Coroner—That's all you know 
about the ball that was picked up on the 
stairs? A. I picked it up and gave it to 
.Mr. Crocker.

Q. When did you see Mr. Fisk previous 
to Satueday last? A. I havn’t seen him 
for some time.

Q. Cannot you remember when you saw 
him before last Saturday? A. I saw him 
the night of the reception at the Grand 
Central Hotel, and not since.

Q. How long ago is that? A. Twenty­
fifth of last March.
Q. Who did you see? Who was on the 
stairway when Mr. Fisk called for assis­
tance? A. No one that I knew of.

Q. Describe the reception-room. A. No. 
217, a little way up the stairway.

Q. Did you see any pistol in it? A. No. 
sir; I saw nothing at all there.

Q. Did you hear that one had been found 
there? A. No, sir; I heard nothing about 
it.

By Mr. Field—Did you see a pistol in 
the first parlor? A. No, sir.

By Mr. Clews—Who was in the recep­
tion-room when you brought Mr. Fisk 
there? A. There was a crowd around 
there.

Q. Where did they come from? A. 
They came out of the hall.

Q. Were they boarders? A. I cannot 
tell you; I cannot say anything about it; 
visitors, I suppose.

Q. How many were there? A. I cannot 
tell.

Q. Was there more than one? A. Well, 
I don’t know ; there was a crowd there.

By the Coroner—How many do youthink 
were there? A. I don't know.

Q. Were there six persons? A. Of 
course, there was; the excitement caused 
more than tiiat many to be there.

Q. Was there a dozen persons there?
A. I don't know; I believe there was ex­

citement enough to cause that many to be 
there.

By Mr. Clews—Would you recognize any 
one that was there? A. I knew Mr. Has­
kins ; he spoke to me and sent me to the 
hall to get a key.

Q. Who is Mr. Haskins? A. Book-keep­
er in the house.

Q. Did you leave Mr. Fisk ’Kith Mr. Has­
kins? A. No, sir.

Q. Who then? A. I cannot tell you; I 
left him on the sofa.

Q. You could not have left him alone? 
A. There was a crowd around him; he 
didn't talk to me: I tell you they were all 
strangers to me.

By the Coroner—Was there a great deal 
of excitement in the hotel at the time? A. 
Not at the time.

Q. Well, how long afterwards? A. 
About half an hour.

Q. How long have you been employed in 
the hotel? A. Since it opened.

Q. Since October? A. It was opened in 
August, I guess.

Q. Is that all? A. I don’t know any more.
By Mr. Clews—Did Mr. Fisk make any 

remark in the reception-room? A. He made 
the remark that lie was shot.

Q. Did he say so to you? A. No, sir; 
he mentioned nobody’s name.

Q. What did he say to you, or did he 
address his remark to anv one present? A. 
Mr. Haskins was by.

Q. Did anybody speak to him? A. The 
crowd asked him what the matter was.

By the Coroner—Did he mention where 
he was shot? A. He said he had been shot 
twice, and pointed to the wounds. Wit­
ness pointed to his abdomen.

By Mr. Clews—That’s all he said? A. I 
didn’t hear him say anything more.

By Mr. Clews—Did anybody ask Mr. 
Fisk who had shot him? A. No, sir.

By the Coroner—Did anybody speak to 
him? A. I told you twice they did.

Q. What did they say? A. He said he 
Iftid been shot twice, and pointed to the 
places.

Q. Are you positive he mentioned no 
names? A. No,sir; he mentioned no name 
while I was there.

By Mr. Clews—Where did yen go after 
that? A. I went to attend to my business.

Q. Up stairs or down? A. Up stairs.
Q. You did not see Mr. Stokes after 

that? A. Never saw the man in all my 
life,and wouldn't know him if I saw him.

By the Coroner—You say you picked up 
the ball on the stairs? A. I picked up the 
ball and walked away with it. (Witness 
here examined the ball).

Q. You cannot describe the ball you 
picked up? A. I cannot.

Q. Was it a leaden bullet? A. It look­
ed very much like this ball (examiningit), 
but I cannot tell.

Counsel for the prisoner insisted that the 
witness should be more closely interroga­
ted as to the ball.

By the Coroner—What is the reason you 
cannot describe the ball yon picked up? 
A. I did not notice it when I picked it up; 
I walked up stairs with it and handed it 
to Mr. Crocker.
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Q. Did you look at it? A. No more 
than a look.

Q. From the time you picked it up until 
you handed it to Mr. Crocker did you look 
at it? A. No,sir.

Q. Then it is impossible for yon describe 
the ball? A. It is.

By Mr. Field—Was it a round ball? A. 
I tell you I can’t tell you ; I can't describe it.

Q. Did you carry it in your hand? A. 
Yes; I carried it in my hand and handed 
it to Mr. Crocker on the stairs.

Q. Do you know whether it was lead or 
iron? A. I know it was lead; they arc all 
made of lead,I guess. (Laughter.)

By the Coroner—State precisely where 
you picked up the ball. A. Right oppo­
site the second door.

Q. On the stairs! A. At the foot of the 
flrrt stair.

Q. You have looked at the ball? A. I 
have not, sir.

Q. You have just looked at it here! A. 
Oh, just now; but I can’t tell; I tell you I 
can't tell anything about it.

By Mr. Field—Was there any blood on 
the ball when you picked it up 1 A. I don’t 
know.

Q. Had you any blood on your hand! 
A. No.

Q. Was there any blood on the stairs! 
A. None at all, sir.

Q. Did you see any on the carpet! A. 
No, sir.

Q. Did you see any blood on Mr. Fisk’s 
person ? A. I saw none on any part of hin> 
at all; I often saw blood, but I didn’t see 
any there.

Q. Do you know to whom he said he 
had been shot twice when taken to the re­
ception room! A. There were several peo­
ple there, and he said he had been shot 
twice.

By the Coroner—Who was the first per­
lon you recognized after Mr. Fisk said he 
had been shot twice! A. I saw nobody 
around that I could recognize.

Q. Who was the last person you remem­
ber after you heard Mr. Fisk was shot? A. 
I saw Mr. Powers.

Q. Now, who was the last person you re­
member before you heard the shot! A. I 
never heard the shooting; I told you I heard 
a noise, a kind of hollering.

Q. You didnl hear any shooting? A. 
I didn’t hear any shooting,sir.

Q. Who was tne last person you remem­
ber seeing before you heard the call! A. I 
cannot tell; you couldn’t tell in a hotel 
where there arc so many people running up 
and down stairs.

Q. Are you well acquainted with the at­
taches working in the hotel? A. Yes,sir.

Q. Do you remember seing them there I 
A. None of them that I can tell.

By Mr. Field—Were you going up stairs 
in answer to a bell! A. No,sir: I had an 
order.

Q. Was that by a guests in the house? 
A. Yes, up in his room; first part of the 
fourth floor.

Q. What were you doing there! A. I 
was going there on business.

Q. What business! A. Waiting on a 
guest in the house.

Q. You went up in answer to nn order 
from some one! A. Yes.
, Q. Whose order was it! A. I don’t 
know the gentleman; he was a stranger to 
me.

Q. Where was that whence the order 
came! A. Well, the number is 474, if you 
want to find him out.

Q. Where were you when you received 
the order to go up stairs? A. I was in the 
the room; I went out, and when I return­
ed I got the order.

Q. Then it was just when you returned 
that you heard the noise? A. I heard the 
call for assistance and looked up the stairs.

Q. What is the distance to the head of ■ 
the stairs? A. I never have measured it; ' 
I cannot tell what it is.

Q. Is it ten or fifty feet? A. Well, it is 
a large house, and vou have to round it. 1 
(Laughter.)

The Coroner — Officer, preserve order. 
Tliis no place for levity, and I hope the 
gentlemen will not indulge in any.

By the Coroner—-Do you know how 
many steps there are? A. I never measured 
it.

Q. You have gone up and down a good 
many times? A. Yes, a good many times.

Q. How long would it take you to go 
up? Well, if I liked to loaf it would take 
a good while.

Q. Would it take you five minutes? A. 
Oh, no; one flight of stairs would take me 
about a minute, I guess. ,

By Mr. Clews—Have you talked with 
any one about this occurrence? A. No, I 
didn’t talk to anybody.

Q. Nobody came to see you about it? 
A. No, sir.

By Mr. Field—Have you ever talked 
about it? A. Yes, I have, but to nobody 
except to the clerks in thp office.

By the Coroner—Did you pick up th 
ball at the foot of the stairs? A. Yes, 
the foot of the middle stairs; I told you 
that four or five times.

Q. To whom did you give the ball? A. 
To Mr. Crocker, at the head of the stairs.

Q. How did you know it was a ball? A. 
It looked • bill when I picked up.
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Q. You say you cannot tell whether it 
was round or not? A. I cannot tell; I 
never noticed the ball.

Q. Did you think it was square? A. I 
cannot tell you.

Mr. Opdyke, one of the jurors, here 
suggested 'that the jury had obtained 
enough information from the witness.

By a Juror—I just wish to ask one ques­
tion—who is Mr. Crocker? A. A clerk in 
the house.

As the witness was leaving the stand 
the Coroner ordered an officer to detain 
him in court.

Captain Byrne was next sworn, and said: 
—I am attached to the Fifteenth precinct 
police as Captain; I first heard of the shoot­
ing about ten minutes after four o’clock; I 
was going up the stoop of the station 
house; I was told by one of my sergeants; 
I went to the Grand Central Hotel, and 
went to the room where Colonel Fisk was 
lying; it is in the northeast corner of the 
building; I.was given a ball at the Grand 
Central Hotel. (Ball handed to witness.) 
This is the same ball given to me by one 
of the attaches of the hotel at the foot of 
the private stairs; Mr. Crocker gave it to 
me; he told me a man named Hart found it; 
there was a pistol placed in my possession 
by Mr. Crocker; he told me that it was 
given to him by one of the ladies; I went 
to sec the lady, and she said she found it 
lying on the sofa, on one corner of it; it 
was in the parlor, on the Broadway side; 
I searched the barber shop, the reading 
room and the writing room; Mr. Crocker 
was also searching for the pistol; I arrest­
ed Mr. Stokes in the reading room, about 
half an hour after Mr. Crocker told me 
that the pistol had been found.

By Mr. Field—The sofa was near to the 
door, the entrance to this parlor was on a 
line to the main hall.

By the Coroner—The pistol produced is 
the same; two balls Were discharged out 
of it; it is now loaded.

The witness here held the pistol in his 
hand, with barrel pointing toward the ceil­
ing. He turned it about in his hand slight­
ly careless. While doing so the Coroner 
said to him, “Will you discharge one of 
those barrels—(Sensation in Court)—and 
Jet us see the ball?”

Mr. McKeon—I object to that, Air. 
Coroner. It was my practice to do differ­
ently in such cases. Let the pistol, with 
the balls, as they are now, be enclosed in 
paper and your seal affixed to it, and let it 
be handed over to the District Attorney.

The Coroner—That course shall be pur­
sued, sir.

Counsel for the Prisoner—That had bet­

ter be done, sir, for wc have a Grand Jury 
now that will indict without evidence.

Witness resumed—I was not present 
when Mr. Stokes was arrested; Officer Me- 
Keddon arrested him.

By Mr. Clews—Mr. Crocker examined 
the pistol; he gave me all the information 
he could, and manifested no desire to do 
this than a person in such circumstances 
would manifest; any person passing the 
entrance of the parlor and going to the 
main stairway could readily fling anything 
out of his hand into the parlor; I have not 
heard of any reports of a pistol being found 
in 217, where Mr. Fisk was taken.

By Mr. Field—Mr. Crocker did not take 
any more interest in the matter than a per­
son in his position under the circumstan­
ces would be expected to show.

Mr. McKeon asked Captain Byrne to 
send to the prisoner a cane, which he (Mc­
Keon) thought might have been left at tho 
station house.

Thomas H. Tripier testified—I reside at 
the Grand Central Hotel; I saw Col. Fisk 
last Saturday afternoon; as near as I re­
member it was twenty minutes after four 
o’clock; I saw him in the room 214; it is 
located to the north and east of the ladies’ 
entrance fronting on Broadway; Sir. Fisk 
looked very pale and was agitated; I went 
there to offer professional aid; Col. Fisk 
told me he was shot; I heard him say later 
that it was Mr. Stokes who shot him; Col. 
Fisk was standing with his clothes on in 
the parlor when I saw him first; I remained 
with him until half-past 1 o’clock in the 
morning, and then left for a few moments; 
I was present when he died, at five minntes 
to 11 on Sunday morning.

By Air. Fields—I assisted Mr. Fisk to 
undress; I did examine his clothing; 
there was no weapon found upon him; 
there were rumors that Air. Fisk did carry 
a weapon—that he was armed at the time 
the accident occurred; I think I heard it in 
the hotel; if there had been a pistol around 
his waist I could not have failed to see it.

Q. Was the wound in the abdomen a fa­
tal one, and, under all circumstances,mut 
Air. Fisk have died from the effects there­
of? A. In my opinion it was.

Q. Do you think that the probing of the 
wound had anything to do either in caus­
ing or accelerating death? A. I do not.

Q. What do you think caused death! 
A. The shock, causing peritonitis and the 
wounding of the intestines; there were 
four holes in the intestines, and I think 
this accelerated the death.

By the Coroner—Did you probe Colonel 
Fisk’s wound? A. I did, sir.

By Air. Fields—Was Mr. Fisk perfectly



torney Sullivan, said that gentleman knew 
that it was not right that it should be 
read.

District-Attorney Sullivan said that, on 
the contrary, he knew that the Coroner 
was doing perfectly right, and had advised ' 
him to read it.

The Coroner said he had had a number 
of cases of homicide since he had been 
Coroner and he had never heard an objec­
tion before to the reading of ante-mortem 
statements.

The ante-mortem statement and the ver­
dict of the jury -were then read by Dr. 
Marsh.

Dr. Marsh read the post-mortem. In re­
ply to questions put by the Coroner and 
jury Dr. Marsh confirmed the previous med­
ical testimony as to the certainty of death 
and the probing of the wound.

Counsel for the defence protested at 
some length against the case being sub­
mitted to the jury without evidence as to 
the stripping of the body and the probing 
of the wounds.

The Coroner said he had fully decided 
to close the case there, and believed that 
he had fully performed his duty, -which 
■was not to try the case, but to find how 
Col. Fisk came by his death.

The Coroner then proceeded to address 
the jury. He said:

‘ ‘ Gentlemen of the Jury—I feel that 
it is unnecessary for me to refer you to 
the evidence that has been offered. You 
have listened attentively, and the positions 
you occupy in society, your intelligence, 
your reputation as good citizens, preclude 
the necessity of my advising you upon any 
point. AU that I ask of you is to render a 
verdict in accordance with the testimony. 
That is all. I have no particular point to 
address you upon; but I would ask you 
only to commence with first witnesses and 
review the line of testimony to the close of 
the examination, to the end of the post­
mortem. I do not know that I should say 
one more word to you. Gentlemen, I as­
sure you that in the examination of the 
witnesses it has not been my desire to ask 
one improper question. I have not been 
animated with a prejudice against any 
man. I have no personal feeling. I have 
endeavored to discharge my duty,as I have 
already to the counsel, conscientiously, 
fearlessly, and as I shall always continue 
to discharge it. With these few remarks, 
gentlemen, I leave the case in your hands. 
You will please retire and agree upon a 
verdict, if you can do so.

The counsel for the prisoner—Against 
that we protest and except.
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sensible when you were probing the wound? 
A. Yes; it was necessary to give him chlo­
roform, but when Dr. James Wood probed 
the wound he showed that he was sensible 
of pain; It would not be excessively nain- 
ful.

Q. Was Mr. Fisk sensible at the time of 
death? A.' No, sir.

Q. How long had he been sensible? A. 
Until 4 o'clock in the morning.

Q. Then it is your opinion that after 
Col. Fisk received the wound in the abdo­
men under no circumstances could he pos­
sibly recover? A. That is my opinion, sir; 
I think he died of the wound, and nothing 
else.

Q. Don't you consider that the length of 
time Mr. Fisk survived showed great vital­
ity? A. I think it did show great vitality.

Q. Would an ordinary person have sur­
vived so long? A. It is impossible to say.

Q. If he had only received the wound in 
the arm, would he have recovered from 
that? A. Yes, sir.

By Mr. Fields—If you had been success­
ful in extracting the ball, would it have 
made any difference as to the result? A. 
None whatever, in my opinion.

By the Coroner—Have you seen any pis­
tol that was said to be found on Col. Fisk! 
A. No, sir.

Q. Did Mr. Fisk complain that the- 
probing of the wound had hurt him? A. 
He complained a little of the wound in his 
arm—more than, of the wound in the abdo­
men.

Q. At what time did the physicians re­
gard ‘the case as absolutely hopeless? A. 
At 8 o'clock in the morning.

Counsel for the defence suggested that 
witness should give a ‘ ‘ square ” ’answer to 
as the probing. Witness said that when 
the wounds were probed Col. Fisk winced 
a little.

Q. He did not tell you that he was shot 
by Mr. Stokes? A. lie did not relate any 
of the circumstances.

Coroner Young here stated that he 
should rest the evidence at this point, as 
far as the witnesses were concerned. He 
wished to make a statement, however, 
which was, that between C and 7 o’clock 
on Saturday evening he was sent for to 
take the dying statement of Col. Fisk. lie 
was not quite certain as to the time, but he 
icmcmbered stopping at the Fifteenth pre­
cinct station-house about that time. When 
he reached the room of Col. Fisk he was 
asked to take the ante-mortem statement of 
the Colonel, and he proposed now to read 
it to tiro jury.

Counsel for the prisoner objected to this 
being done, and, appealing to District-At­
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Coroner—With all due deference to the 
gentleman I decline to take any protest.

Counsel for the prisoner—Well, we can 
make you hereafter.

XVIII.
THE VERDICT.

Ar a quarter to five o'clock the jury re­
tired to deliberate upon the verdict. It 
was thought that their absence would be 
brief, having merely to inquire into the 
cause of death. Contrary to general ex­
pectation, however, the jury remained out 
nearly three hours, and meanwhile the 
crowded Court became gradually thinned. 
Their long absence created much surprise 
and comment. At twenty minutes to 8 
o’clock the jury returned into Court and 
resumed their seats.

The Coroner asked whether the jury had 
agreed to their verdict.

Mr. Opdyke replied in the affirmative.
The Coroner—What do you find, gentle­

men?
Mr. Opdyke—Shall I read it?
The Coroner—If you please.

THE VERDICT.

Mr. Opdyke then read the following ver­
dict":—‘ ‘ The jury find, from the testimony 

' submitted on this inquest, that the deceased, 
James Fisk, Jr., came to his death at the 
Grand Central Hotel, in the city of New 
York,on the 7th day of January, 1872, at or 
about ten minutes before 11 o’clock, A. M, 
in consequence of a wound or wounds in­
flicted by a ball or balls from a pistol in 
the hands of Edward S. Stokes, discharged 
by him in a deliberate manner at the per­
son of said Fisk, at the Grand Central Ho­
tel aforesaid, on the 6th day of January, 
1872, at or about 4 o’clock p. M.”

Jesse Hoyt, Henry Clews, John J. Gorman, 
William H. Locke, Alex. McKenzie, George 
Opd’ ke, A. V. Stout, David Dows, M. B. 
Field, Lowell Lincoln, James R. Edwards, 
William M. Bliss.

New York, Jan. 9, 1872.

The announcement of the verdict created 
very little sensation in Court, nor was any 
change noticed in the demeanor of the ac­
cused from that which he had previously 
borne during the trial.

The Coroner then requested Mr. Stokes 
' to step “up to the witness stand. Accom- 
! panied by his counsel the accused did as 

requested. The Coroner continued“ Mr. 
Stokes, the jury having rendered their ver­
dict—-which you have heard—it now be-

] comes my duty to ask you certain questions. 
Y’ou are at liberty to answer them or not, 
as you please.

Q. What is you name I A. Edward S. 
Stokes.

Q. How old are you, Mr. Stokes! A. I 
am thirty years of age.

Q. Where were you bom! A. I was born 
in Philadelphia.

Q. Where do you reside! A. I reside at 
the Hoffman House in the city of New York.

Q. Have you anything to say—and if so, 
what — relative to the charge preferred 
against you?

Counsel (answering for the prisoner—By 
the advice of my counsel I decline to an­
swer any further questions at this time. I 
am in their hands, as my counsel, and am 
governed by their advice.

Tlie prisoner then signed his name to the 
above in a bold hand, without any symptoms 
of nerviousness.

The Coroner—Mr. Stokes, the jury hav­
ing rendered a verdict that Janies Fisk, Jr., 
came to his death by a pistol-shot wound 
at your hands, I shall commit you to the 
tombs, to await the action of the Grand Jury.

The Coroner then turned to the jury pres­
ent, and having tendered his thanks for their 
attendance, discharged them.

Counsel for the prisoner, in a lengthened 
address, drew the attention of the Coroner 
to the statutes relative to the return of the 
proceedings of the Court. lie dilated up­
on the crime that had been committed and 
alluded to the fact that the public mind 
was unduly excited. In order to secure 
justice to the prisoner,he contended that it 
was the duty of the Coronerto comply with 
the terms of the statute, which set forth 
that the testimony of the Coroner's jury 
should be reduced to writing by the Coroner 
and should be returned to the next Criminal 
Court that should be held in the county 
within thirty days. Counsel cited the case 
of McFarland to show that had he been 
tried within thirty days after the Coroner’s 
verdict he must have been convicted. But 
when sober second thought came upon tho 
public mind, always sure to follow in a case 
of that kind, he was not only acquitted by the 
public so incensed against him, but almost 
received the thanks of the jury for the act 
originally committed. lie submitted that 
the prisoner was entitled to what was 
known in criminal proceedings as a con­
tinuance, owing to the prejudice now exist­
ing in the public mind. Under the circum­
stances he trusted the Coroner would not 
return the proceedings until the time spec- 
fied by law, and until such time as the ex­
citement incident to the case had died 
away.



Mr. McKeon followed on the same side, j 
contending that it was the duty of the Cor- • 
oner to withhold the proceedings until the 
full extent of time required by law.

Assistant District Attorney Sullivan in­
timated that the usual practice was that 
where recognizances were taken by a com-1 
mitting magistrate and called for an ap­
pearance at the next term it meant the 
term then pending. It was the well-set­
tled practice to regard as the next term 
any part of the then current or unexpired 
term.

After some further discussion the counsel 
for the prisoner read the words of the 
statute:—“The testimony or witnesses ex­
amined before a coroner’s jury shall be re­
duced to writing by the coroner, and shall 
be returned by him together with inqusi- 
tion of the jury and all recognizances and 
examinations taken by such coroner, to the 
next criminal court of record that shall be 
held in the county.” Counsel then com­
mented on the fact that the jury had not 
rendered a verdict that showed the prison­
er had committed wilful murder in the le­
gal acceptation of the term, and that al­
though it was set forth that the shooting 
had been done deliberately, many a high­
wayman had been shot with deliberation, 
lie also adverted to the fact that two of 
the witnesses produced on the day preced­
ing had contradicted themselves. The 
second one he contended had committed 
perjury, while the third witness wiped out 
the testimony of both.

The Coroner, at the conclusion of the 
counsel’s observations, stated that he had 
listened attentively to the suggestions 
which had been made, and would give 
them a careful consideration.

The accused was then removed to his 
cell, and the inquest was brought to a close.

XIX.
STOKES IN PRISON.

Two days after his commitment, Keeper 
Finley admitted a reporter of the New 
York Daily Sun to the department of the 
city prison in which E. S. Stokes, the 
assassin of Col. James Fisk, Jr., is con- 
lined. Stokes was standing in front of his 
cell, laughing and chatting gaily with his 
brother, Coroner Shine, and David Dwyer, 
one of the keepers of the Tombs. He was 
dressed as though he had just stepped 
from a boudoir. On a handsomely frilled 
and embroidered shirt bosom of imn acu 
late whiteness glistened three magnificent 

diamond studs, and on the little finger of 
' his left hand he wore a large and costly 
' solitaire diamond ring. lie wore a pair of 
lavender colored trousers, and a vest of 
dark material, across which was suspend­
ed a gold chain of unique pattern. H® 

i wore a silk velvet dressing jacket, whose 
sleeves, pockets, collar, and lappels wer® 
trimmed with pink silk, heavily quilted. 
His feet were incased in silk stockings, 
and he wore a pair of slippers richly em­
broidered with gold lace.

The reporter was introduced to Stokes 
by Mr. William Olliffe, a personal friend 
of the prisoner, and who, since the assassi­
nation, has been his constant attendant. 
Stokes said he slept well, and that his ap­
petite never was better. His whole man­
ner showed that he is either an adept at 
dissimulation, or that he does not realize 
his peril.

On a shelf in his cell were arranged 
eight bottles of Murray &Lanman’s Florida 
water, with which he bathes. Standing 
by the side of the Florida were several 
suspicious black bottles.

Warden Stacom had assigned Stokes to 
cell No. 50. It had previously been clean­
ed and made as comfortable as prison 
regulations would allow. Stokes, how­
ever, was not satisfied, and at his own 
expense had the walls of the cell papered 
with a bright showy paper. The floor 
has been covered with a body brusseli 
carpet of elegant design. Several cheer­
ful pictures are hung on the wall, and the 
prison accommodations for sleeping have 
been replaced by a single black walnut 
bedstead, on which is a paliastre and a 
heavy curled hair mattress. The sheets 
are' of the finest fabric, and the large 
French down pillow is covered with a case 
edged with lace three inches deep.

His cell is on the second tier, only a few 
doors away from the cells of William Fos­
ter and William McNevins: It presents a 
strong contrast to these two. McNevin’s 
cell is filled with religious emblems and 
books, and a large crucifix stands on his 
table. Foster’s is plainly but neatly fur­
nished.

While the reporter was conversing with 
Stokes, a friend handed him the evening 
newspapers, a card with mourning edge, on 
was the name of Robert F. Strobe, and a 
small vial.

“What have you got in the vial, Ed?” 
asked Keeper Dwyre.

‘ ‘ Only a little bergamot sent me by a 
friend,” replied Stokes.

“Oh! ah! I thought it was something 
else, ” politely said the keeper.

Stokes laughed heartily, and said, “U 
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night be nitro-glycerine, but I am not 
ready for that just yet. Oh, no indeed, not 
yet!”

Dr. Nealis then took Stokes to the end 
of the corridor and there the two remained 
about ten minutes in conversation.

Keeper Dwyer then said “Ed, now 
comes the.disagreeable part of the busi­
ness I must lock up shop.”

“All right,” replied Stokes; “I’ll see 
the boys in the morning.”

Stokes positively refused to converse 
about the assassination, and said that his 
counsel had cautioned him against doing
BO.

Later in the afternoon Stokes’ father 
called and shook hands with his son 
through the bars. The meeting was very 
affecting. The white-haired old gentleman 
shook with suppressed emotion and. the 
murderer looked downcast and serious* 
The interview lasted only a few moments. 

XIX.
disk’s love life.

The love letters to Josephine Mansfield 
hereinafter published are those against the 
publication of which Fisk fought in the 
courts as long as he had life. Read now, 
they will be pondered over as a painful 
pen picture of a man, taken by himself. 
In what they add to or take away from the 
opinion already formed of the unfortunate 
being snatched so suddenly from the life 
at times so bitter or so sweet to him will 
much depend on the point of view from 
which we read them. They can make him 
no worse in the eyes of those who guage 
the enormity of guilt by the severe, immu­
table standard of the Decalogue; but it will 
be discovered that, if he invoked the ven- 
gence of Heaven by his sinning, there was 
a symptom of strong affection in it, the 
shamefulness and social risk of which he 
knew, which, however, will find some pallia­
tion among the morbid sentimentalists of 
the modern school. These sad and silly 
letters of a man hard and sharp in business, 
multifarious in designs and not oyer scru­
pulous or faithful in anything of civil life, 
ask a curious question in themselves— 
namely, to what corner of the brain has 
modern civilization relegated the region 
of romance? Last year Laura D. Fair shot 
down Judge Crittenden beside his wife and 
children in San Francisco. In the trial 
which followed, long, fervid letters were 
read, wherein that old man of the world 
pourod forth an avalanche of endearment

on tlie unclean woman who slew him in 
the end. The. parallel between the two 
cases is not so far astray. It was not tho 
woman herself who killed Fisk, but the ri­
val—who shal Inot say, goaded by the wo­
man? We can look back over centuries 
and find that love letters, the outpourings 
of two understanding souls, have been fa­
mous since tho art of writing was invented. 
Awav in the twelfth century, through me­
dieval dust and darkness, the names of 
Abelard and Heloise stand out from tho 
semi-gloom around there. Abelard, the 
wondrous logician, the powerful instructor, 
the deeply learned, whose theses and dec­
larations of faith thundered up to the very 
gates of all-powerful Rome, whose pupils 
were numbered by thousands, and the light 
of whose genius outshone all others of tho 
time, is better remembered to-day through 
the pages of his love letters than the pon­
derous Latin tomes of his logic. Men 
busy in the world, plotting, not the ruling 
of stocks and shareholders, but the empire 
of the earth, with the people for their 
slaves, have turned in the midst of all their 
struggles, violence and intrigue to talk 
“sweet nothings” with women, those 
women, too, not t heir wives. It is eighteen 
hundred years and more since the sensual, 
cruel, ambitious Marc Anthony first saw the 
gorgeous galley of the Egyptian Queen 
floating on the waters of the Cydnus and 
became her slave. How he flung away his 
wife Octavia,and with the insensate idola­
try of a love-lorn fool surrendered to Cleo­
patra his very soul! We can see him in 
all his Parthian wars turning to her through 
the blood and fight to pour his wild ad­
miration in the ears of his serpent of Old 
Nile. We can picture him at Actium, send­
ing his last words before the fight to her, 
and we can see the false-heated creature, 
with a treachery which even vice abhors, 
play traitor to him in the end. Fisk was 
a vulgar Marc Anthony; yet tho same sensu­
al madness which first led him from the 
path of conjugal fidelity hurled him insane 
infatuation at the feet of a bad, and, what 
is ever worse, traitorous woman, who led 
him only to cast him off for another.. The 
end of Anthony was tragic. He died by 
his own hand. The end of Fisk was trag­
ic,too; the end *was the same,but it was a 
rival who killed him. Nearer to our own 
day this cacoethes scribetidi has exhibited it­
self in the fall of another great adventurer— I 
the ex-Emperor of the French. It need on­
ly be named to be remembered that when 
the Man of Sedan laid down his ornamen­
tal sword, and when Rochefort and his sans 
culottes burst into the Tuileries, how they, 
found among his papers stowed away lit
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as “brighter than ever seen on earth.?’ 
Remorse is creeping in, “ its memory is 
indecent.” Mingling with our pity and. 
loathing we trace something of grim, mi- 
conscious prophecy in the incoherent end, 
ing—“Dust to dust, ashes to ashes- 
AmenI” It is the same misery over an 
ignoble object which awakened such er . tins 
as these in the poet Mangan—■.

The idol I adored is broken,
And must I weep its overthrow; - 

Thy lips at last my doom have spoken, 
And all that now remains is wo^.

Oh perfidy in friend or foe!
In husband, lover, brother, wife. 

Thou art the blackest drop of woe 
That bubbles in the cup of life.

secret drawers the notes and endearments : 
that told the tale of Msjiaison with the 
famous Marguerite Bellanger.

Those who look over these letters of the 
murdered Prince of Eric will find nothing 
in them of the pure love immortalized in 
the sonnets of Petrarch to his Laura or the 
ideal tenderness of Dante for his Beatrice. 
It is Catullus as a stock jobber, Swine- 
burne as an opera bovffe director. From the 
fatal day when the meretricious beauty of 
Mrs. Mansfield burst upon him, we have 
a whole year with a string of silly letters, 
neither polished in style, perfect in gram­
mar, nor brilliant in wit. We come to 
February, 1870,where it seems that a frost 
of jealousy is nipping the garish flower of 
his passion. lie appeals to her “out of 
memory of the great love I have borne for 
you.” He speaks bitterly of his own faults 
— “I have many,God knows; too many”— 
and his business habits hold his hands lest 
he should let the woman know too much 
of his passion, lest he should write too 
long an “ advertisement” of his weakness. 
And he glides into an attempt at poetical 
feeling about Arabs, woodbine, heaven, 
and the River Jordan, which we would 
fain smile at, if there was not so much 
blood upon the page. The intimacy cools, 
but not the hopeless passion against which 
he struggles. We find him tapping the 
telegraph to see what plots the woman is 
weaving against him. Ah! she is leaving 
him at last, it would seem; the shadow of 
future assassin has fallen between them, 
and in August we find him cynically hop­
ing she will find she has “made no mis­
take.” Then the woman comes in with 
her accusing story, with a butcher s simile 
of “striking home and turning the knife 
round.” Fisk has complained of this to 
Stokes that he (Stokes) has cut his heart 
in two. The fall of the year marks the vin­
tage of passion turned to vinegar in his 
soul, and we are surprised to hear him up­
braiding in earnest galledness of spirit, 
and questioning thus:—“But what think 
you of a woman who would veil my eyes 
by a gentle kiss, and afterward, night and 
day, for weeks, months and years, by 
deceit and fraud, to lead one through the 
dark valley of trouble, when she could 
have made my pathway one of roses?” 
Then follow such expressions—which he 
felt, no doubt, and yet was sorry in the 
writing—-as “devilincarnate,” and we can 
pity the wretch—for such he has now be­
come— “ laying at her feet a soul, a heart, 
a fortune and a reputation which had cost, 
by night and day, twenty-five years of 
struggle.” This is the one ‘‘black spot ” 
Upon a record which lie _yainly speaks of 

XXI.
fisk’s fatal amour.

Fisk and Stokes met in the summer of 
1869. Stokes was then comparatively poor, 
having only a small amount of money 
whioh he had made from several specula­
tive operations, including an illicit distil­
lery.

Stokes’ parents •were wealthy and lived 
in good style on Forty-ninth street. Afew 
years ago he married a most charming wife, 
formerly a Miss Southick.

A year before, Fisk had made the ac­
quaintance of Helen Josephine Mansfield, 
who was then in poor circumstances. She 
was introduced to Fisk at her own request 
at the residence of Anna Wood on West 
Thirty-fourth street. “Josie” had just 
been divorced from Frank Lawlor through 
a mythical divorce lawyer, named “M. 
House.” Mrs. Mansfield, at this time, was 

j in poor circumstances. She told Miss 
Wood that she had not a decent change of 
clothing. Fisk immediately took a great 
fancy to her, established her in nice quar­
ters, furnished her with plenty of money 
and she became the mistress of the Prince 
of Erie, and the power behind the throne, 
which Fisk admits in his letter to her. 
Their intimacy now ripened into a strong 
affection, especially on the part of Fisk. 
He consulted her on all matters, lavished 
money on her, and Fisk’s best friends say 
he got to regard her with a perfect worship 
of affection.

At this juncture, in September, 1869, 
Stokes became intimate with Fisk. Ho 
used to spend much time at the Frio office. 
He was_a_natty, handsome, lively fellow
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and Fisk liked him. On the 15th of Sep­
tember Stokes called at the Erie office and 
suggested to Fisk his mother’s oil refinery 
in Brooklyn. He said it might be put in 
working order, crude oil shipped over the 
Erie road, and a big scheme for making 
money was opened up to Fisk. Immedi­
ately a copartnership was formed and 
Stokes made treasurer. The oil refinery 
belonged to Stokes’ mother. Stokes paid 
his mother $12,000 per annum for it, while 
Fisk out of friendship and good feeling to | 
Stokes, allowed him $27,000 for its rent to ■ 
the company. In this oil transaction Fisk 
furnished all the funds. Crude oil was 
transported"over the Erie Railroad at a 
small tariffpurified and sold ata good price. I

Stokes was at first made treasurer of the 
company, but, having drawn out over thir-1 
ty-two thousand dollars in the course of I 
four months, the company was reorganized ! 
and he was appointed secretary of the new 
corporation. From the new company he 
drew out over thirty-seven thousand dol-1 
lars in the course of six months, and on 
January 5th, 1871, he oollected in one day 
twenty-seven thousand dollars of the com­
pany’s money, no part of which, Fisk claim­
ed, was due to him, and put it in his 
pocket, telling some of his friends that he 
had got twenty-seven thousand dollars of 
Fisk's money, and meant to keep it. For 
this he was arrested in the manner herein­
after stated, but upon his discharge from 
arrest a compromise was entered into by 
which he was allowed to keep what money 
was in his possession and was paid $15,000 
more for himself and $0,000 for his mother 
in order to induce him to sell out his inter­
est and retire from the company. In one 
way with another Sfokes managed to leave 
the company with $130,000 more money 
than he had when he went into it, all of 
which he derived directly from his rela­
tions with Fisk.

But Stokes was always generous and 
even profligate in his financial expendi­
tures. He spent all he could make and j 
then complained that he could not make | 
enough, so one day he drew out $27,000, ! 
seized the refinery, and laid a secret pipe i 
connecting a $50,000 vat of oil in store : 
with a neighboring refinery, with the idea 
of running off the oil. This was discov- i 
ered. Stokes was arrested for embezzle- | 
ment,at the instance of Fisk, and confined J 
in the Tombs over night. This embezzle­
ment trial came on before Judge Dowling, 
who decided that there was no embezzle­
ment, as it was a partnership affair, and 
each member could draw out what money 
he chose. It might be a moral crime, but 
it was not legal embezzlement.

The oil refiner] now wound
up, Fisk pay; -ach. $27,-
000 to Stokes fo ■>. which
cost him $12,000, . nd fig t. profit
on the money which Fisk d to
Stokes to carry on the busin< 
mencement. Everything «

Soon Stokes began to fee; slid norc 
easy. His finances were runnin:. 1 (j0
had already been introduced by Fisk to ■’ < 
house of his friend, Josephine Jfansfieb 
and spent days and nights there 
to Fisk.

Fisk now became jealous of Stokes, lie 
told Stokes that “Josie would not let his 
old gum shoes stand in the hall, ” and he 
told “ Josie ” that she could not love them 
both “anymore than you could run two 
engines on the same track in opposite 
directions.” Stokes swore to Fisk that he 
had no cause of jealousy; but the latter 
was not satisfied and sought to break his 
connection with the woman, even though 
he did love her. lie wrote farewell lett< rs 
t»i “Josie,” and then she would write a 
“sweet” reply, when Fisk would repent 
and send her a present and often a sum of 
money. While she was “thick” with 
Stokes, Fisk was all the time sending her 
money. Soon Fisk wrote a parting letter 
to “Josie” and told her she must look to 
Stokes for her support. This made “Josie” 
mad. She showed all of Fisk’s letters to 
Stokes.

Stokes saw at once that these letters 
were not the letters which a married man 
should write to a woman other than his 
wife. He saw that there were personal 
matters that a man would write only to 
the woman whom he loved. He saw in 
them a chance of merchandise—an oppor­
tunity to hold Fisk in his power.

Stokes now gathered together all the 
notes, telegrams, scraps on cards and 
every word which Fisk had written to 
Josephine Mansfield. He even gathered 
scraps on cards which Fisk had written to 
this woman while sitting in the parlor 
waiting for her to come down. Stokes 
then made out a claim for $200,000 against 
Fisk, with this claim he sent copies of 
Fisk’s letters to .Iosif. He then said unless 
the claim was paid the letters would be 
published to the world. This demand for 
$200,000 was made through his attorney, 
Ira Shaffer, Mr. Beach declining to be con­
nected with the matter. With these letter-' 
came a copy of the motion for the arrest of 
Fisk—not the arrest itself, but the arrest 
which would follow in case the $200,000 
should not be paid.

These are the letters which Stokes sent 
to Fisk. These are the letters about which
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there has been so nine'll talk and so much 
money spent. The‘ - arc the letters which 
caused Fisk to get out an injunction 
against Stokes t o prevent their publication. 
They are now presented as sent by Stokes 
to Fisk. they are extraordinary letters, 
but the are such Letters as a man would 
write to a woman, whom he loved, and 
»">- use infatuation he had resolved to cast
,rf.

XXII
„ THE LETTER* OF FISK’S AND _“ JOSIE.” «

I The first letter was written on a card in 
1867 as follows:

Mrs. Josie Lawlor, 42 Lexington avenue.

Come. Will you come over with Fred 
and dine with me? If your friends are 
there bring them along. Yours, truly,

J. F., Jr.
Have not heard from you as you promised.

On the back of the card was the following:

Come. Fred is at the door. My room,
8 o’clock. After many good looks I 
found Mr. Chamberlain. The understand­
ing is now that yourself and Miss Land are 
to go with me, say fit half past 9 o’clock, 
and the above gentleman is to come at 11 
o’clock, ns he has some matters to attend 
which will take him until that time. An­
swer this if you will be ready by half past
9 o’clock. Yours, truly,

JAMES FISK, Jr.

LETTER WRITTEN IN JANUARY, 1868.

Strange you should make my office o. 
the vicinity the scene for a “personal.” 
You must be aware that harm came to me 
in such foolish vanity; and that those who 
could do it care but little for the interest 
of the writer of this. Yours, truly,

JAMES FISK, Jr.

ANOTHER LETTER SAME MONTH.

5th Av. II.
Dolly: Enclosed find money. Bully 

morning for a funeral. J. F., Jr.

"WRITTEN IN THE SAME MONTH.

Dear Josie : Get ready and come t» the 
Twenty-third street entrance of the Motel 

» and take me down town, and then you can i

come back and get the girls for the Fulton 
dinner to-day. Yours, truly,

Sardines.
TWO MORE IN THE SAME MONTH.

Dolly : The baggage sleigh will call at 
one o’clock, and you can leave in my 
charge what you sec fit. You have no 
time to lose. J. F., Jr.

Mrs. Mansfield—The sleigh will call 
here for you at two P. M. Yours,

J. FISK, per J. C. '

ms FAMILY INTERVENES.

My people are partaking of New York, 
in the shape of “White Fawn ” and two 
or three other different matters. I may not 
be able to see you again to-night. If not, 
will take breakfast with you—the best I 
could do. Yours, truly,

February 5, 1868. JAMES
NEXT DAY.

Dear Dolly—Get right up now and I 
will be down to take breakfast with you in 
about thirty minutes. We will take break, 
fast in the main dining room down stairs.

Yours, truly, JAMES FISK, Jr.
Wednesday Morning, Feb. 6.

WITH MONEY, SIXTEEN DAYS AFTERWARDS,

Have the kindness to acknowedge. Yours 
truly, J. F., Jr.

Feb. 22, 1868.

GOING TO THE OPERA.
•

Dear Josie: I have some matters to ar­
range and cannot call for you until it is 
about time to go. I will be there twenty 
minutes before eight. Be ready. Yours 
truly, JAMES.

Feb. 26, 1868.

THE DAY FOLLOWING.

Dolly: Enclosed find $50. Sleep, Dol­
ly, all the sleep you can to-day—every lit­
tle bit! Sleep, Dolly! I feel as three 
cents worth of clams would help me some.

Yours truly, J. F., Jr.

HIS FAMILY AGAIN INTERVENES.

Monday Morning.
I am going to the San Francisco Min­

strels with my family. If Mr. L. was here 
I should ask him to take to you. Shall see 
you to-morrow evening. Yours truly,

J. F., Jr.



MOKE MONEY.

Dolly—Enclosed find-------- . I am
wrong, but I am bothered. It will come 
light. When I don’t come don’t wait. 
You shall not be placed as you was to­
night again. Yours truly,

Wednesday evening. JAMES FISK, Jr.

AFTER A LAPSE OF SEVEN MONTHS.

187 West St.,Tuesday,Oct. 13,18G8.
My Dear Josie—James McHenry, the 

partner of Sir Morton Peto, the largest 
railway builder in the world, Mr. Tweed 
and Mr. I.ane will dine witli us at half­
past six o’clock. I want you to provide as 
nice dinner as possible. Everything went 
on elegantly. We are all safe. Will see 
yon at six o’clock. JAMES FISK, Jr.

after a lapse of nine months.

Monday, Aug. 2, 18G9.
Dear Josie—Send my valis'e, with two 

shirts, good collars, vest, handkerchiefs, 
black velvet coat, nice vest, patent leather 
shoes, light pants. I am going to Long 
Branch to see about the calerye. Enclosed 
find $25. Be back in the morning.

J. F., Jr.

MONEY.

St. Jambs Hotel, Sunday, Oct. 18,1869.
Dear Josie—Enclosed you will find 

$143. Yours truly, JAMES.

a cloud overshadows the new year.

Sunday Evening, Feb. 1, 1870.
My Dear Josie : I received your letter. 

The tenor does not surprise me much. You 
alone sought the issue, and the reward will 
belong to you. I cannot allow you to de­
part believing yourself what you write, 
and must say to you, which you know full 
well, that all the differences could have 
been settled by a kiss in the right spirits, 
and in after days I should feel very kindly 
toward you out of memory of the great 
love I have borne for you. I never was 
aware that you admitted a fault. I have 
many—God knows, too many—and that has 
brought me the trouble of the day. I will 
not speak of the future, for full well I know 
the spirit you take it in. “ You know me, ” 
and the instincts of you heart will weigh 
me out in the right scale. I will give you 
no parting advice. You have been well 
schooled in that, and can tell chaff from 
wheat, and probably are as strong to-night 
as the humble writer of this letter. The 

j actions of the past must be the right way to 
j think of me; and from then, day by day, I 
! hope any comparison which you may make 
i from writing in the future will be favora­
ble for me. A longer letter from me might 
be much of an advertisement of my weak­
ness, and the only great idea I would im­
press on your mind is how wrong you are 
when you say that I have “grown tired of 
you.” Wrong, wrong! Never excuse your­
self on that in after years. Don’t try to 
teach your heart that,for it is a lie, and you 
are falsifying yourself to your own soul.

No more. Like the Arabs, we will fold 
our tents and quietly steal away, and wlien 
we spread them next we hope it will be 
where the “woodbine twineth,” over the 
river Jordan, on the beautiful banks of 
Heaven. From yours, ever,

JAMES.
o

ON HIS KNEES.

February 10, 1870.
My dear Dolly : Will you see me this 

morning? If so, what hour? Yours truly, 
ever, JAMES.

ON THE WING.

Western Union Telegraph Co. ) 
Worcester, Mass. ( 

[Received at Thirtieth st., Feb. 14, 1870]. 
To II. J. Mansfield, 339 West Twenty-third 
street :

On the 3 o’clock train from Boston, 
shall be in New York at 12. J. F., Jr.

(13 D. H.)

MORE GOLD.

10th of March.
Dear Dolly: Enclosed find $75, which 

you need; do not wait for me to-night; I 
cannot come. Yours truly, ever,

JAMES.

ENTER JOHN WILLIAMS.

Erie Railroad Telegraph, )
. New York, April 26, 1870. (

[From Chicago, HL]

To Jas. Fisk, Jr. :

John S. Williams, colored, is here with­
out tickets or money. He has letters from 
our agent at San Francisco,Mr. A. J. Day; 
E. 8. Spencer, at Omaha. Advise me what 
to do. He wants to. leave on (4:45) to­
morrow. A. J. DAY,

Per A. McGeddib, Ticket-Agent.
(Answered, Sheridan.)



Erie Railroad Telegraph, 1 
New York, April 2G, 1870. )

To A. J. Day, Chicago:
Yes. Send John S. Williams through 

on my account. JAMES FISK, Jr.
(9-)

(Written in lead pencil by J. F., Jr.)
W. Wilkins should be he-e in thirty 

hours from Chicago, when he will be di­
rected to your house. Yours truly,

J. F., Jr.

MONEY AGAIN.

My dear Josie : Enclosed find your re­
quest. I will send to the Fifth Avenue for 
the things. I cannot go to the house as 
much as I would like to. Yours, 

JAMES.
May Q, 1870.

WHO IS THIS MAN?

Comptroller’s Office, Erie ) 
R’way Co., N. Y.,May, 1870. (

Dolly: What do you think of this man? 
I told him you would talk to him, and then 
tell him to come back to me next Monday, 
and I will talk to vou about it. Yours tru­
ly, JAMES.

DIAMONDS.

C. Office, May 31,' 1870.
Please send me the diamond brooch and 

necklace, my dear. JAMES.

THE SHADOW.
Aug. 1. 1870.

My Dear Josie: I send you letter I 
found to my care on my desk. I cannot 
come to you to-night. I shall stay in town 
to-night, and probably to-morrow night, 
and after that I must go East. On my re­
turn I shall come to see you. I am sure 
you will say, “What a fool!” But you 
must rest and so must I. The thread is so 
slender I dare not strain it more. I am 
sore, but God made me so, and I have not 
the power to change it.

Loving you, as as none but you, I am, 
yours ever, JAMES.”

STOKES.

August, 4, 1870.
Dear Josie : I found on my arrival at 

my office that the following despatch had 
passed West last night:

E. S. Stokes, Buffalo and Saratoga Springs:
Pay no attention to former despatch. 

Come on first train. Rane.

Of course it means nothing that you are 
aware of. But let me give you the author 
of it and my authority, and you will see 
how faithfully they have worked the case 
out after my departure last evening. Miss 
Peiris drove directly to Rane’s office; from 
there to the corner of Twenty-second street 
and Broadway, where the above despatch 
was sent, and from there to Ruiley’s. A 
third party was with them, but who left 
them there? Rane and Peiris, why should 
they need Stokes? “Comment is unn'eces- 
sary”—a plotting house, and against me. 
What have “I done” that Nully Peiris 
should work against my peace of mind.

Your, truly, ever. JAMES.
P. S.—Since writing the within I under­

stand a despatch has reached New York 
that he is on his way. JAMES.

generous though betrayed.

August 14, 1870.
Enclosed you will find $400 for your 

little matters. You told me when I saw 
you last you would send me your bills, 
which I would be pleased to receive, and 
they shall have my attention at once. Your 
letter would require a little .time to pre­
pare a right answer to, so I will answer it 
more fully by to-morrow, when I can look 
it more carefully over. I am very happy 
to know that you have acted from no im­
pulse in leaving me, but that it was a long 
matured plan. I hope you have made no 
mistake. Yours, truly, ever,

JAMES FISK,. Jr.

CIRCE TAKES HIM BY THE THROAT.

Sept. 1870.
James Fisk, Jr. : That your letter had 

the desired effect you can well imagine. I 
am honest enough to admit it cut me to 
the quick. In all the annals of letter­
writing, I may say it eclipsed them all. 
Your secretary made a slight error, howev­
er, in supposing that Mlle. Montaland was 
mentioned. The only prima-donna I had 
referred to was “Miss Peiris.” As you 
say, Mlle, lias nothing whatever to do with 
my affairs, I have always respected her, and 
only thought of her as one of the noblest 
works of God—beautiful and talented, and 
your choice—never referring to her in my 
letter in thought or word. I freely admit 
I never expected so severe a letter from 
you. I, of course, feel that it'was unmer­
ited ; but as it is your opinion of mff, I ac­
cept it with all the sting. You have struck 
home, and, I may say, turned the keife 
around. I will send you the picture you 
speak of at once. The one in the parlor I
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will also dispose of. I know of nothing [ 
else here that you would wish. I am anx-1 
ious to adjust our affairs. I certainly do 
not wish to annoy you, and that I may be 
able to do so I write you this last letter.

You have told me very often that you 
held some twenty or twenty-five thousand 
dollars of mine in your keeping, I do not 
know if it is so, but that I may be able to 
shape my affairs permanently for the future 
that a part of the amount would place me 
in a position where I never would have to 
appeal to you for aught. I have never had 
one dollar from any one else, and arriving 
here from the Branch, expecting my affairs 
with you to continue, I contracted bills 
that I would not otherwise have done. I 
do not ask for anything I have not been led 
to suppose was mine, and do not ask you 
to settle what is not entirely convenient for 
you. After a time I shall sell my house, 
but for the present think it best to remain 
in it. The money I speak of would place 
me where I should need the assistance of no 
one.

The ring I take back as fairly as I gave 
it to you; the mate to it I shall keep for 
company. Why you could say I obtained 
this house by robbery I ca’ffjot imagine; 
however, you know best. I am sorry that 
your associations with me was detrimental; 
io you, and I would gladly with you (were 
It possible), obliterate the last three years 
of my life’s history; but it is not possible, 
and we must struggle to outlive our past. 
I trv^t you wii»ts*c the sensoof ^i®letter 
as it is meant, and that there fltti be no ! 
misfake I send this by Ella, and what you ' 
do not understand she will e.cplain.

the struggling of the victim.

New York",Oct. 1, 1870.
Mrs. Mansfield: There ^an be no ques­

tion as to the authority of your letter which 
was handed to me yesterday by your ser-| 
vant,in this respect differing from the cpis- ( 
tie which you say you received from Miss 
Peiris, and which, in your opinion, re-' 
quired the united efforts of yourself, Mlle 
Mo^taland and myself. Certainly the com­
position should be good if these parties 
had combined to produce it. But the 
slight mistake you make is evident from 
the fact that the letter referred to was nev­
er seen by me, and I presume Mlle. Monta- 
land is equally ignorant of its existence,as 
it is not likely she troubled herseff about 
your affairs. I can scarcely believe that she 
assisted Miss Peiris in composing the let­
ter, and the credit is therefore due to Mis- 
Peiris for superior talent in correspond- i 
cr.ee. As far as the great exposure you * 

speak of is concerned, that is a dark entry 
upon which I have no light, and as I fail to 
see it I cannot of course understand it. I 
have endeavored to put your jumbled letter 
together in order to arrive at your meaning 
and I presume I have some idea of what 
you wish to convey; but as your statements 
lack the important element of truth they 
cannot, of course, have any weight with 
me.

You may not be to blame for entertain­
ing the idea that you have shown great 
kindness to Miss Peiris and others, and 
that they arc under great obligations to 
you for favors conferred. The habit of con­
stantly imagining that you were the real 
author of fill the benefits bestowed upon 
others would naturally affect a much better 
balanced brain than your, and in time you 
would come to believe that you alone had 
the power to distribute the good things to 
those around you, utterly forgetful of him 
who was behind the scenes entirely unno­
ticed. Can you blame, then, those from 
whose eyes the veil has fallen, and who see 
you in your true light as the giver of oth­
er's charities? I would not trouble myself 
to answer your letters, and I do not con­
sider it a duty I owe you to give you a final 
expression of myopinion. In venting your 
spite on Miss Peiris (with whose affairs, by 
tlie way, I have nothing to do,) you have 
written a letter, in answering which you 
afford me an opportunity of conveying to 
you my ideas respecting the theories which 
you have taken every opportunity to express 
to those around you, and which many peo­
ple have considered merely the emanations 
of a crazy brain. I could not coincide with 
this view, for crazy people are not inclined 
to do precisely as they please, either right 
or wrong, and so long as they are loose, 1 
consider them sane, and therefore I could 
not put that construction on your conver­
sation.

As for Miss Peiris being “a snake in the 
grass." I care but little :ib< • * th;;!. '' » 
can do me neither harm nor good. 1 have 
done all that has been done for her during 
the past year. She conies to rm and says; 
“Sir, you have been my friend; you have 
assisted me in my troubles,and I thank you 
from the bottom of my heart.” That is a 
full and sufficient recompense fo.i me for 
any good I may have done her, and she can 
return. If she be a snake in the grass, 1 
know full well her sting is gone and she i., 
harmless. But what think you of woman 
who would veil my eyes first by a gentle 
kiss, and afterward, night and day, for 
weeks, months, and years, by deceit and 
fraud, to lead me through the dark valley 
of trouble, when she could have made my



to look at the picture, for you would say,. 
“With all thy faults I love thee still,” and' 
what would be merely the same oft repeat­
ed Zid. So take it down. Do not keep 
anything in that house that looks like me.

If there are any unsettled business mat­
ters that it is proper for me to arrange send 
them to me, and make the explanation as 
brief as possible.

I fain would reach the point where not 
even the slightest necessity will exist for 
any intercourse between us. lam in hopes 
this will end it. JAMES FISK, Jr.

FOUR DAYS AFTERWARD, AND STILL STRUG- 
LING IN THE TOILS.

New York, Oct. 4, 1870.
After the departure of Etta to-day, I 

wasted time enough to read over once more- 
the letter of which she was the bearer from 
you to me, and I determined to reply to it, 
for the reason if it remained unanswered 
you might possibly think I did not really 
mean what I said when I wrote ; and, be­
sides, I was apprehensive that the friendly 
talk carried on through Etta, at second 
hand between you and me, might lead you 
to suppose I had somewhat repented of the 
course I had taken, or of the words I had 
penned. It is to remove any such impres- 

[ sion that I again write to you, as I would 
have the language of my former letter and 
the sentiments therein expressed stamped 
upon your heart as my deep-seated opinion 
of your character. No other construction 
must be put upon my words. I turn over 
the first pages of your letter; I pass over 
the kind words you have written: have I 
not furnished a satisfactory mansion for 
others’ use? Have I not fulfilled every 
promise I have made? Is there not a sta­
bility about your finances to-day (if not 
disturbed by vultures) sufficient to afford 
you a comfortable incQme for the remain­
der of your natural life? You say you have 
never received a dollar from any one but 
me, and you will never have another from 
me,until want and misery bring you to my 
door,except, of course, in fulfillment of my 
sacred promise, and the settlement of your 
bills up to three weeks ago, at five minutes 
to eleven o’clock.

You need have no fear as to my sensi­
tiveness regarding your calling on any one 
else for assistance, as I find the word “ns- 
sixtance" underlined in your letter to make 
it more impressive on my mind. That of 
all others is the point I would have yotr 
reach; for in that you would say, “Why, 
man. how beautiful you are to look at, but. 
nothing to lean on!” And you may well 
imagine my surprise at your selection of the
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pathway one of roses, committing crimes 
which the devil incarnate would shrink 
from, while all this time I showed to her, 
as to you, nothing but kindness both in 
words and actions, laying at your feet a 
soul, a heart, a fortune, and a reputation 
which had cost by night and day twenty- 
five years of perpetual struggle, and which, 
but for the black blot of having in an evil 
hour linked itself with you, would stand 
out to-day brighter than any ever seen up­
on earth. But the mist has fallen, and you 
appear in your true light. I borrow your 
own words to describe you, “a snake in 
the grass, ” and verily I have found thee 
out, and you have the audacity to call your 
sainted mother to witness your advice to 
me. “A dog that bites, &c.,&c.”

You accuse her of leading you on and of 
ever standing ready to make appointments 
for you. The tone of your letter is such 
that you seem willing to shoulder the load 
of guilt under which an ordinary criminal 
would stagger. I believe you have arrived 
at that state which no amount of guilt will 
disturb your serenity or prevent your hav­
ing sweet drcams, and we still shall see 
you crawl “ a snake in the grass.”

How I worship the night I said, “Get 
thee behind me. Satan!” The few weeks 
that have elapsed since that blessed hour 
how I bless them for the peace of mind 
they have brought me! Again the world 
looks bright, and I have a being. A on im­
agined I would pursue you again, and you 
thought I would endeavor to tear down the 
castle you had obtained by robbery. God 
knows that if I am an element so lost to 
every feeling of decency to be willing to 
link itself with you I will assist and foster 
it, so that it will keep you from crawling 
toward me and prevent me from looking 
on you as a snake, as you are, and from rais­
ing a hand in pity to assist you should 
trouble again cross your path. So I have 
no fears that I will again come near you.

I send you back a ring; and, were I to 
write anything about it, the words would 
be only too descent for the same, were they 
couched in the worst of language. So I 
say, takeitback. Its memory is indecent, 
and it is the last souvenir I have that re­
minds me of you. I had a few pictures of 
you, but they have found a place among the 
nothings which fill the waste basket under 
my table. I am aware that in your back 
parlor, hangs the picture of the man who 
gave the wall to hang it on; and ru­
mor says that you have another in your 
chamber. The picture up stairs send back 
to me. Take the other down, for whom it 
represents has no respect for you. After 
you read this letter you should be ashamed



dement yon have chosen to fill my places 
(Stokes). I was shown to-day his diamonds 
which had been sacrificed to our people nt 
one-half their value, and undoubtedly if this 
were not so the money would have been 

' turned over to you, that you might feel con- 
; tented as to the permanancy of your affairs.

You will therefore excuse me if I decline 
your modest request for a still further dis­
bursement of $25,000. I very naturally 
feel that some part of this amount might 
be used to release from the pound the prop­
erty of others in whose welfare the writer 
of this docs not feel unbounded interest.

You say that you hope that I will take 
the sense of your letter. There is but one 
sense to be taken out of it, and that is 
an “epitaph,” to be cut on the stone 
at the head of the grave in which Miss 
Helen Josephine Mansfield has buried her 
pride. Had she been the same proud­
spirited girl that she was when she stood 
side by side with me—she would not have 
humbled herself to ask a permanency of 
one whom she had so deeply wronged, nor 
would she stoop to be indebted to him for 
a home which would have furnished a 

i, haven of rest, pleasure and debauchery 
j without cost to those who had crossed his 
i path and robbed him of the friendship he 
J once felt. The length of time since I had 
. seen her and the kind words she spoke left 
i my mind ill prepared for the perusal of 
“your letter at that time, and it was not 

until after her departure, when Lwas seat­
ed quietly alone, that I took in the full in­
tent and meaning of your letter, and felt 
that it was “robbery,” and nothing else.

Now, pin this letter with the other. The 
front of this is the back of that, and you 
will have a telescopic view of yourself and 
your character’as you appear to me to-day; 
and then I ask you turn back from pages 
of your life’s history, counting each page 
one week of your life, and see how I look­
ed to thee then, and ask your own guilty 
heart if you had not better let me alone; 
and instead of trying to answer this letter 
from your disorganized brain, or writing 
from the dictation of those around you to- 
day.simply take a piece of paper and write 
on it the same as I do now, so far as we 
are now, or ever may be. “Dust to dust, 
ashes to ashes. Amen.” J. F., Jr>

settling tip circe’s bills.
(J. F., Jr.) [Monogram.]

Oct. 19, 1870.
Madame: Enclosed I send you bill of 

Harris receipted, and I also beg to hand 
you $126 29, being the honest proportion 
of the Bassford bill which belongs to me 
to pay. I should have made the word

S3 |

“honest ” more definite, for had not Mr. 
Bassford to put the dates to the bill, as he 
had received instructions from Miss Mans­
field to have the bill all under the date of 
June 8, 1870, although ($146 26) the 
amount of the goods, as bought by you or 
your agent, was spent at a much later date. 
1 should not suppose you would care to 
place yourself in the light that this bill 
put you, knowing as I do the instructions 
that you gave Mr. Bassford. I had sup­
posed you “honest,” but I find that a 
trace of that virtue does not even cling to 
you. I am, yours, J. F., Jr.

A SMALL SHIP AND POORLY OFFICERED.

Department of Finance, Erie Railway, 
New York, Oct. 20, 1870.

Madam : Sou know I would not wrong 
you, and I would take back all my acts 
when there could be a shadow of doubt 
that you was right and I was wrong; and 
let me speak of the other harsh letters I 
have Written. I wrote them because you 
had wronged me positively, and because 
you had placed between me and my life, 
my hopes and my happiness an eternal 
gulf, and I felt sore and revengeful,and on 
those I am now the same. It would bo 
idle for me to write about them or about 
«s, when I could talk to you there. You 
did not listen, I presume it to be the 
same now.

The entire connection is like a drcam to 
me—a fearful drcam—from which I havo 
awoke, and, while dreaming, supposed my 
soul had gone out; and the awakening 
tells me I am saved, and, from the embers 
of the late fire, there smoulders no spirit of 
revenge toward you, for you acted right, 
and the wrong only came to me from you 
because you did not act sooner, and I would 
not believe that any power on earth would 
make any question of money influence me 
or come between me and the holy feeling I 
onee had for you. I sent John to Bass­
ford’s, and they told him what I said, or he 
told me so,that the dates of the bill should 
not be changed. But what does it matter 
whether it is so or not. I cannot feel that 
you would do it,and something says to me 
this was one of the the things she was not 
like. So I pass it by, and if the letters of 
last night or to-day are not like me you can . 
wash the bad act out from your memory,, 
and leave but the one idea that I want to’/ 
do my duty and fullfil every unsettled relic. > 
At least in my heart rests no remorse, for 
the memory is too deeply seated and I 
would cherish all that is good about you, 
and forget forever the bad. Of late you 
have thought different from me (this'may 
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be imaginary on my part), for which I 
think you give me all the credit you can.

We have parted forever. Now, let us 
make the memory of the past as bright and 
beautiful as we can; for on my side there 
is so little to cherish that I cling to it with 
great tenacity, and hope from time to time 
to wear it off. You know full well how I 
have suffered. Once you knew me better 
than any one on earth. To-day you know 
me lees. It is the proper light for you to 
stand in, It is all you desire on your side. 
It is all you deserve on mine.

This letter should remain and be read 
only by you. Should you see fit to answer 
it tlie answer will be the same way kept by 
me. There has been a storm. The ship, a 
noble steamer, has gone down. The storm 
is over and the sea is smooth again.

Little ships should keep near shore; 
Greater ships can venture more.

“My ship is small and poorly flScered.” 
I am yours, ever, &c., &c. J. F.. Jr.

P. B.—I would have liked to have an­
swered your letter in full, but, as you say 
I have not a well-balanced brain, and I 
knew I could not do justice to a letter of 
that kind, so refrain, and content to let the 
the sentiments of it “know and fret me.”

CIRCE VISITS HIM IN TEARS—THE WARN­
ING.

Oct. 25, 1870.
Why should I write you again? Shall I 

ever reach the end? There comes another 
and another chapter,until I get weary with 
the entire affair. I would forget it, and no 
doubt you would the same. The mistake 
yesterday was almost the mistake of a life­
time for me. Who supposed for an instant 
that you would ever oross my path again in 
a spirit of submission and with a contrite 
spirit? You have done that you should be 
sorry for, and I the same in permitting it. 
This cannot be, and I shall write you the 
final letter, and I shall see you no more. I 
told you that much yesterday evening, and 
still I write it to you again. Yes, for the 
the reason I treated you falsly last night, 

- and I left you with a different impression, 
and I would put that right. You acted so 
differently from your nature that I forgive 

’•you, and even went so far as to bring my 
■ mind to bear now I could take you back 

again. First, the devil stood behind, and 
my better reason gave way for the moment 
and I came away, telling you I would see 
you no more. When your better character 
conics in contact with mine we arc so much 

alike that much of what is said, like that 
last night, had better be unsaid.

All looks bright and beautiful, and my 
better nature trembles at ideas that were 
expressed last night. But that I should 
have left on your mind an idea that you 
could control me is erroneous. There are 
truths in this affair,and they must be spok­
en. You have gone from one element and 
you have taken another (Stokes) for you to 
turn back, either when you are situated that 
way, or when even you could say that ele­
ment had gone, should make no difference 
to me. It was you that took the step and 
you should and shall suffer the consequen­
ces. Supposing the part you took last 
night and yesterday afternoon was one of 
truth, if not, and I----- [Here this letter is
tom.]

Again, if you was not dealing from your 
heart in what took place,and I hope it was 
not true, then there are no consequences and 
no suffering for you to endure. Why, it 
has been many a long year since I could 
say to myself that I had committed such a 
folly. To find another like yesterday 
would bring me back almost to childhood. 
To imagine that I should have again cross­
ed your threshold, and crossed it, too, delib­
erately, knowing that the same facts exist­
ed that had given me all my trouble, aijd 
made me this sorrow—why, it is devilish.

I told you that I had passed the realm 
where I had forgiven you all the sorrow you 
had made me, and that I would not mur­
mur; I would not find fault with all that I 
saw. I would fain tear your image from 
my mind ; and I will. Why, I thought all 
night last night all day to-day of your say­
ing “I would rather be a toad,” &c., &c. 
Was that written to apply to me? I should 
say so. Yes. Who knows what you 
would not conceive? Noone but yourself. 
And I must weight you carefully, for I 
have nothing but a great character to deal 
with, and I must meet things carefully. 
You might suppose you could love two and 
perhaps more elements and make them hov­
er near you. Certainly you did last night 
and, for shame, I was one of them. But it 
will never occur again.

For once let me be honest. You vent 
that road because it looked smooth and 
pleasant, and mine looked ragged and worn. 
Now, a mistake cannot be found out too 
soon. Travel further along, and don’t try 
to turn so soon. lean see you now,as you 
were last night, when you talked of this 
man (Stokes); and Jo you not deceive your­
self—you lore him. Yesterday there was 
nothing but the breaking up of strong 
pride and the giving way of willfulness. 
Cling to that one. Leave me alone; for in 
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me you have nothing left. Why ask me to 
weaken yourself with him? All this you 
must study; but I pledge you to-night that 
I will not countenance even your impres­
sion on my mind until the door is closed 
behind him forever.* For what you can 
gain from me you probably cannot afford 
to do that; so let me advise you—nourish 
him and be careful. Nothing is so bad for 
you as changes. He loves you; you love 
him.

You have caused me all the misery you 
could. Cling to him. Be careful what 
you do,or be will be watchful. How well 
he knows you cheated me. He will look 
for the same. And now, I know precisely 
how you stand from your own lips; I will 
treat him differently. Although you would 
not protect him, I will. While he is there, 
and until his memory is buried forever, 
never approach me, for I shall send you 
away unseen. Ever be careful that you do 
not have the feeling that yon can come 
back to me, for there is a wide gulf between 
you and me. I would not hold a false 
hope out to you. I shall not trouble you 
more in this letter. You have the only idea I 
can express to you. You know when you can 
see me again, if ever. The risk for you is? 
too great. Loving and suited as you are, 
cling to him for the present, and when your 
nature grows tired of that ttirow him off. 
And so long until it is time for you to be 
weary and for you to be “put in your little 
bed” forever, you must rest contented. 
Don’t begin plotting to-morrow. Take to­
morrow for Thought, and be governed by 
this letter, for the writer has much of your 
destiny in his hands.

STILL GRANTING FAVORS.

Nov. 1, 1870.
Miss Mansfield : I have taken the steps 

for the corn doctress’ removal to a South­
ern clime, where her business should be 
better, as vegetables of that class thrive 
more rapidly there than on our bleak 
shores. I presume it will take from two, 
or say four days, before I get the passes, 
when they will be sent to you. Should she 
call on you, say to her to come back in four 
days and you will have them for her. I 
sent you a package by Maggie for what you 
wanted on Saturday evening, with a little 
surplus over for trimmings, which I hope 
you received. I am of your opinion re­
garding not only Dr. Pape, but all of the 
doctors. You are well, let nature take its 
course. You are in oc good health to tain-: 
per with a constitution as g :<>' as yours, j 
This is important for your consideration.

Yours t; u 1 y, 7 AMES. |

AND MONEY.

Nov. 10, 1870.
Enclosed find $300. Please use. I am 

very sorry we could not have arrived at a. 
more satisfactory conclusion last night. I 
did all I could, and the same feeling orc- 
vails o’er me now. With careful and Watch­
ful manner you should look at all our af­
fairs. You should make no mistake. You 
told me I should hear from you ■when you 
came to a conclusion. Therefore I wait 
upon your early reply, and until then I 
mu# of course pursue the the same course 
I have for the last six weeks. I hope we 
shall mutually understand each other, for 
the thing could be made, as should be 
made, satisfactory to you. Fam yours, 

JAMES.

AND YET MORE MONEY.

Erie Railway Company, Treasurer’s Of­
fice, Nov. 7, 1870, receiving desk—$500.

Wm. H. B.

Erie Railway Company, Treasurer’s Of­
fice, Nov. 19, 1870, deceiving desk—$500.

Wm. H. B.

Please acknowledge receipt.
JAMES. 

AND THEATRE BOXES.

November 11, 1870.
Enclosed you will find the order on Miss 

Guthrie, which have Etta or you present 
and it will be all right. Mr. Comer gave 
them an order not to deliver anything only 
on my written order to stop the “ opera 
bouffersbut present this enclosed order 
and it will be all right. Mrs. Reher was 
here this morning and I gave her transpor­
tation for self and Michael to Charleston 
by steamer.

Enclosed you will find box at theatre in 
order to get the same, as it was sold. I 
have convinced myself that I desire you 
and yours to come.

Please answer the note,that I may know 
you are to come. Yours, truly, JAMES.

AND OPERA BOXES.

November 12, 1870.
Enclosed find the letters. I was not 

aware Miss Jordan was to come until I 
saw her pass the gate-keeper; but that is 
nothing astonishing, as she is one of our 
re ndar customers. Of eourse I did not 

nd Her tho box, for she is not in tho 
mood that r presume suc’i civilities would 
>c received from Fisk, Ji. ) am jlad you 
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was pleased. I would have been glad to 
have you seen “ Le Petit Faust.” At the 
“Duchesse” we used old clothes a»d 
scenery, while in “Faust ” all was new. 
Weplay “Faust” this afternoon. Shall I 
send you a box? And on Monday night 
we give the world “our diamond,” “Les 
Brigands,” all new.

Surely the world is machinery. Am I 
keening up with it? is the question. Yours, 
truly, JAMES.

WORSE.

November 14, I£70.
Dear Dolly: Do you really wish to see 

a “ brigand ” at your house to-night’? If 
so, what hour, or from what hour and how 
late shall I flail? for I might be able to 
come at 8, or perhaps not until 10. Say 
what hour,and how late is your limit after 
the time you first say.

WORSER.

November 15, 1870.
Enclosed find box for to-night. Should 

you find you cannot use it send it back to 
me later. Do you feel as I said you would 
this morning? The box, of course, is for 
v hoover you may invite.

Yours, truly, JAMES.

WORST.

November 16, 18—.
Dear Dolly—Don’t feel that way. Go 

riding, and to-night, darling, I will take 
you to rest. I shall go out at half past 3, 
and you can safely look ahead, darling, 
for rest It will come, and we shall be 
happy again. Yours, truly, JAMES.

TILE LAST LETTERS.

Nov. 18, 1870.
Shall go to the race to-day, and this 

evening I am engaged until late, and I am 
afraid you would get tired waiting for the 
ring of the bell or the ring of the door. So 
I will not ask you to wait my coming unless 
it be your wish, in which case I will come 
as early as I can. Yours, &c.

Enclosed find the Leidunor Ball. Yours, 
truly, J. F., Jr.

Monday Morning.
Not time to come up. J. F., Jr.

ANOTHER ALLEGED LETTER.

From the Tribune, Nov. 25.
ERIE RAILWAY COMPANY.

Jay Gould, Pres. Jas. Fisk, Jr., Treas.

Office of the Company, New York,------
Dear Dolly: To-night we play “Les 

Brigands ” it is too jolly ? When you past 
me at the gate last night without looking 
at me mv heart was pierced.

JAMES FISK, Jr.

XXIII.
WHAT FISK PAID FOR HIS LETTERS.

After Fisk and Josie had “made up” 
Stokes entered the field again. He per­
suaded Josie that the letters which Fisk 
had written were of immense value to him, 
and that he would pay any price rather 
than have them exposed to the gaze of the 
public. So in a fatal hour Josie consent­
ed to “go back” on Fisk.

Fisk received this copy, of his private 
correspondence with the woman ho had 
once loved, whom he had taken from 
poverty and made rich, with a feeling of 
remorse. He had no resentment. He saw 
their object and met their attack at once. 
He immediately, to make sure that he was 
right, sent for Richard E. King, a colored 
boy in the employ of Josephine Mansfield. 
Richard is an intelligent boy. He testified 
that he had overhead Stokes and Josephine 
Mansfield talk about the scheme of getting 
money out of Fisk. Stokes said he “ was 
going for $100,000.” Richard heard it and 
came and told Fisk. Fisk caused Richard 
to make an affidavit as to what he had 
heard Stokes say. Stokes commenced a 
suit against Fisk for libel.

Stokes now failing to get a settlement 
from Fisk for his $200,000 claim, offered 
to enter upon an arbitration, and selected 
Clarence Seward to arbitrate the matter. 
Fisk agreed to this. Clarence Seward de­
cided that Stokes’ claim was null and void, 
but that Fisk ought to pay Stokes $10,000 
damage, for the night which he spent in 
the Tombs. This Fisk agreed to, provided 
Stokes would give up the letters which he 
had written to Josephine Mansfield. Stokes 
agreed to do this and received the $10,- 
000 from William II. Morgan, Fisk’s at­
torney, on the 30th of June, 1871. Stokes 
also wanted Fisk to pay his attorney, Ira 
Shaffer, $5,000. This Fisk agreed to. So 
he paid in all to get these letters out of 
Stokes’ hands $15,000, and Stokes sent the 
letters to Peter B. Sweeny, with this letter: 
Hon. Peter B. Sweeny :—

Dear Sir—Mr. Buckley informed me of 
your desire to have possession of Mr. 
Fisk’s letters, approved, &c, I herewith 
send them all to vou. Yours respectfully,

' EDWARD S. STOKES. 
New York, April 12, 1871.
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AWARD OF CLARENCE A. SEWARD TO STOKES. 
To all Whom These Presents Shall

Come :—
Whereas divers suits,disputes,controver­

sies and differences have happened and 
arisen and are now depending between 
Edward 8. Stokes and James Fisk, Jr., 
both of the city and county of New York, 
and were heretofore depending, and where­
as, for the purpose of pacifying, composing 
and ending the said suits,disputes, contro­
versies and differences in an amicable way, 
and to avoid all public notoriety, the said 
Edward 8. Stokes and James Fisk, Jr., did, 
on the 28th day of April, 1871,by a written 
agreement, to submit the said matters to 
the award and the final determination of 
the undersigned, as sole arbitrator, as by 
reference to the said agreement, hereunto 
annexed, will more fully appear. Nov/ 
therefore,! Clarence A. Seward, the arbitra­
tor so designated, do hereby state that I 
have taken upon myself the charge and 
burden of the said award, and have delib­
erately heard the allegations and proofs of 
the said parties, and that I do, by these 
presents, arbitrate, award, order and ad­
judge of and concerning the premises in 
manner and form, that is to say:—

First—That the said Edward S. Stokes 
is not entiled to any interest in the Brook­
lyn Oil Refinery Company,nor in any draw­
back alleged to have been agreed to be paid- 
to the said company arising upon the 
transportation of oil, nor to any damages 
for a loss of business in being removed 
from said company, nor for any damages 
for the failure to erect upon the premises 
of the said company any further improve­
ments for the transaction of the busines of 
the said company, nor for any damage 
for a violation of any of the covenants 
contained in the leases of the property 
to the said company, nor for any dama­
ges for retaining the use of any prop­
erty belonging to said Stokes individually, 
to be used in and about the business of the 
said company, nor to any damages for sur­
rendering his interest in the said company 
on the 1st day of May,1870, nor to any dam­
ages as and for his share in the prospective 
profits of the said company, being of the 
opinion that, as to all these several subjects 
matter of claim made by the said Stokes 
against the said Fisk, no sufficient reason 
Inis been adduced before me why the set­
tlement between the parties hereto, and 
those connected therewith, made on the 
13th and 14th day of January, 1871, after 
full consultation, advisement, discussion 
ltd mental relinquishment, shall be set 
asides, varied and vacated.

—That as to the claims of the said ■

Stokes for false imprisonment,I think such 
claims were virtually waived at the time of 
and by the settlement between the parties,’ 
and that no damages are to be recovered 
therefor.

Third—That as the claim of the said 
Stokes for damages for malicious prosecu­
tion and counsel fees he is entitled to re­
cover of the said Fisk the sum of $10,000 
as and for such damages and for all costs 
and expenses which the said Stokes has 
sustained, the same, when paid,to be in full 
satisfaction and discharge of each and ev­
ery of the claims for damages for malicious 
publication and for counsel fees and ex­
penses made by’ him before me.

Fourth—I do, therefore, hereby award, 
order and adjudge that the ’said James 
Fisk, Jr., shall and do, on or before tho 
first day of July, 1871, pay or cause to be 
paid to the said Edward S. Stokes, tho 
sum of $10,000, in full payment, discharge 
and satisfaction, of and for all moneys, 
debts, and damages due or owing unto the 
said Edward 8. Stokes, by the said James 
Fisk, Jr., upon any account whatsoever, at 
any time before their entering into the 
said agreement of submission as aforesaid.

Fifth—And I do further award, order 
and adjudge that all actions and suits com­
menced, brought or depending between 
tl’.c said Edward 8. Stokes and the said 
James Fisk, Jr., for any matter, cause or 
thing whatsoever, arising or exi t 
the time of or before their entering into 
said agreement of arbitration, shall from 
henceforth cease and determine, and be no 
further prosecuted or proceeded in by them, 
or by’ their or either of their means, con­
sent or procurement.

Sixth—And I do further award, order 
and adjudge that the said Edward 8. 
Stokes and James Fisk, Jr., shall, on or 
before the first day of July ensuing, seal, 
execute and deliver unto each other mu­
tual and general releases of all actions, 
cause and causes of actions, suits, contro­
versies, trespasses, debts, damages, ac­
counts and demands whatsoever, for or by 
reason of any matter, cause or thing what- 
soever existing between them, prior to the 
date of the said submission as aforeshid.

In witness whereof I, the said arbitra­
tor, have hereunto set my hand and seal 
this 17th day of June, in the year 1871.

C. A.’SEWARD

THE RELEASE OF FISK.

Know all men by these presents, that I, 
Edward S. Stokes, of the city, county and 
state of New York, for and in considera­
tion of the sum of one dollar, to mo in
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hand paid by Janies Fisk, Jr., at or before 
the delivery of these presents, the receipt 
whereof is hereby acknowledged, and in 
pursuance of an award or arbitration duly 
made on the 17th of June, 1871, by Clar­
ence A. Seward, the arbitrator to whom 
was referred & • matters at issue between 
myself and the said James Fisk, Jr., by 
agreement dated the 20th day of April, 
1871, do remise, release and forever dis­
charge the said James Fisk, Jr., from all 
and all manner of action and actions, cause 
and causes of action, suits, .controversies, 
trespasses, debts, damages, accounts and 
and demands whatsoever, for or by reason 
of any matter, cause or thing whatsoever 
existing between us prior to the date of the 
said submission—to wit, the 29th day of 
June 1871. E. S. STOKES.

Scaled and delivered in presence of 
John F. Bingham.

State of New York-, City and County if 
New York—On the first day of July, in the 
year 1871, before me personally appeared 
Edward S. Stokes, to me personally known 
to be the individual described in and who 
executed the foregoing instrument, and ac­
knowledged to me that he executed the 
same for the uses and purposes therein 
mentioned.

JOHN F. BINGHAM,
Notary Public, N. I”. Co.

This 018,000, which was to forever settle 
the difficulty between Fisk and Stokes 
lasted the latter about three months. He 
began to need more money. His former 
lawyers refused, thought there was a good 
chance, and, in September, 1871, Stokes 
gave Fisk notice that he should move to , 
set aside the $10,000 award. He now sent 
frequent threatening messages to Fisk. He : 
told Fisk's friends that he intended to : 
“fix him.” His words were always omin­
ous, and he boasted of influence with 
judges, etc. He said Judge Ingraham 
would stand by him, etc. '

Stokes now employed Marsh and Wal­
lace. He dug up the old batch of letters, 
which are given above. He said he would 
publish them in a morning paper ; Tribune; 
that Shanks and Greeley were his friends; 
that he would ruin Fisk’s Boston friends, J

I Sir Morton Peto, &c. He said “Josie”, 
knew the inside of Eric matters; that 
“ Josie” knew about Tammany, and that 

| “Josie” would do wonderful things. To 
l the old batch of letters he pinned on a 
supplement, which is included with the 
rest.

The trial to set aside the $10,000 now 
] came before Judge Ingraham. Fisk was 
i on hand at the trial. Ills counsel, Mr. 
Beach, made a motion before Judge Ingra­
ham to suppress the letters—that they wore 
non-relevant to the case. Judge Ingra­
ham read the letfers, suppressed them and 
returned them to Marsh and Wallace, 
Stokes’ attorneys.

Stokes now threatened to publish them 
la the newspapers; but Fisk got an injunc­
tion from Judge Pratt, of Brooklyn, 
against their publication by Stokes.

After Judge Pratt’s injunction Stokes 
counsel came before Judge Ingraham and 
announced that they did not intend to 
continue the proceedings before him. 
Their motion was accordingly dismissed, 
and the whole question was submitted on 
argument before Judge Brady in the other 
suit. But while this suit was pending 
Miss Mansfield, accompanied by Stokes, 
appeared before Judge Bixby and obtain­
ed a warrant for the arrest of Fisk on a 
charge of libel contained in an affidavit of 
Richard E. King, which was read before 
Judge Bixby. The case was heard by 
Justice Bixby for several days, and on the 
day of the murder Stokes own counsel in­
formed him, after a prolonged session be­
fore Justice Bixby, that his case was hope­
less and must be abandoned. Judge Brady 
had the day before decided the other suit 
against him, and on the same afternoon 
Stokes’ counsel informed him that an in­
dictment had been obtained against him 
from the Grand Jury for conspiracy to 
blackmail.



.THE TRIAL OF STOKES.

XXIV.
Shortly after the hearing before the Coroner, an 

indictment for murder in the first degree was found 
by the Grand Jury and Stokes was called upon to 
plead to it. His counsel put in special pleas im­
mediately, all of which were overruled by Judge 
Ingraham, except one plea as to the legality of the 
Grand Jury. Issue upon this plea was joined and 
after a log trial before a jury, of nearly a month’s 
duration, Judge Cardozo refused to permit the jury 
to decide the case, and found adversely to the 
prisoner.

After one month’s legal squabbles, Jokes was 
placed on trial before Judge Ingraham, who pre­
sided. The trial lasted more than three weeks, 
and resulted in a disagreement of the jury, five of 
whom were for acquittal and seven for murder 
A second trial had accordingly to be had, which 
was commenced in the month of December, 1872, 
and ended January 4th, 1873. At this trial the 
following gentlemen had been selected as the 
jury :

1. David Egglestone, iron merchant.
2. Charles S. Loper, retired merchant.
8. John A. Beyer, flour merchant.
4. Abraham C. Morris, insurance.
5. Charles A. Yost, clothing.
6. Jesse M. Bolles, merchant.
7. Joseph Sands, architect.
8. David Hepburn, carpenter.
9. George N. Manchester, brick maker.

10. Augustus Bechstein, provision merchant.
11. Cornelius W. Luister, builder.
12. William P. Mitchel, printer.
The result of this trial was a verdict of guilty of 

murder in the first degree. Stokes was defended 
by Messrs. Tremain and Dos Passos. District At­
torney Fellows acted for the State, assisted by 
Messrs. Beach and Fullerton. After the verdict 
had been rendered, the jury were polled by request 
of the prisoner’s counsel. No sooner had the last 
jnan answered “yes” to the question whether ail 
had agreed on the verdict, than the prisoner, erect 
and firm, turned his face full upon Mr. Beach, who 
at one time had been his counsel in a civil case.

“Mr. Beach,” the prisoner said, slcwly and in a 
full-toned voice, “you have done your work well. 
I hope you have been well paid for it.”

Then the prisoner sank slowly into his seat. Mr. 
Beach made no reply.

Mr. Fellows explained that he had refused to try 
the case u less Mr. Beach and Mr. Fullerton were 
associated with him. They had consented to join 
him at the request of District Attorney Garvin, and 
without any fee from any of Col. Fisk’s family.

The prisoner arose and sweeping the air with his 
clenched fist, said :

“Mr. Fellows, say that they were hired 1>y Jay 
Gould. Please say that.”

The sensation in court was such as is seldom 
known. Then the Court discharged the jury,

THE SENTENCE.

On the Monday following the conviction of 
Stokes he was brought into court for sentence. 
The Clerk of the court, Mr. Sparks, rose and Stokes 
stood up. He elevated himself slowly as if with 
pain.

Mr. Sparks said: “Edward S. Stokes, whet 
have you now to say why the sentence of deatn 
should not be pronounced against you?”

Stokes stood silent for a moment. Then bo 
opened his lips. Ilia voice was quivering an 
pleading. He said:

“ I can only say that I am innocent of the crime 
of which I now stand jonvicted. • I did not inten­
tionally violate any of the laws of the land.

“ I would also like to say that I noticed in one 
of to-day’s papers an interview with one of the 
jurymen, Mr. Rolles, I guess it is, in which he 
stated that probably it would have been better if I 
had not gone on the stand, because I testified that 
I had never before fired off the pistol with which 
Fisk met his death, when I had fired it off repeat­
edly at Saratoga with Col. Fellows. If that inter­
view was true, I have only to say that I never fired 
that pistol at Saratoga, and that it was never dis­
charged by me twice.

“ I know that all the testimony which was given 
by the defence was viewed lightly by the jury. I 
am convinced of that. ,1 know that public clamor 
has been aroused on account of the frequency of 
murder in New York city.

“ I know that the evidence of Thomas Hart, on 
which I was convicted, is false from beginning to 
end, and was manufactured ; and I believe the 
prosecution knew it, and the District Attorney 
knew it, and the counsel for the prosecution knew 
it when he summed up the case.

“ I hope your Honor will make the sentence as 
brief as possible.”

Then Stokes hung his head and dropped his hat 
on his chair, and crossed his hands behind hi. 
back. He looked like a condemned man utterly 
prostrated and ready for execution. He bit his 
lips, and tried to be firm, but it was evidently all 
he could do to stand up.

Judge Boardman then gave the sentence of the 
court. He spoke in a clear, ringing tone. Every 
word could be heard plainly throughout tho court 
room. There was firmness, but no harshness m



and he looked upon the prisoner sor- 
.owiiilij, as ho uttered the words of doom:

*• You have been defended by the most eminent 
and able counsel with extraordinary skill and de­
votion. You have been supported and sustained 
by the sympathy of loving relatives and ardent 
friends. All that wealth, affection and industry 
rould do for you has been cheerfully and well 
Jone. A jury, carefully selected of intelligent 
and upright gentlemen, have listened most patient­
ly ami kindly to your own account of this most 
terrible act, as well as to the other evidence that 
has been put in on your behalf. They have found 
you guilty of murder in the highest degree, the 
highest crime known to outlaws, in having caused 
the death of James Fisk, Jr., one year ago to-day. 
This verdict was wrung from their judgment, not 
prompted by their hearts. I am sure I do each 
><iror but justice in saying and assuring you that 
c.'.ii uecib’cn was the mc.-t painful act of his life. 
The result was not the fruit of unkindness to you, 
but of ju.-t respect for and obedience to law. The 
evidence in the case, even your own testimony, I 
am constrained to believe, sanctions their conclu­
sion and justifies their verdict. I am not con­
scious so far as I am personally concerned, that I 
have erred in any respect against you. During 
the progress of this trial I have endeavored in all 
cases of doubt to give you the benefit of that 
doubt. To mo remains the painful duty of pro­
nouncing the judgment of the law, not alone as a 
punishment of your crime, Jiut also that by your 
example others may take warning. I am sad over 
vour unhappy fate—so young, so attractive in per­
mit, with so many fountains of joy yet untasted.

“ Still greater is my sorrow to realize the unmer­
ited anguish you have brought upon your family 
and friends. Your disgrace is reflected upon those 
who are pure. Your dishonor casts an unjust but 
unavoidable stain upon their truth and virtue. It 
is a frightful legacy to leave to a family, a spectre 
that death alone can vanquish.

“ It were idle if it were possible for me to trace 
the paths from innocence to crime, to tell the tale 
of appetites unrestrainid, of passions fierce, vindic­
tive and unbridled. I cannot do it. Let the time 
which the law gives you be devoted to reflections 
upon your past, repentance for your sins, and pre­
paration for the great change so fearfully near you. 
Do not delude yourself with uncertain hopes of 
pardon and clemency.

“ Edward S. Stokes, in obedience to the require­
ments of the law, this court orders and directs that 

)u be taken hence in the custody of the Sheriff of 
ih. city of New York to the prison from whence 
you came, that you be there confined in close cus­
tody by said Sheriff until the 28th day of February, 
1873, and that on that day, between the hours of 
deven o’clock in the morning and three o’clock in 
the afternoon you be hanged by the neck until you 
je dead, and may God have mercy on your soul.”

As the last dread words were uttered the pri •- 
>ner almost sank back in his chair. His face be­
rime ghastly in its expression, his lips were com- 
iressed, and he seemed to be struggling to repress 
itterance. There only remained the formality of 
eading the death warrant and the scene was over.

After the Bcntence, Stokes’ counsel immediately 

set to work to procure him a new trial. Their 
efforts in his behalf gave rise to many legal quib­
bles and delays, until finally, over a month after 
the time fixed for the execution had passed by, th® 
case was heard at a General Term of the Supremo 
Court. The decision of the Court was rendered. 
May 7, 1873, Judges Davis, Brady, and Fancher 
occupying the bench. Judga Fancher delivered 
the opinion of the Court, which was very long and 
reviewed the v irious points made by the counsel. 
Theju Igmcnt of the Court which convicted Stoke® 
was affirmed and he was denied a new trial.

A. NEW TRIAL GRANTED.
The case was then taken to the Court of Appeal® 

for final hearing and decision. Lyman Tremain 
made a powerful argument in behalf of the prisoner, 
ana produced convincing arguments upon certain | 
points of law ruled upon by Judge Boardman. 
District attorney Phelps replied, and after the arg-| 
ument hud been exhausted the Court decided to 
eserve its decision. There was much speculation a® 
to what the final determination would be; when on 
the 10th June, 1873, the Court of Appeals reversed • 
the decision of the Supreme Court and the new® 
circulated with rapidity that Edward S. Stokes had 
been granted a new trial. The opinion was delivered 
by Judge Grover, and the following extracts made 
from it will show the grounds upon which the 
court came to such a conclusion.

The counsel for Stokes offered to prove that 
Fisk, a short time before the occurrence, had made 
violent threats against him, such as he would beg­
gar him first, and then kill him; I go prepared for 
him all the time; so sure as my name is Jim Fisk I 
will kill him ; I would kill him as soon as I would a 
erocious dog. This w is objected to by the prosecu­
tion and rejected by the Court, to which the counsel 
for the accused excepted. * * * I think the testi­
mony offered was competent and the exception and 
its exclusion well taken. The error was one preju­
dicial to the accused by depriving him of the right 
to have competent testimony in his favor considered 
by the jury, and cannot be overlooked by the 
Court. (

“ Jenny Turner was introduced as a witness by and, 
gave material testimony for the accused. With a 
view to impair the credibility of her testimony she 
was asked by the prosecution, upon cross-examina­
tion whether she had not left Mrs. Morse, by whom 
she had been employed, without her knowledge or 
consent, and whether she did not take things not 
belonging to her when she left. The prosecution 
was permitted to prove, by Mrs. Morse, that her testi­
mony in answer to these questions was untrue, to 
which the counsel of the accused excepted. Thi® 
was^jrror. Upon the cross-examination the prose­
cution had the right, for the purpose of impairing 
the credit of the witness, to ask questions as 
to those collateral matters, but having asked and 
obtained answers, must abide by the answers 
given; other witnesses could not be called to prove 
such answers untrue. (Lawrence vs. Baker 
5 Wend. 301; Howard vs, City Fire In­
surance Company, 4 Denio, 502.) It cannot 
be said that the accused sustained no in­
jury from this. The direct tendency of the 
imcompetant testimony was to impair

L — — - - - —



the credit given to the testimony of his wit­
ness. \

“We think the minutes of the Grand Jury,' 
showing that an indictment had been ordered 
by that body against the accused upon the 
complaint of Fisk for blackmailing, were 
improperly received. There was no proof 
tending to show that the prisoner had any 
knowledge of any such action by the Grand 
Jury. The evidence had therefore no ten­
dency to show a motive of the prisoner for the 
killing of the deceased. The prisoner had 
testified that he knew Fisk had been trying 
to get him indicted for, as he understood, a 
conspiracy with another to blackmail him; 
but that, as he understood, he failed to 
procure one. The prosecution could not give 
evidence tending to show that the prisoner 
had been guilty of any other crime than 
the one for which he was on trial. The only' 
effect of the minutes that I can see was to 
satisfy the jury that there was evidence of 
his having committed some otlu r crime of 
such cogency as to induce the Grand Jury 
to indict him therefor. The prosecution 
had no right to give such evidence. Had 
the prisoner known of the action of the 
Grand Jury, it would have been competent 
to show a motive for killing the deceased, 
and being proper for any purpose there 
would have been no error in receiving it.

“Numerous other exceptions were taken 
by the counsel for the. prisoner upon the 
trial to the rulings of the court upon the ad­
missibility of evidence. We have examined 
these, and arrive at the conclusion that 
none of them require discussion. Near the 
conclusion, the Judge charged the jury as 
follows:—‘ The fact of the killing in this 
case being substantially conceded, it be­
comes the duty of the prisoner here to satis­
fy you that it was not murder which the law 
would imply from the fact of killing under 
the circumstances, in the absence of expla­
nation that it was manslaughter in the third 
degree or justifiable homicide, because, as I 
have said, the fact of killing being conceded, 
and the law implying motive is fully and 
entirely made out, and therefore you can 
h$ve no reasonable doubt as to that, unless 
the prisoner shall give evidence sufficient to 
satisfy you that it was justifiable under the 
circumstances of the case.’ ”

This portion of the charge the court pro­
nounced an error. Judge Rapallo said:

“Argument seems unnecessary to demon­
strate the error of tins charge. It was a 
necessary part of the case of the prosecution

> establish that the homicide was perpetra­
ted »> itif a.premeditated design to effect the 
dea»l,-f>f£l: person killed; yet the Court, 
* eiiig to determine what the circum- 

aes of the killing were, solemnly in-

; structed the jury that the fact of killing 
being conceded, the law implied malica 
from the circumstances of the case, and 
that the case on the part of the prosecution 
was fully made out, and that the jury 
could liave no reasonable doubt as to that, 
unless the evidence on the part of tho pris­
oner satisfied them that the killing was jus­
tifiable.

“ The Suprrme Court, in sustaining the 
judgment of the Court of Oyer and Termi­
ner, do not attempt to defend tho legality 
of this charge. On the contrary, tho very 
able opinion of Judge Fancher conclusively 
demonstrates upon authority that it is at 
variance with numerous adjudications and 

| the settled law upon the subject. But it is 
claimed that the error may be overlooked on 
the grounds that the prisoner was not preju­
diced thereby, and cases aic cited which 
decide that where it appears to the Appel­
late Court, that error has been committed, 
yet that the error could not possibly have 
prejudiced the party complaining, it will be 
made a ground of reversal either in civil o’ 
criminal cases.

“ That so vital an error as one whi 
should or might mislead the jury on * 
question as to the party on whom the b 
den of proof rested could come within 
category of those which could not post 
prejudice the determination of the cr 
utterly inadmissible. Nothing short ■ 
unequivocal retraction of that portic 
the charge could have removed fro: 
minds of the jury the impression v. h 
was calculated to produce. It was th 
eluding portion of the charge, and all 
the jury a simple rule for their guida 
their consultation. The fact of killin: 
as they were told, conceded. They 
further told that it was the duty of th 
oner to satisfy them that this killing v 
murder. The law implying malice fr 
circumstances of the case, the prosei 
case was fully and entirely' made c 
therefore they could have no rea 
doubt as to that, unless the cvidenc 
part of the prisoner satisfied the 
was justifiable under the circa 
Their inquiry was thus reduced tc 
they were satisfied of the truth of t 
tions on the part of the defence.

“ Whether under a proper chart 
would have come to the same 
not within our province to de 
determination of the facts rests \ 
the jury. It is for the court 
them as to the law, and t hese 
they are bound to follow. If 
erroneous it is the imperative 
appellate tribunal to grant a no-

All the Judges concur.


